Meeting:
Date/Time:
Location:
Contact:
Email:

Scrutiny Commission
Wednesday, 9 March 2022 at 10.00 am
Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield
Mrs J Twomey (Tel: 0116 305 2583)
joanne.twomey@leics.gov.uk
Membership
Mr. M. T. Mullaney CC (Chairman)
Mr. T. Barkley CC
Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC
Mr. S. J. Galton CC
Mr. T. Gillard CC
Mr. Max Hunt CC
Mr. J. Morgan CC

Mrs. R. Page CC
Mr. T. J. Pendleton CC
Mr J. Poland CC
Mr. T. J. Richardson CC
Mr. C. A. Smith CC

Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the
Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk
AGENDA
Item

Report by

1.

Minutes of the meeting held on 31st January
2022

2.

Question Time.

3.

Questions asked by members under Standing
Order 7(3) and 7(5).

4.

To advise of any other items which the
Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.

5.

Declarations of interest in respect of items on
the agenda.

(Pages 5 - 14)

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall
Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk
www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy

www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk

6.

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule
16.

7.

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order
35.

8.

Report of the Scrutiny Task and Finish Group
on the Council's Corporate Ways of Working
Programme

(Pages 15 - 36)

Mr L. Phillimore CC, Chairman of the Task and Finish Group, will attend to present
the report.
9.

Corporate Ways of Working Programme Delivery of Financial Savings

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 37 - 42)

Mr L. Breckon CC, Lead Member for Resources, has been invited to attend the
meeting for this item on behalf of Mr Bedford CC (Lead Member for Covid Recovery
and Ways of Working).
10.

2021/22 Medium Term Financial Strategy
Monitoring (Period 10)

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 43 - 74)

Mr L. Breckon JP CC, Lead Member for Resources, has been invited to attend for
this item.
11.

Outcome of Consultation on the Strategic
Plan

Chief Executive

(Pages 75 - 126)

Mrs P. Posnett CC, Lead Member for Community and Staff Relations, has been
invited to attend for this item.
12.

Draft Communities Strategy: Leicestershire
County Council Collaborating with our
Communities - Our Communities Approach
2022-26 - Feedback from Community
Engagement

Chief Executive

Mrs P. Posnett CC, Lead Member for Community and Staff Relations, has been
invited to attend for this item.
13.

Date of next meeting.
The next meeting of the Commission is scheduled to take place on Wednesday, 6th
April 2022 at 10.00 am.

14.

Any other items which the Chairman has
decided to take as urgent.

(Pages 127 150)

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective
scrutiny. To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to
questioning, are available via the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny website
www.cfgs.org.uk. The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a
good starting point for developing questions:


Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and
quality of the consultation?



How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard?



What does success look like?



What is the history of the service and what will be different this time?



What happens once the money is spent?



If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated?



What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review?

Members are reminded that, to ensure questioning during meetings remains appropriately
focused that:
(a) they can use the officer contact details at the bottom of each report to ask
questions of clarification or raise any related patch issues which might not be best
addressed through the formal meeting;
(b) they must speak only as a County Councillor and not on behalf of any other local
authority when considering matters which also affect district or parish/town councils
(see Articles 2.03(b) of the Council’s Constitution).

This page is intentionally left blank

5

Agenda Item 1

Minutes of a meeting of the Scrutiny Commission held at County Hall, Glenfield on
Monday, 31 January 2022.
PRESENT
Mr. M. T. Mullaney CC (in the Chair)
Mr. T. Barkley CC
Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC
Mr. S. J. Galton CC
Mr. T. Gillard CC
Mr. Max Hunt CC

Mr. J. Morgan CC
Mrs. R. Page CC
Mr. T. J. Pendleton CC
Mr J. Poland CC
Mr. T. J. Richardson CC

In Attendance
Mr N. J. Rushton CC, the Leader of the County Council
Mrs D. Taylor CC, Deputy Leader and Lead Member for Regulatory Services
Mr L. Breckon CC, Lead Member for Resources
Mrs P. Posnett CC Lead Member for Communities
54.

Minutes.
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 November 2021 were taken as read, confirmed
and signed.

55.

Question Time.
The following question, received under Standing Order 34 of the County Council’s
Constitution, was put to the Chairman of the Scrutiny Commission.
Question asked by Mrs Sharon Scott
“Please can the Chairman explain why the ‘Warehousing and Logistics in Leicester and
Leicestershire: Managing growth and change (April 2021)’ report is considered to be an
appropriate basis by which to measure the future needs of warehousing in Leicester and
Leicestershire.
It was commissioned from GL Hearn with major input from developers who have a vested
interest in developing the warehouses and have little consideration of the welfare of the
residents of Leicestershire or environmental needs.
The projections in the report are based on Leicestershire continuing to act as a national
rather than a regional distributor which does not sit well with Government policy of
locating freight hubs close to the market they are intended to serve.
Would the Chairman agree therefore that Council tax payers would have been better
served by a report prepared by an independent management consultant such as Deloitte
or PWC who would have been more likely to have considered Government policy,
Climate change and local welfare and needs?”

6

Reply by the Chairman
The study entitled ‘Warehousing and Logistics in Leicester and Leicestershire: Managing
growth and change’ (April 2021) forms an important part of the evidence base for
Leicester and Leicestershire authorities’ Local Plans, highlighting the current and future
needs of the sector, with particular emphasis on future floorspace and land needs to
2041.
The Study provides an updated understanding of decarbonisation, ecommerce, property
market and needs generated by the warehousing and logistics sector, and is essential
evidence to inform Local Plan making and the development management process.
It has been undertaken by consultants working to a brief specified by planning officers
across Leicester and Leicestershire with experience of strategic warehousing planning
issues in their respective areas.
The needs of local communities are central to Local Plans which look ahead fifteen years
to plan for sustainable growth in a balanced way. It is through the Local Plan making
process that the balance is considered between the need to provide land for growth and
the protection of environmental assets.
Developer input was an important aspect of the study as it helps the local authorities to
understand the latest market thinking, how the market has changed since the last study
and how it is anticipated to change moving forward. This information provides a greater
depth of understanding for planners and others which can be utilised alongside other
Local Plan evidence (such as local employment studies, landscape sensitivity studies,
Sustainability Appraisal etc.) in considering future Local Plan policies and in decision
making through the development management process.
Strategic warehousing in Leicestershire fulfils the role of National and Regional
Distribution Centres (NRCs and RDCs), and it is understood that this will continue to be
the case in the future although with an increased emphasis on RDCs.
Recommendations from the study are already being used to the benefit of communities in
Leicestershire; for example, supply data is being collated and shared more frequently so
an understanding of strategic warehousing planning applications, refusals and planning
permissions granted across Leicester and Leicestershire can be understood more quickly
and inform the consideration of future proposals.
The study was commissioned through a robust procurement process which provided the
opportunity for all interested consultants to tender for the work. GL Hearn were
appointed through this process.
56.

Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order
7(3) and 7(5).

57.

Urgent Items.
There were no urgent items for consideration.

7
58.

Declarations of interest.
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of
items on the agenda for the meeting.
All members of the Commission who were also members of district and/or parish councils
declared an ‘Other Registerable interest’ in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (minutes
61 to 64 refer). These items did not directly relate to or affect the financial or other
wellbeing of either such bodies to an extent that prevented any members from
participating in the meeting.

59.

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule
16.
There were no declarations of the party whip.

60.

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 35.
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order
35.

61.

Provisional Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 - 2025/26
The Commission considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources which
provided information on the proposed 2022/23 – 2025/26 Medium Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS) as it related to Corporate and Central items, provided an update on
changes to funding and other issues arising since the publication of the draft MTFS, and
provided details of a number of strategies and policies related to the MTFS. A copy of
the report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes.
The Chairman welcomed the Leader of the Council, Mr N. J. Rushton CC, and the
Cabinet Lead Member for Resources, Mr L. Breckon CC, to the meeting for this item.
The Director of Corporate Resources in introducing the budget highlighted the following:






The Council was in a slightly improved position following the Local Government
Finance Settlement announced in December. This had reduced the shortfall in
2023/24 from £11.5m to £7.9m, making it more manageable, though some tough
decisions would still be required to bridge that gap.
The key pressures over the last five years had centred around Social Care,
Special Educational Needs and the capital programme. Added to those this year
were rising inflation costs and the adult social care reforms, Government funding
for which was likely to be inadequate.
Whilst a review of fair funding had been announced in the Local Government
Finance Settlement, nothing further had been done about this as yet. This had not
therefore been factored in as part of the current MTFS. Pressure continued to be
applied on the Government to take this forward, but there was concern that the
review would be more limited in scope than the Council hoped for.

The Leader welcomed the increased funding allocated by the Government (i.e. Improved
Better Care Fund, Social Care Grant and Services Grant) which had improved the
Council’s position for the coming year. He highlighted that ordinarily a balanced budget
for the first two years of the MTFS could be presented. However, this had not been

8
possible this year. Whilst assurance was provided that the gap could be bridged, the
Leader agreed this would require some difficult decisions to be made, highlighting that
the Council had already delivered significant savings over a number of years. The
Council had been prudent and maximised its opportunities to raise revenue funding by
increasing council tax and whilst difficult, it was recognised that this was necessary to
help manage the cost pressures faced. The Leader assured members that the Council
would continue to pursue fair funding.
Arising from discussion, the following points were made:
MTFS Summary and changes to the Revenue Budget
(i)

A member commented on the degree of risk in the new MTFS which had been
demonstrated through the discussions at each overview and scrutiny committee.
The Director assured members that detailed analysis of the key risks faced had
been undertaken and this would be detailed in the report to the Cabinet along with
details of the contingencies being put in place to address these. The Leader
commented that it was clear in preparing this budget that the Council faced greater
risks over the coming four years than it had faced over the last 10, but said he was
hopeful that some, for example, around business rates reform, fair funding and the
County Deal, could ultimately benefit the Council for the future.

(ii)

Concern was raised about the lateness of the receipt of the Local Government
Finance Settlement which it was agreed was unhelpful and made it difficult for
local authorities to properly budget. The allocation of funding for only one year
added to this difficulty. As the Council had resolved to produce a four year MTFS,
it had to rely on estimates and forecast as best it could over that period, but this
added to the uncertainty of future years and limited its ability to plan and manage
risk.

(iii)

A member commented that this was a sound MTFS as far as it could be provided
for. It was recognised that it was extremely difficult to predict four years ahead but
felt reassured that officers and Lead Members recognised the pressures and
would address these head on. The Council was well run and despite being so low
funded, was in a good position.

(iv)

Whilst the Services Grant for 2022/23 was welcomed, the Government had made
clear that, given the planned funding review, this might not continue beyond next
year. It was noted that a total of £822m had been made available nationally, but
that the Council had only received a small percentage (around 0.5%). A Member
commented that the Council had not received a fair proportion of this funding, or
other funding allocated by the Government, (e.g. the Social Care Grant). It was
suggested that the allocation had been based on the traditional, outdated formula
that continued to disadvantage the Council as a result of it having a reasonable
council tax base. This emphasised the need for fair funding. The Lead Member
for Resources agreed and emphasised the need for all political groups to continue
to pressure the Government to address this.

(v)

A member questioned whether council tax receipts would likely be affected over
the coming year as household incomes were squeezed because of, for example,
increased fuel costs and rising national insurance contributions. Members noted

9
that whilst collection rates might fall a little, it was not expected that this would be
significant. Council tax receipts were often resilient and were not overly affected
by such external pressures. The Lead Member said it was recognised many
residents would be experiencing difficulties as the cost of living increased and the
Council would continue to deliver services to them as effectively and efficiently as
possible.
(vi)

Regarding the New Homes Bonus Grant members noted that the Government had
suggested that this would not continue beyond next year. Therefore, whilst the
Government’s response to the consultation was still awaited, the MTFS had been
prepared on this basis.

Corporate and Central Items
(vii)

Inflation – A member challenged the estimates included for running cost inflation in
future years and questioned, given the expectancy that this will rise, whether that
allocation was too optimistic. The Director said based upon continued increases
seen in inflation over the last few months, there was a real risk that the provision
could be too low. Contracted prices would provide some protection and spread
increases over future years. However, it should not have a too significant effect on
the budget, as running cost inflation had a relatively small impact compared to the
National Living Wage and pay awards.

(viii)

Ways of Working Programme – Members noted that as the Programme was rolled
out and officers began a hybrid working approach, this would free up office space
at County Hall. A member questioned whether any cost analysis had been
undertaken to determine the best use of the campus i.e. whether to rent or sell
parts of this. The Director advised that discussions were being held with partners
with the aim of renting out space no longer needed which would generate an
income for the Council. The Leader commented that there was no intention to sell
any part of the County Hall campus and that the preference would be to maximise
its use and generate a good income through renting.

Adequacy of Earmarked Funds and Robustness of Estimates
(ix)

Health and Social Care Integration – Members noted that it had expected that an
Integrated Care System would be introduced in April though the legislative
timetable had been delayed. As part of this the three CCGs (Clinical
Commissioning Groups) would be merged into one. As expected, the biggest
issue currently facing the County Council was hospital discharges and pressures
on adult social care. However, the Chief Executive assured members that the
Council was well placed given how well it worked locally with NHS partners.
Members noted that a briefing would be provided for all members the following day
on this issue and all were encouraged to attend.

(x)

Budget Equalisation Fund – It was noted that the money allocated to this Fund
came partly from contingencies made, but not used this financial year, and partly
from the Council’s revenue budget. It was acknowledged that the creation of this
Fund contributed to the financial gap in savings required to be made. However,
the Director explained that whilst this might appear counterintuitive, it was
necessary for the Council to allocate money for the increasing SEND deficit; the

10
Fund would equal that deficit by the end of the MTFS.
Capital Programme 2022/23 – 2025/26
(xi)

Prudential borrowing – Members noted that whilst historically the Council had been
against borrowing, the position had now shifted and this might prove necessary to
deliver the capital programme. The Director emphasised, however, that this would
come down to affordability. The Leader confirmed that the key issue to consider
would be the revenue consequences of the borrowing. If it could be afforded and
the Council was looking to borrow for the right reasons, e.g. an invest to save
scheme, then prudential borrowing would now have to be considered.

Funding and Affordability
(xii)

Forward Funding – A member emphasised the risk to the Council’s capital
programme arising from the need to forward fund schemes necessary to support
developments detailed in district council local plans. Whilst a single agreement
with all district councils could not be reached, the Chief Executive assured
members that all parties had agreed to move forward on an individual basis and
that constructive discussions were being held with districts including Charnwood,
Blaby and North West Leicestershire. The Director advised that each area and
each project differed in terms of need and risk and therefore a series of
agreements would likely be needed. The Director further emphasised that the
Council was heavily dependent on district councils to secure the section 106
developer contributions needed to deliver its capital programme.

(xiii)

External debt – The Council’s current external debt was low compared to many
other authorities. The Council had repaid significant amounts of debt over the last
decade. The possibility of generating savings through repaying more of this debt
was also looked at regularly. However, this could be expensive due to penalties
applied and so there was little scope to repay more at the current time.

Changes to the Capital Programme 2022 - 2026
(xiv)

In response to a question raised, the Director clarified that the £8m balance
referenced in paragraph 78 of the report was different to the £8m allocation from
the Covid reserve for Highways Investment that was included in the December
Cabinet report.

(xv)

It was noted that the allocation of funding for the Members Highway Fund had
been made in the current financial year (2021/22) for a period of two years and
that no further funding had been allocated for this in the new MTFS.

Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF)
(xvi)

The CAIF made a meaningful contribution to the Council’s revenue budget. This
was therefore a positive policy to make the best use of the Council’s resources
and assets.

(xvii) Members noted that whilst primarily investments were made in County, as these
also provided an economic benefit. However, investments were made out of

11
County where these were considered appropriate and worthwhile. This helped
maximise the use of the Fund and ensured diversification to manage risk.
(xviii) In response to a question raised the Director confirmed that the CAIF would be
funded from the Council’s own resources and did not require any borrowing.
Members were informed that a report on the performance of the Fund would be
presented to the Commission in the Autumn.
(xix)

Whilst independent advisers had suggested that entry into the residential markets
might be advisable, the Council had decided against this at the current time.
Whilst a good investment from a property point of view, there was concern that
increased exposure to residential market risk would not be appropriate for the
Council.

RESOLVED:
(a) That the report and information now provided be noted;
(b) That the comments now made be submitted to the Cabinet at its meeting on 11 th
February 2022 for consideration.
62.

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 - 2025/26 - Chief Executive's Department
The Commission considered a joint report of the Chief Executive and Director of
Corporate Resources which provided information on the proposed 2022/23 – 2025/26
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) as it related to the Chief Executive’s
Department. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with these minutes.
The Chairman welcomed Mr N. J. Rushton CC, the Leader of the Council, Mrs D. Taylor
CC, the Deputy Leader and Lead Member for Regulatory Services, and Mrs P. Posnett
CC the Lead Member for Communities, to the meeting for this item.
Arising from discussion and questions the following points were raised:
Growth
(i)

Growth Service – The role of the Service had developed over time and it now
delivered across five key areas of activity. The Growth Unit itself engaged with
growth locations across the County and supported work on issues such as the
Freeport and the main sustainable urban extensions across the County. It had a
strategic planning role that linked with the Strategic Growth Plan and the work of
the City and County Member Advisory Group, and it contributed to work on district
local plans, coordinating the County Council’s work on infrastructure provision and
the relationship between the two. It also managed the Superfast Leicestershire
Broadband Programme, included the economic growth team that liaised with the
LLEP and other organisations around economic funding, and also now coordinated the Council’s activity to deliver its climate change and net zero carbon
aspirations.

12
Savings
(ii)

Legal Case Management and New Ways of Working – An operational review was
being undertaken of the Council’s external legal spend which related to the need to
seek Counsel’s advice from time to time and when legal work had to be
externalised due to a lack of internal resource or expertise. It was accepted that
this was more costly than delivering the service in house and work was therefore
being undertaken to determine how this could be avoided for the future. It was
noted that this was separate to the wider Ways of Working Programme being
rolled out across the Authority.

(iii)

Local Government Association (LGA) Subscription – In response to a question on
whether the Council resigning its membership of the LGA had negatively affected
its influence of ministers and work with other authorities, the Leader advised that
there had been no impact and that he still had good relationships with, and was
still involved in discussions on key issues with both. The decision to withdraw its
membership was, in his view, sound given the outcome and the financial
pressures faced by the Council.

External Influences
(iv)

Levelling Up White Paper – In response to a question the Leader said that this was
still awaited and whilst it was hoped that County Deals would be included within
the White Paper, this was not yet certain.

(v)

Coroners and Registrars – It was questioned whether it was possible for the
Council to recharge for such services given the increase in demand. Members
noted that the coroner’s service was a statutory service and so could not be
recharged. The Council was, however, looking to merge the two coronial areas
(South Leicestershire and Leicester (currently managed by Leicester City Council)
and North Leicestershire and Rutland (managed by the County Council) following
the retirement of the Coroner for the latter. Registrar services were charged for
and where possible a 10% increase in fees would be introduced in April 2022.

(vi)

Shire Community Solutions Grants – Members noted that these grants were very
popular and often oversubscribed. Applications were assessed closely and
unfortunately due to funding limitations, not all projects could be funded fully. The
Council sought to ensure the grants supported long term projects where possible.
Members acknowledged that the grants helped to support communities which in
turn reduced the need on the County Council. The Lead Member for
Communities undertook to consider with the Leader and the Chief Executive
whether some additional funding could be added to the Leicestershire grants
programme. It was recognised that for little money the projects supported
provided great benefit both to the Council and its communities.

RESOLVED:
(a) That the report and information now provided be noted;
(b) That it be noted that the Lead Member for Communities would consider, in
consultation with the Leader and the Chief Executive, the allocation of additional
funding for Shire Community Solutions Grants;

13
(c) That the comments now made be submitted to the Cabinet for consideration at it
meeting on 5th February 2022.
63.

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 - 2025/26 - Corporate Resources Department
The Commission considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources which
provided information on the proposed 2022/23 – 2025/26 Medium Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS) as it related to the Corporate Resources Department. A copy of the
report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with these minutes.
The Chairman welcomed the Lead Member for Resources, Mr L. Breckon CC, to the
meeting for this item.
Arising from discussion and questions the following points were raised:
(i)

Customer Service Centre (CSC) – Members noted that the budget for the CSC
was not being reduced. However, some temporary growth previously added to
address the introduction of hidden disabilities to the blue badge scheme and other
similar pressures was now gradually being removed. The Director reported that a
significant programme of work was being undertaken to make the Council’s digital
access channels more efficient. Residents accessing services digitally had
increased significantly in some areas from 50% to 96%. Flexible staffing
arrangements were being implemented to target peak times and automation
projects were being increased and improved.

(ii)

A member asked if the Council had considered the use of an App to make it easier
for residents wanting to access the Council digitally. The Director advised that
these were considered but evidence suggested that due to the nature of
engagement with residents by the Service, which was often transactional at a point
of need, the development of self accounts was considered the best way forward.
Members noted that whilst many wished to access the Council via their phones,
this was more on an as need basis which meant an App was not particularly
suitable. The situation would, however, continue to be reviewed each year.

(iii)

Investment in Tree Nurseries – The Director explained that in line with the
Council’s commitment to plant 700,000 trees, it was beginning to explore the
potential to run its own tree nursery either on its own land or perhaps in
conjunction with the National Forest. There was potential to turn this into a
commercial venture as there was a national shortage of native saplings. It would
also help the Council’s biodiversity and address issues with Ash Die Back.
Members noted that the £100,000 allocation in the MTFS was a notional figure at
this stage whilst the business case was being developed.

RESOLVED:
(a) That the report and information now provided be noted;
(b) That the comments now made be submitted to the Cabinet at its meeting on 11 th
February for consideration.

14
64.

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 - 2025/26 - Consideration of responses from
other Overview and Scrutiny Committees
The Commission considered extracts from the minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee meetings held to consider the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)
2022/23 – 2025/26 as related to the County Council departments. A copy of the minute
extracts is filed with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
That the comments now made be submitted to the Cabinet for consideration at its
meeting on 11th February 2022.

65.

Date of next meeting.
RESOLVED:
It was noted that the next meeting of the Commission would be held on 9th March 2022 at
10.00am.

10.00 - 11.43 am
31 January 2022

CHAIRMAN

15

Agenda Item 8

SCRUTINY COMMISSION – 9 MARCH 2022
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Purpose of the Report
1.

The appended report sets out the conclusions and recommendations arising
from the Scrutiny Task and Finish Group on the Council’s Corporate Ways of
Working Programme.

Scope of the review
2.

In September 2021 the Scrutiny Commissioners requested that a short,
informal Task and Finish Group be established to provide some outside
challenge to how the Council’s Ways of Working Programme would be
delivered to ensure the identified benefits of the Programme are realised. It
was also to consider the potential impacts, risks and barriers to its success.

3.

The business case and supporting delivery plan for the Programme had been
agreed by Chief Officers as an operational function. However, given the scale
of the Programme and its implications for how the Council will operate in the
future, it was considered that some Member challenge to its planned delivery
would be beneficial. The Council had established a cross party Members’
Working Party during the height of the pandemic in 2020 which looked at
some of the changes imposed during that time as part of the Council’s
response to the local and national lockdowns. The aim of the Group was to
build on that critical friend challenge by now providing a member perspective
to the Council’s planned long-term approach to hybrid working.

Report Recommendations
4.

The recommendations of the Task and Finish Group are located within the
body of the appended report. For ease of reference, they are also set out
below:
(a) That all communications relating to the Programme be sense checked to
ensure they are not unfairly and unnecessarily addressed to those that
are predominantly office based, unnecessarily referencing County Hall.
(b) That additional communications be provided to those staff that already
work remotely, in the localities or on the front line, to ensure they too are
adequately accounted for and understand how the Programme might
affect them.

16

(c) That Service Heads be requested to review their action plans as their
teams’ working arrangements evolve, to ensure that core requirements
(service to the customer) are captured and met.
(d) That communications be provided to managers to emphasise the need to
access:
(i)
ongoing support available around Organisation Development,
Leadership and culture to support them and their teams to identify
the best way of working;
(ii)
training on how to best utilise technology and workplaces to drive
the best outcomes for staff and customers.
(e) That information be regularly shared with all staff around new and creative
ways to come together either in person, utilising the new office model to
its full potential, or digitally using any new technology rolled out, including
sharing lessons learnt across the organisation and from other
organisations that have been hybrid working for some time.
(f) That communications be developed to go out to all staff to alert them to
the planned pilot to be run in room 700, with regular updates across the
pilot period.
(g) That the use of the APR process and one to ones be extended to ask
softer questions around the adequacy of peer support and connectivity
and around health and wellbeing matters.
(h) That managers be alerted to the need, as part of the refreshed induction
process, to induct new staff into their base location and ways of working.
(i) That health and wellbeing bulletins for staff be refreshed and reenergised
as part of the roll out of the Programme.
(j) That advice be developed for managers on how to raise and question
issues about health, wellbeing and stress through regular one to ones and
the APR process.
(k) That, whilst addressed through the action planning process, it be
reiterated by managers and via communications at a corporate level that
the Programme does not impose an expectation that the position under
Covid will continue – remote working will not be imposed.
(l) That communications, guidance and support be provided to staff on how
to claim any tax benefit related to working from home from HMRC.
(m) That communications be provide to managers to emphasise the need to
access and take advantage of the support, guidance and training

17

available to support culture change and skills in managing hybrid and
remote teams.
(n) That storage solutions and guidance be reviewed for remote working.
(o) That managers and staff be reminded to continue to follow information
governance and keeping data safe mandatory training.
(p) That further reassurance be sought that the Council’s approach is
considered sufficient in the face of potential legal action if an employee is
injured whilst working from home and whether the Council’s insurance
might be affected.
(q) That further and ongoing reassurance/visibility of health and safety at
home be provided through communications and engagement with staff
and managers – with particular focus on relevant worker groups e.g.
Disabled Workers Group.
(r) That an update be provided to members of the Group on the outcome of
work undertaken to introduce new performance management
arrangements and measures.
Recommendation
5.

That the Scrutiny Commission support the findings of the Task and Finish
Group and refer the recommended actions to the Cabinet Lead Member for
Ways of Working and the Director of Corporate Resources for consideration.

Resource Implications
6.

Details of the resources required to deliver the programme are detailed in the
report of the Task and Finish Group appended. A more detailed report
specifically on the delivery of financial savings is to be considered elsewhere
on the agenda for this meeting.

Circulation under the Local Issues Alerts Procedure
None.
Background Papers
File containing the reports submitted to the Scrutiny Review Panel on Flooding.
Appendix
Final Report of the Scrutiny Task and Finish Group on the Council’s Corporate Ways
of Working Programme.

This page is intentionally left blank

19

REPORT OF THE SCRUTINY TASK AND FINISH GROUP CORPORATE WAYS OF WORKING
Introduction
1.

In October 2019, Chief Officers gave their support to a proposal for
investment to progress with the “Workplace Programme”. Its aims and
objectives were to drive efficiency and productivity by promoting a culture of
flexible/smarter working enabled by the rollout of new technology. This would
also lead to a rationalisation of the Council’s property estate resulting in a
reduction in costs.

2.

The programme was paused in March 2020 shortly before delivery was due to
commence, as the COVID-19 pandemic hit and focus was therefore diverted
to the Council’s response and recovery work.

3.

As a result of the pandemic, there was a huge and very quick shift in
organisational culture, with many being required to work from home for the
first time due to the national and local lockdowns imposed by the government.
This led to a wholescale rethink of how departments and teams needed to
operate moving forward, retaining a higher degree of flexibility, and more
remote working than previously thought possible. The Workplace Programme
was subsequently reshaped into the “Ways of Working Programme” taking
account of the changes made and the experience gained during this period.

Purpose and Membership of the Task and Finish Group
4.

The business case and supporting delivery plan for the Council’s Ways of
Working Programme was agreed by Chief Officers as an operational function.
However, given the scale of the Programme and its implications for how the
Council will operate in the future, in September 2021 the Scrutiny
Commissioners agreed to appoint an informal Task and Finish Group to
provide some outside challenge to how this will be delivered to ensure the
identified benefits of the Programme are realised and to consider the potential
impacts, risks and barriers to its success. This differs from a traditional
Scrutiny Review Panel in that it is a short, sharp, focused piece of work to
ensure members can swiftly reach conclusions and recommendations.

5.

In 2020, during the height of the pandemic, the Council established a cross
party Members’ Working Party which looked at the Council’s Covid response
and recovery plans and provided input into some of the changes imposed
during that time. The aim of the Task and Finish Group was to build on that
critical friend challenge by now providing a member perspective to the
Council’s revised longer-term approach to flexible working. Feedback from
the Group and any comments or actions it identified to be presented to the

20

Director of Corporate Resources and the Lead Member for Covid 19
Recovery and the Ways of Working Programme for consideration.
6.

The Group looked at:
 The development of the Ways of Working Programme, informed by the
impact of Covid.
 The overall planned approach and the objectives and investment returns
identified in the business case.
 Action planning undertaken by all service areas across the Authority.
 Resources – required investment and forecasted savings.
 The impacts, risks and benefits identified across the three main
workstreams – People, IT, Property.

7.

The following members were appointed to the Task and Finish Group:
Mr L. Phillimore CC (Chairman)
Mr G. A. Boulter CC
Mr M. Frisby CC

Mrs H. Fryer CC
Mr P. King CC

The Ways of Working Programme
8.

The vision as set out in the Ways of Working Programme is to ensure that
“Leicestershire County Council is a modern, effective and productive
organisation that people are proud to work for.” The scope of the Programme
is very broad, but its delivery has been clearly focused on three key
workstreams – people, technology and property (workplaces).
Technology – This focuses on the rollout of appropriate technology
equipment to all staff based on their role, ensuring they can always work
productively and remotely (as appropriate), with a centralised funding model
to be developed to support the ongoing refresh of equipment.
People – This focuses on embedding strong leadership and management
across the organisation to successfully lead teams through the new ways of
working options and embedding this as business as usual, providing support
through communications, engagement and other training tools.
Workplaces – This focuses on assessing future office space requirements
and ensuring these provide for a more dynamic and collaborative environment
that compliments remote and flexible working and maximise performance,
productivity, and support staff wellbeing. This would include exploiting
opportunities for income generation and cost reduction as the requirement for
office space would likely reduce with increased remote working.
Action Planning

9.

In preparation for the Programme and to gain a better understanding of
individual service and team needs, in early summer 2021 all managers across
the Authority were asked to carry out a planning exercise with their individual

21

teams. This asked officers (operational, frontline, homebased etc) to say
what worked well and not so well over the last year and to consider what the
future might look like.
10.

Teams were asked to discuss and agree how their services could be
delivered in the most efficient and productive way, whilst maximising the use
of smarter and remote working options. Individuals were also asked about
their preferred working practices and to determine what percentage of time
could be spent working remotely. The table below outlines the expected
future levels of remote working across the Authority based on the feedback
received.

Corporate Resources
Chief Execs
Adults & Communities
Children & Families
Public Health
Environment & Transport
Overall
11.

Average % Time Working Remotely
69%
70%
63%
73%
82%
62%
70%

This demonstrated the potential for change in the future use of the Council’s
offices (County Hall and other locations) and the realistic opportunity for
reduced costs and income generation.
Resources

12.

The net cost of the Programme’s implementation is projected to be £4 million
over 9 years which includes investment in resources from property and people
services and ICT. Over the same time frame the ‘do nothing’ option is
estimated to cost £10.9m due to maintaining/renewing existing leasing
arrangements, building maintenance costs, as well as providing the soon to
be decommissioned remote access and office infrastructure e.g. desktops
pcs.

13.

Implementation of the Programme therefore represents a net saving of £6.9m
over 9 years and this is forecasted to increase to between £12.4m and
£17.9m when savings associated with a reduction in business mileage is
factored in as follows:



14.

Reduction in total property spend by exiting premises/rental agreements
to the tune of £13.5m over the next 9 years.
Reduction in business travel per annum of between £600k and £1.2m.

The business case is modelled over a 9 year period to cover two laptop
refreshes (a laptop is currently required to be refreshed every 4 years). The
initial investment required, however, would be a one off cost (with the
exception of an annual revenue increase for ICT equipment refresh). The
Programme therefore potentially delivers further financial benefits beyond the
period accounted for in the business case. Particularly if savings (yet to be

22

quantified) anticipated from photocopying, because of the Ways of Working
Programme encouraging a more paperless office environment, are also
included in time.
Benefits
15.

Benefits both to the County Council and staff have been identified in the
business case as summarised below. Whilst adopting a more hybrid
approach to working has significant financial benefits as outlined above, a
number of other, wider non-financial benefits for both the County Council and
individuals have been identified. These are:
How LCC could benefit

How staff could benefit

Improved collaboration
Improved productivity

Better work-life balance
Reduced stress, improve
health and wellbeing

Reduced travel costs
Reduced property costs

Opportunities to work in a
variety of ways and in a
variety of places

Reduced travel
Reduced environmental
impact
Reduced absence
Improved recruitment and
retention
Findings
16.

There is general agreement across many organisations, local government
included, that hybrid working is the way forward. Many have already
embraced this approach to some degree and are further along this journey
than the County Council was pre-Covid, it continuing to operate quite a
traditional structure, with traditional working practices. However, experience
during the pandemic has shown the opportunities hybrid working can create
both for the County Council and its employees.

17.

The Group considered each workstream, but on balance agreed that at the
core of this transformation project was the ‘people’ element. Whilst the
financial benefits identified are likely to be a key driver, the Group agreed the
primary goal was to transform and modernise the culture of the organisation
by providing flexibility and choice for its officers around how they can work.
The provision of new IT equipment and a revised workplace environment are
directed to support that primary goal.

18.

Consequently, it was this area the Group also felt gave rise to the greatest
challenges and risks. It is clear that, despite the push provided by the

23

changes imposed during Covid, the journey will not be easy and will take time
to embed, as there are a number of complexities in shifting to a more hybrid
working approach, particularly given the diverse operations the Authority
undertakes and services it provides.
19.

The challenges raised and the risks identified by the Group as being key to
the successful delivery of the Programme are detailed in the table attached.
These focused on the following areas:













A whole Council approach
Service outcome prioritisation
Communication and collaboration
Team Cohesion and support
Learning and development of new officers
Staff wellbeing
Wider staff impacts
The critical role of managers
Confidentiality
Health and Safety
Equalities
Productivity and Performance

20.

Whilst all the areas discussed give rise to a number of issues to be addressed
the Group agreed that the critical role of managers would be at the centre,
both in terms of the delivery of the programme itself and in managing and
mitigating the challenges and risks arising from this. Whilst it is accepted that
managing remote workers is not totally different from managing those who are
in the same, central physical location, it is potentially more challenging and
there are some specific aspects that will need to be considered and managed.
It is therefore vital that managers receive greater support to ensure they are
properly equipped and trained in helping ensure hybrid working is sustainable,
and that their teams remain healthy, engaged and productive.

21.

The Group was also keen to identify the potential wider impacts of the
programme not only on the health and wellbeing of officers themselves but
also on their family and domestic life when working from home.

22.

In response to questions raised, significant assurance was provided by
officers and the Group was largely satisfied that much work already
undertaken or planned will help manage and mitigate many of the points
identified. However, the Group acknowledged that there are still many
unknowns at this early stage of delivery and still much work to be done,
particularly around changes to the Council’s property workplace portfolio and
in areas such as performance management and monitoring. There were
some further actions and areas for consideration identified by the Group and
these are also set out in the table attached for consideration by the Director of
Corporate Resources and Lead Member for Covid 19 Recovery and Ways of
Working.

24

Recommendations
23.

The Group recommends that the Director of Corporate Resources and Lead
Member for Covid Recovery and Ways of Working considers undertaking the
following actions:
(a) That all communications relating to the Programme be sense checked to
ensure they are not unfairly and unnecessarily addressed to those that
are predominantly office based, unnecessarily referencing County Hall.
(b) That additional communications be provided to those staff that already
work remotely, in the localities or on the front line, to ensure they too are
adequately accounted for and understand how the Programme might
affect them.
(c) That Service Heads be requested to review their action plans as their
teams’ working arrangements evolve, to ensure that core requirements
(service to the customer) are captured and met.
(d) That communications be provided to managers to emphasise the need to
access:
(i)
ongoing support available around Organisation Development,
Leadership and culture to support them and their teams to identify
the best way of working;
(ii)
training on how to best utilise technology and workplaces to drive
the best outcomes for staff and customers.
(e) That information be regularly shared with all staff around new and creative
ways to come together either in person, utilising the new office model to
its full potential, or digitally using any new technology rolled out, including
sharing lessons learnt across the organisation and from other
organisations that have been hybrid working for some time.
(f) That communications be developed to go out to all staff to alert them to
the planned pilot to be run in room 700, with regular updates across the
pilot period.
(g) That the use of the APR process and one to ones be extended to ask
softer questions around the adequacy of peer support and connectivity
and around health and wellbeing matters.
(h) That managers be alerted to the need, as part of the refreshed induction
process, to induct new staff into their base location and ways of working.

25

(i) That health and wellbeing bulletins for staff be refreshed and reenergised
as part of the roll out of the Programme.
(j) That advice be developed for managers on how to raise and question
issues about health, wellbeing and stress through regular one to ones and
the APR process.
(k) That, whilst addressed through the action planning process, it be
reiterated by managers and via communications at a corporate level that
the Programme does not impose an expectation that the position under
Covid will continue – remote working will not be imposed.
(l) That communications, guidance and support be provided to staff on how
to claim any tax benefit related to working from home from HMRC.
(m) That communications be provide to managers to emphasise the need to
access and take advantage of the support, guidance and training
available to support culture change and skills in managing hybrid and
remote teams.
(n) That storage solutions and guidance be reviewed for remote working.
(o) That managers and staff be reminded to continue to follow information
governance and keeping data safe mandatory training.
(p) That further reassurance be sought that the Council’s approach is
considered sufficient in the face of potential legal action if an employee is
injured whilst working from home and whether the Council’s insurance
might be affected.
(q) That further and ongoing reassurance/visibility of health and safety at
home be provided through communications and engagement with staff
and managers – with particular focus on relevant worker groups e.g.
Disabled Workers Group.
(r) That an update be provided to members of the Group on the outcome of
work undertaken to introduce new performance management
arrangements and measures.

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX
Corporate Ways of Working Task and Finish Group
Challenges, risks and recommendations

Challenges / Risks

Assurance provided

Recommendations

 Planned roll out of new ways of working,
including hybrid working, across all office
bases, including locality offices.
 Supporting communication and culture change
work will be in place.
 Ways of Working action plans at service level
undertaken to capture individual and team
requirements in relation to new ways of
working.

(a) That all communications relating to the Programme be
sense checked to ensure they are not unfairly and
unnecessarily addressed to those that are
predominantly office based, unnecessarily referencing
County Hall.

A whole Council approach

(b) That additional communications be provided to those
staff that already work remotely, in the localities or on
the front line, to ensure they too are adequately
accounted for and understand how the Programme
might affect them.

27

 Being mindful that flexibility might not be
suitable for all jobs. The Council employs more
than 6200 people in a variety of jobs,
undertaking a wide range of duties, providing
services to residents, communities and elected
members. Clearly communicating to all staff
about what hybrid means and how it may apply
differently to different jobs, and how it may not
apply to some at all will be essential.
 The Authority has many staff who are not, and
were not pre-Covid, office based and there is a
risk through its delivery that the Programme
becomes too County Hall focused. Whilst it is
accepted those who are currently office based,
largely at County Hall, might be most affected, it
should not be forgotten that the Programme will
affect all staff to some degree or another, even
those working in the localities.

Challenges / Risks

Assurance provided

Recommendations

 The Programme clearly sets out that service
needs remain the first priority and should form
the foundation for any new flexible
arrangements agreed by managers.
 By way of the action planning exercise all
managers have begun to discuss and identify
with their teams what their service needs are,
when an officer presence (whether at home or
in an office) will be required, and how they
might shape their flexible working
arrangements around that.
 Clear guidance and policies in place.
 New IT service delivery commitment and
revised SLAs to be launching in early 2022 that
will ensure all staff and managers are aware of
the fastest route to achieve IT support in the
future – including chatbot function, and faster
solutions for replacement devices/repairs.

(c) That Service Heads be requested to review their action
plans as their teams’ working arrangements evolve, to
ensure that core requirements (service to the
customer) are captured and met.

 Technology has and will continue to be rolled
out to staff which supports new and alternative

(e) That information be regularly shared with all staff
around new and creative ways to come together either

Service outcome prioritisation
 Allowing choice and flexibility will need to be






(d) That communications be provided to managers to
emphasise the need to access:
(i) ongoing support available around Organisation
Development, Leadership and culture to support
them and their teams to identify the best way of
working;
(j) training on how to best utilise technology and
workplaces to drive the best outcomes for staff and
customers.

Communication and collaboration
 Creating the right working cultures to support
good collaboration, communication, and

28



accompanied by clear parameters or principles
that will enable staff to understand how this will
apply to them and their teams.
Providing flexibility whilst ensuring access to
services is not reduced could be a difficult
balance for managers to strike.
A move away from 9 to 5 working should not be
at the expense of service accessibility during
those times.
Flexible arrangements need to be mutually
acceptable within teams (e.g. a manager may
work late, but an officer may not feel
comfortable or may not be able to contact them
past 6pm).
A move away from a 9 to 5, Monday to Friday
approach, may impact back office services. For
example, will IT support be made available to
staff choosing to work outside those traditional
office hours.

Challenges / Risks








approaches to collaboration and
communication. The Programme continues to
invest in IT skills training – in particular
Microsoft teams, SharePoint, and new
workplace technology to allow hybrid
meetings.
Pulse surveys to be considered which could
capture views on what’s working in terms of
collaboration etc.
The Council’s offices and workplaces will be
altered in ways that will support the new ways
of working and this will include technology to
allow for hybrid meetings to take place.
Specific collaboration workspaces will be
created through the ‘property’ workstream
such as booths, pods, collaboration areas.
These will be trialled as part of a pilot to be run
in Room 700 of County Hall in early 2022.
The pilot will ensure staff have a better
understanding of the new office model and are
able to input and contribute into that process
(as different offices are changed there will be
engagement with staff that occupy and use that
space). Once the findings from this pilot are
understood, it is then proposed that this model
will be rolled out across the organisation for
the benefit of all service areas, subject to any
lessons learnt from the pilot.

Recommendations
in person, utilising the new office model to its full
potential, or digitally using any new technology rolled
out, including sharing lessons learnt across the
organisation and from other organisations that have
been hybrid working for some time.
(f)

That communications be developed to go out to all
staff to alert them to the planned pilot to be run in
room 700, with regular updates across the pilot period.

29

connections between staff both within individual
teams and across the organisation, in all the
different places and ways they might now work.
 Ensuring informal conversations held in
corridors, outside of meetings are not lost, as the
soft information shared in this way is critical to
the smooth operation of the Council.
 Building staff knowledge and confidence on how
they might use new forms of technology to
communicate and collaborate effectively.
 Ensuring officers feel comfortable with the new
workplace arrangements so they are used to
their full potential as a place where collaboration
and communication can thrive. Confidence
coming back into an office environment will likely
be affected post Covid, particularly as this will
look and feel very different.

Assurance provided

Challenges / Risks

Assurance provided

Recommendations

Team cohesion and support
 A key part of the ‘people’ workstream will be to
help officers and managers reshape why and
how they come together to collaborate.
Teams will seek out solutions that work for
whole teams or services for a range of reasons,
whether this be teambuilding, team meetings,
collaboration, problem solving or general
networking / wellbeing. This might involve
meeting in a workplace, council building,
external sites where appropriate, and of course
virtually.
 As detailed above, specific workspaces will be
created to support alternatives ways for people
to communicate and come together through
the ‘property’ workstream.

(g)

 Learning and development and induction
processes had been developed and expanded
to support smarter and remote working
options.
 Managers will consider the optimum ways of
recruiting and inducting new staff – the latter
often being best conducted face to face.
 Corporate and local induction programmes are

(h) That managers be alerted to the need, as part of the
refreshed induction process, to induct new staff into
their base location and ways of working.

That the use of the APR process and one to ones be
extended to ask softer questions around the adequacy
of peer support and connectivity and around health
and wellbeing matters.

30

 Informal, unplanned, social and work-related
interactions within a team can be hard to
replicate digitally and there is a risk that this can
negatively affect team relationships.
 Support networks can be lost reducing morale
and motivation and increasing stress.
 Staff health and wellbeing issues could be more
difficult to spot when connecting remotely by
both managers and peers and so risk going
unnoticed.
 Teams working in different locations, perhaps
with different flexible hours, could become
disjointed and therefore operate less effectively.

Learning and development of new officers
 It can be difficult for new staff to build
relationships with their team and managers
remotely.
 There is a risk of missing out on ‘on the job
learning’ within an office environment - new
officers often learnt from observing their peers
and listening in to conversations and discussions.
 Ensuring new staff develop a sense of the

Challenges / Risks
organisation they work for, its ethos and values
and build relationships with peers, both within
their team and more widely across the
organisation.

Assurance provided

Recommendations

being reviewed. Refresh of the managers
charter to ensure staff wellbeing and new
starters communication is robust

Staff Wellbeing
 Staff bulletins had been circulated regularly
during the height of the pandemic with
information and practical advice on what staff
could do to support their health and wellbeing
and limit stress. This signposted staff to the
Council’s wellbeing service where further
support could also be obtained.
 Managers already undertake discussions with
staff around illness and any sickness absence or
adjustments required to their work as a result.
Those discussions will continue and vary
according to individual circumstances. The
attendance management policy reflects the
opportunity to consider home working if
someone is well enough to do this

(i)

That health and wellbeing bulletins for staff be
refreshed and reenergised as part of the roll out of the
Programme.

(j)

That advice be developed for managers on how to raise
and question issues about health, wellbeing and stress
through regular one to ones and the APR process.

31

 During 2020 staff proved they are highly
adaptable and able to continue to perform well
working remotely despite the difficult
circumstances. However, this has given rise to
wellbeing and physical, mental and emotional
health issues.
 Home/work boundaries can become blurred,
new team members might feel inadequately
supported, the loss of personal social interaction
and support from colleagues can all add to
feelings of stress and pressure.
 Poor workforce health and wellbeing can
threaten business continuity and impact
organisational stability and performance.
 How can managers ensure staff ‘switch off’ by
taking regular breaks and finishing work at
reasonable times when they are less visible in an
office environment?
 How can managers ensure staff take adequate
time off when ill? There might be the temptation
to continue working from home but perhaps in a
less productive way and this might not be

Challenges / Risks

Assurance provided

Recommendations

appropriate for the service or beneficial to the
employee.

Wider staff impacts
 The position imposed on officers to work from
home as a result of Covid was not flexible.
However, the Programme was not seeking to
replicate how the Council operated during the
pandemic and did not require people to work
from home.
 No contracts were being changed to designate
anyone as a ‘home worker’ as it was accepted
that this would not encourage the new ways of
working and flexibility the Programme aimed to
achieve.
 Officers were being advised, through
discussions with their managers as part of the
action planning process that the intention
would be to provide flexibility that best suited
the needs of the team and the individual
(having regard first and foremost to service
needs). If an officer preferred to work in an
office base, had to for health and wellbeing
reasons, or because their home environment
was not suitable, this would always be
accommodated.
 During 2020 officers had received an (up to)
£200 allowance which enabled them to

(k) That, whilst addressed through the action planning
process, it be reiterated by managers and via
communications at a corporate level that the
Programme does not impose an expectation that the
position under Covid will continue – remote working
will not be imposed.
(l)

That communications, guidance and support be
provided to staff on how to claim any tax benefit
related to working from home from HMRC.

32

 Avoiding staff feeling pressured to work from
home as the Programme is rolled out.
 There is a risk that staff may feel like they are out
of pocket working from home e.g. due to
increased heating costs, increased broadband
costs, installation of blinds or changes to lighting,
increased wear and tear on flooring caused by
office chairs.
 There is a risk that working from home could
impact not only the health and wellbeing of
officers themselves but also their family and
domestic life. There might be a risk that the
Council’s responsibility as a corporate employer
begins to encompass some negative impacts on
an individual’s domestic residence caused by
them working from home.

Challenges / Risks

Assurance provided

Recommendations

purchase equipment necessary to work safely
from home.
 The tax benefit of homeworking could be
reclaimed from HMRC.
 Like all employers, the Council’s responsibility is
to its employees and it therefore has to ensure
its staff are risk assessed and provided with
appropriate PPE to enable them to undertake
their jobs safely. Such arrangements were not
affected by Covid or the Programme and would
continue as business as usual.

33

The critical role of managers
 Managers will be responsible for embedding the
hybrid approach and ensuring their team flourish
under the new flexible arrangements which will
require new people management skills and a
new attitude to performance and productivity
management.
 A manager’s role will likely be more complex as
they will need to manage different working
patterns and practices, and geographically
dispersed teams.
 Supporting a hybrid working team (both
practically and emotionally) will likely be more
time-consuming and therefore increase a
manager’s own, already heavy, workload.
 There is a need to monitor and measure the

 Managers themselves will all undertake an APR
and have regular one to one meetings with
their own manager, through which
performance in delivery of the programme
within their teams will be discussed, as will any
specific work pressures arising from this.
 Managerial support is being actively addressed
through the new Managers Charter and
performance management framework.
 Significant guidance has been and will continue
to be issued and made available which are
aimed to help managers develop the new skills
required to manage a remote/hybrid
workforce.
 Balanced scorecards, customer service metrics,

(m) That communications be provide to managers to
emphasise the need to access and take advantage of
the support, guidance and training available to support
culture change and skills in managing hybrid and
remote teams.

Challenges / Risks
fundamental role of managers delivery of the
Programme.

Assurance provided

Recommendations

and staff survey results will continue to be used
to measure effective implementation.

Confidentiality
 Ensuring confidentiality is maintained, both in
terms of overhearing meetings and telephone
conversations, the use of display screens and the
storage of documents will be difficult for
managers to monitor remotely, particularly if
staff choose to work in public places access
public Wi-Fi.

(n) That storage solutions and guidance be reviewed for
 Guidance around how to maintain
remote working.
confidentiality has already been provided to
managers and all staff.
(o) That managers and staff be reminded to continue to
 Assurance had been provided by the Council’s
follow information governance and keeping data safe
ICT services that use of public Wi-Fi did not
mandatory training.
raise security issues if people chose to work in a
public location for a period, e.g. a library or
coffee shop.

34

Health and Safety
 Ensuring staff are working safely at home and
undertake, for example, their display screen
equipment (DSE) assessments for the different
places and ways they will be working.
 How will managers and health and safety teams
satisfy themselves that individual officers’
remote working environments are safe and
appropriate, particularly for those with
disabilities. This will inevitably be more difficult
to determine when they are working from home
and therefore their arrangements are less visible.

 Information had been made available to advise
and guide managers and staff on Health and
Safety matters.
 The Health and Safety Team provide an online
DSE assessment. Alerts are sent to staff and
managers when this becomes due. It is
incumbent on staff to undertake this both for
their home and office workstation. The results
of the assessment are referred to managers
when action is required.
 Health and safety policies around electrical and
fire safety, and display screen equipment have

(p) That further reassurance be sought that the Council’s
approach is considered sufficient in the face of
potential legal action if an employee is injured whilst
working from home and whether the Council’s
insurance might be affected.
(q) That further and ongoing reassurance/visibility of
health and safety at home be provided through
communications and engagement with staff and
managers – with particular focus on relevant worker
groups e,g. Disabled Workers Group.

Challenges / Risks

Assurance provided

Recommendations

been refreshed to address remote working
options.
 Refreshed “keeping safe when working from
home” guidance produced to support
managers and staff with ongoing health and
safety

Equality
 As the Programme is rolled out there will be a
push to move away from a culture of
presenteeism to performance management
and so implementation of the Programme
should provide benefits in this regard.
 Equality impact assessments will form an
intrinsic part of the delivery of the Programme.

35

 Ensuring inclusion and fairness was not
negatively impacted and that groups with
protected characteristics who might already be
affected by being less visible within the
organisation (i.e. parttime workers who are
predominantly female, BAME employees) are not
disadvantaged.
 Ensuring access to learning and career
progression opportunities, for example, are not
be made worse for such officers through remote
working.

Productivity and Performance Management
 Moving to a different type of performance

 Work around performance management and

(r) That an update be provided to members of the Group

Challenges / Risks

Assurance provided

management culture with less emphasis on
measuring productivity and outcomes will
presenteeism and time spent working, and more
begin in 2022.
focussed on effort contributed and outcomes
 Working from home will not be a requirement
achieved.
imposed on any officers and therefore where
 Where staff are working from home, it can be
such circumstances arose the officer could still
challenging for managers to ensure that
choose (or the manager could request if it was
domestic expectations (e.g. dependents at home)
impacting performance) to come into the
do not impact an officer’s work and productivity.
office.

Recommendations
on the outcome of work undertaken to introduce new
performance management arrangements and
measures.

36

37

Agenda Item 9

SCRUTINY COMMISSION - 9 MARCH 2022
WAYS OF WORKING PROGRAMME – DELIVERY OF FINANCIAL
SAVINGS
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on the corporate Ways of
Working Programme, specifically in relation to the delivery of the agreed financial
savings outlined in the recently approved Medium Term Financial Strategy.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The Ways of Working Programme is a key aspect of the Council’s Strategic Change
Portfolio, with elements of the current People Strategy 2020-2024 also forming part
of this programme of work – these include smarter working, wellbeing, leadership,
and performance management.

3.

On 2nd December 2021 the Employment Committee considered the Programme,
noting its’ aims to drive improvements to the Council’s ways of working and next
steps in terms of its implementation.

4.

Given the scale of the Programme and its implications for how the Council will
operate in the future, the Scrutiny Commissioners agreed to appoint an informal
Task and Finish Group to provide some independent challenge as to how
programme objectives will be delivered, and benefits realised. The Group also
considered the potential impacts, risks, and barriers to its success. This Group met
in November and December 2021 and the report summarising its findings will be
considered elsewhere on the agenda for this meeting.

5.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy approved by full Council on 23rd February
2022 includes the projected net financial outcomes of the Programme, taking into
account investment required in both resources and infrastructure, as well as the
savings and income that this will enable.

Background
6.

As outlined in the report of the Scrutiny Task and Finish Group, the Ways of
Working Programme has the potential to deliver significant benefits for the Council
as a result of changing how services operate on a day-to-day basis, accelerated by
the COVID-19 pandemic.

38
7.

By incorporating more flexible and remote working into service delivery models, the
Council can benefit in several ways including: increased productivity, staff
wellbeing, and positively impacting our environment due to reduced travel and
commuting. The Task and Finish Group focused on the delivery of these wider
benefits. A significant portion of the Programme benefits are, however, financial
which will be the focus of this report.

8.

The financial savings and opportunities can be divided into 4 categories – income
generation, reduction in building operating costs, operational savings and capital
receipts.
a. Income generation – Staff working more flexibly, taking advantage of different
workplaces, presents the Council with the opportunity to reduce the amount of
space occupied by its staff, freeing up space to generate an income primarily
through leasing and tenancy, but also through exploring commercial
opportunities.
b. Reduction in building operating costs – By reducing space required for staff, this
will enable exits from some leased buildings, as well as the possibility of renegotiating existing arrangements to deliver a financial saving where current
arrangements no longer match future business need.
c. Operational savings – Primarily through a sustained reduction in business travel
as services reduce unnecessary travel and move some aspects of service
delivery to digital means. Further savings (yet to be quantified) are anticipated
from reductions in photocopying and printing - the ways of working programme
encourages and should facilitate a move towards a paperless office
environment.
d. Capital Receipts through disposals of a site.

Income Generation
9.

Based on the opportunities for space to be freed up, work has been completed to
assess the ability to rent out freed up space across the County Hall campus. Based
on current market rates, this presents a potential income generation of up to £1.4m
per annum above current tenancy levels based on current knowledge of how
services plan to work in the future. To date there has been interest expressed from
several potential public sector tenants, although no formal agreements have yet
been confirmed between parties.

10.

Across the current MTFS – rental income generation and possible commercial
opportunities have been profiled as below:
CY
Rental Income
Commercial Opportunities

2022/23
£0 -£170,000
£0 -£50,000

2023/24
-£600,000
-£100,000

2024/25
2025/26
-£780,000 -£1,380,000
-£100,000 -£100,000

Over the next 8 years, up to £8.5m rental income will be generated based on
sustaining this level of income.
11.

There is expected to be further scope to increase the rental income beyond current
estimates once we have embedded fully the new office models and ways of working
across County Council services.

39
12.

Work is also underway to explore opportunities for commercialisation of areas of the
County Hall campus to further generate income – these are in the early stages of
discovery and primarily focus on areas of the county hall campus being used for the
purpose of events. These will be reported back to the relevant forums as they are
shaped.

Reduction in building operating costs
13.

In light of increased remote and flexible working, consideration has been given to
those premises which the Council currently leases around the County and whether
these are still required and will meet the future needs and ways of working
arrangements. As a result, the below exits have been progressed:
a. Exit from existing buildings that are no longer required:i. Pennine House – vacated leased office space in July 2021 generating
£159,000 per annum savings from 2022/23
ii. Melton Parkside – vacated leased office space in December 2021
generating £178,000 per annum savings from 2022/23. Arrangements for
Registrars and weddings continues and payments for those will continue
to be made.

14.

Further savings of around £294,000 per annum have been estimated from 2024/25
through renegotiation of existing tenancy agreements. This is, however, subject to
discussion and clarifying staff requirements as the roll out of the ways of working
programme progresses. Additional costs will be required at other sites to
accommodate increased staffing which slightly offset the below savings (£70,000).

15.

Across the current MTFS – net cost reductions have been profiled as below:

Building Operating Cost Reductions

CY
2022/23
-£97,537 -£366,000

2023/24
-£486,000

2024/25
-£561,000

2025/26
-£561,000

Over the next 8 years, up to £4.2m net savings has been projected based on
sustaining the above, with further scope to increase this beyond current estimates.
Operational Savings
16.

As Covid restrictions have been easing and services have begun a return to a new
normal, business travel rates, which had plummeted across the lockdown period,
have been increasing but have stabilised at around 50% of previous levels. Based
on projections, this represents a potential future annual savings of between
£600,000 and £1.2m. This is not currently incorporated in the 2022-26 MTFS.
Business travel rates will be monitored quarterly and a full picture of the anticipated
savings from business travel will be quantified early 2023.

40
Capital Receipts
17.

Disposal of a locality site is planned which will generate a capital receipt of
£800,000 from 2023/24. Current occupiers will be engaged in this process at the
appropriate time.

Investment Costs
18.

There are a number of one-off costs that have been included within the MTFS to
enable the successful delivery of the savings. These include:a. Investment in staff resources to deliver the changes required
b. Cost of dilapidations and refurbs to enable building exit and make fit for purpose
to rent to future tenants
c. Investment in our future office model to enable successful hybrid working for
LCC Staff
These costs total £4.5m are summarised below:
CY
2022/23
Staff Implementation Costs
£393,178 £305,501
Dilapidation & Refurbishment Costs
£674,000 £700,000
Future Office Model Changes
£466,000 £1,084,000
One-Off Investment
£1,533,178 £2,089,501

19.

2023/24
£16,284
£210,000
£250,000
£476,284

2024/25
£0
£400,000
£0
£400,000

2025/26
£0
£0
£0
£0

As well as one-off costs, some ongoing costs will be incurred to accommodate the
IT move from a mixed economy to a fully laptop estate and increased staffing in
order to maintain this. These costs are outlined in the table below:

Remote Access, Mobile Phones & Peripherals
Staff IT Costs
On-going Costs

CY
2022/23
£340,542
£86,650
£113,706 £272,894
£454,247 £359,543

2023/24
£127,716
£272,894
£400,609

2024/25
£188,335
£272,894
£461,228

2025/26
£69,877
£272,894
£342,771

Overall Impact
20.

Taking into account investment in resources and implementation costs the overall
programme impact from a financial perspective is presented below.
CY
Investment Costs
Staff Implementation Costs
Dilapidation & Refurbishment Costs
Future Office Model Changes
Total Investment Costs
Capital Receipts
Net Investment Cost

2022/23

£393,178 £305,501
£674,000 £700,000
£466,000 £1,084,000
£1,533,178 £2,089,501
£0
£0
£1,533,178 £2,089,501

2023/24
£16,284
£210,000
£250,000
£476,284
-£800,000
-£323,716

2024/25
£0
£400,000
£0
£400,000
£0
£400,000

2025/26
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

TOTAL
£714,963
£1,984,000
£1,800,000
£4,498,963
-£800,000
£3,698,963

41
CY
On-going Costs
Remote Access, Mobile Phones & Peripherals
Staff IT Costs
Total Ongoing Costs
On-going Savings
Rental Income
Commercial Opportunities
Building Operating Cost Reductions
Total On-going Savings
Net On-going Costs / Savings (-)
MTFS Savings Target by 2025/26

21.

£340,542
£113,706
£454,247
£0
£0
-£97,537
-£97,537
£356,710

2022/23
£86,650
£272,894
£359,543

2023/24
£127,716
£272,894
£400,609

2024/25
£188,335
£272,894
£461,228

2025/26
£69,877
£272,894
£342,771

-£170,000 -£600,000 -£780,000 -£1,380,000
-£50,000 -£100,000 -£100,000 -£100,000
-£366,000 -£486,000 -£561,000 -£561,000
-£586,000 -£1,186,000 -£1,441,000 -£2,041,000
-£226,457 -£785,391 -£979,772 -£1,698,229
-£1,695,000

Net savings over a 5 year period amount to £3.3m. The payback period for the
investment is currently 5.2 years. Further opportunities for financial savings exist
above and beyond those outlined including operational costs e.g. printing,
commercial income and business travel savings, and the ability to generate further
rental income beyond those included once the organisations ways of working are
embedded and space requirements are fully realised.

Governance
22.

The delivery of the financial benefits of the Programme are tracked and governed
under the ways of working programme governance structure overseen by the Ways
of Working Programme Board. This consists of senior officers across support
services chaired by the Assistant Director (Corporate Services). Key decisions,
outputs and updates are regularly shared, and consulted on by various relevant
groups including the Employee Committee, Trade Unions, and department
management teams.

Engagement
23.

There has been significant internal engagement with Council staff and managers
both before Covid-19 and during the pandemic and this has shaped the Programme
and its delivery.

24.

A cross party Members’ Working Party was established in 2020 which provided
input into the Council’s Covid response and recovery plans. This heavily shaped
the ways of working programme including supporting staff with working from home,
and the Council’s stance and communications in relation to the changing guidance
from central government throughout the COVID-19 pandemic.

Resource Implications
25.

The net cost of implementation of the Programme is projected to be £4m over 8
years which has been included within the MTFS on a spend to save basis.

26.

All resource requirements have been confirmed by the relevant services and the
above has been included and approved by the Director of Corporate Resources
through approval of the Programme.

42
Key Risks
27.

If Managers and staff do not adapt to and fully embrace new ways of working and
revert to old ways then we will struggle to deliver the benefits of the programme.
Significant investment in resourcing to deliver future office model and critical culture
change support will provide mitigation for this and enable savings to be delivered.

28.

Lack of interest in rental/partnership working may prevent space utilisation and
income generation outlined above. Income has been profiled based on degree of
confidence, and significant interest has been expressed to date giving confidence
this is achievable.

Timetable for Decisions
29.

The Programme will be monitored at officer level by the Ways of Working
Programme Board and by members through the Employment Committee as
appropriate. Delivery of the financial savings will also form part of the usual MTFS
monitoring reports presented to the Scrutiny Commission on a quarterly basis.

Equality and Human Rights Implications
30.

An EHRIA was completed in 2019, as well as a refreshed version during 2020 as
staff were working at home during the pandemic. A full EHRIA has been completed
for current office exits/change to staff base locations across 2 offices to date as part
of the programme – Pennine and Parkside.

31.

It is the intention to undertake a full EHRIA in line with changes made to each of our
main workplace/office locations.

Background papers
Report to the Employment Committee – Ways of Working Update – 2nd December 2021
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=212&MId=6349&Ver=4
Report to the County Council – Medium Term Financial Strategy 2022/23 – 2025/26 – 23rd
February 2022
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=6481&Ver=4
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None.
Officer(s) to Contact
Gordon McFarlane
Assistant Director – Corporate Services
Tel: 0116 305 6123
Email: Gordon.McFarlane@leics.gov.uk
David Scott
Transformation Change Lead
Tel: 0116 305 0178
Email: David.Scott@leics.gov.uk

43

Agenda Item 10

SCRUTINY COMMISSION – 9 MARCH 2022
2021/22 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY
MONITORING (PERIOD 10)
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
Purpose of the Report
1.

To provide members with an update on the 2021/22 revenue budget and capital
programme monitoring position as at the end of period 10 (the end of January).

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The 2021/22 revenue budget and the 2021/22 to 2024/25 capital programme were
approved by the County Council at its budget meeting on 17th February 2021 as part of
the Medium-Term Financial Strategy.

3.

The four-year capital programme was reviewed in July 2021 and an updated programme
approved by the Cabinet 17th September 2021.

Background
4.

The period 10 revenue budget monitoring exercise shows a net projected underspend of
£3.5m.

5.

The period 10 capital programme monitoring exercise shows a projected net slippage of
£22.2m compared with the updated 2021/22 budget.

6.

The monitoring information contained within this report is based on the pattern of revenue
and capital expenditure to the end of January 2022.

2021/22 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING – PERIOD 10
7.

The period 10 revenue budget monitoring exercise shows a net projected underspend of
£3.5m.

8.

A summary of the position is shown below and set out in more detail in Appendix A.

44

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING STATEMENT
FOR THE PERIOD : APRIL 2021 TO JANUARY 2022

Schools Budget – Schools and Early Years
Schools Budget – High Needs
Net Total
Children & Family Services (Other)
Adults & Communities
Public Health
Environment & Transport
Chief Executives
Corporate Resources
Capital Financing
Other Areas
Central grants/other income
Covid-19 budget
Contribution to budget equalisation earmarked fund
Contribution to General Fund
Total
Funding
Net Total

9.

Updated
Budget

Projected
Outturn

£000

£000

Difference
from Updated
Budget
£000
%

0
0
0

-2,800
10,920
8,120

-2,800
10,920
8,120

89,353
156,546
-1,323
83,793
12,458
34,622
21,500
12,612
-43,508
28,300
4,000
1,000
399,353

87,173
159,376
-1,323
80,453
12,598
35,602
22,550
13,412
-44,958
28,300
9,300
1,000
403,483

-2,180
2,830
0
-3,340
140
980
1,050
800
-1,450
0
5,300
0
4,130

-2.4
1.8
0.0
-4.0
1.1
2.8
4.9
6.3
3.3
0.0
132.5
0.0
1.0

-399,353

-406,983

-7,630

1.9

0

-3,500

-3,500

The key projected variances that have been identified are set out below. Further details
of major variances are provided in Appendix B.

Children and Family Services – Schools Budget
10. The Schools budget is forecast to overspend the grant received by a net £8.1m at the
end of 2021/22, mainly relating to the High Needs block (£10.9m) offset by an
underspend on the other Schools block from schools growth (£2.3m) and Early Years
funding (£0.5m).
11. Nationally, concern over the impact of Special Educational Needs and Disabilities
(SEND) reform on High Needs expenditure, and the financial difficulties this exposes
local authorities to, continues. The position in Leicestershire reflects the national picture.
The MTFS included £5.7m as the estimated in year overspend on the High Needs Block
of Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), The current forecast shows that this has increased to
£10.9m, an increase of £5.2m. The increase largely relates to an increased number of
placements including Independent School and Post-16 places at an additional cost of
£2.0m and non-achievement of planned savings of £1.9m.

45

12. By the end of 2021/22 the estimated accumulated High Needs deficit is forecast to be
£28m. A refresh of the High Needs Development Plan is underway and the Department
is investigating a number of actions that could reduce demand to slow the increase in
deficit with the ultimate aim of reducing it. Without new interventions the high needs
deficit is forecast to continue to increase over the MTFS period and is not financially
sustainable. This creates a significant and unresolved financial risk to the Council.
13. In respect of the underspend on the Schools block of £2.3m, this is funding which has
been earmarked to help meet the revenue costs associated with new schools and also
for meeting the costs of some funding protections for schools with falling rolls as a result
of age range change in other schools. The underspend will be transferred to the DSG
earmarked fund to fund pupil growth in future years.
14. The underspend position on the Early Years block (£0.5m) is based on the most recent
data from the Department for Education. The County Council is expecting a claw back of
DSG in this respect, but this should not happen until 2022/23. The projected balance will
be held in the DSG reserve and used to offset the clawback in the next financial year.
Children and Family Services – Local Authority Budget (Other)
15. The Local Authority budget is forecast to underspend by a net £2.2m (2.4%), mainly
relating to a projected underspend on the Children’s Social Care Placement budget
(£2.8m), based on current demand and activity, offset by an overspend due to pressures
within the social care workforce (£0.6m).
16. Looked after Children (LAC) in Care numbers increased by 8% last financial year to 705
as at 1st April 2021. The budget for 2021/22 had assumed a further 8% increase in LAC
numbers. However, LAC numbers for Leicestershire are expected to remain stable. One
of the key drivers behind this current positive position is the active work and outcomes
being achieved through the Defining Children and Family Services Programme which, as
a result, have allowed the department to over-achieve its MTFS savings targets for
2021/22. Such outcomes include reducing a number of LAC starts per year and more
specifically reducing the number of residential starts where it was seen the current level
of need of children in residential provision could be managed in alternative provision
types and sustained through SMARTER planning. The subsequent impact has seen
current placement numbers across various provision types at a lower level than budgeted
for, both within external fostering and residential provision types.
17. Further work is required over the coming months to establish how sustainable current
patterns and trends within Leicestershire’s LAC cohort are, and its subsequent financial
impact both in year and in future years. Current referrals into both Early Help and First
Response service areas have increased sharply, a scenario which was largely expected
post Covid-19. It is, however, uncertain at this stage how this demand will impact
Leicestershire’s LAC numbers but this will be kept under ongoing review.
18. The Defining Children and Family Services for the Future programme has a number of
workstreams to reduce the requirement for residential placements; reduce durations and

46

increase internal fostering capacity. As per the projected underspend across social care
placements, early signs show this is starting to make a positive impact. The Social Care
Investment programme working in partnership with Barnardo’s will also have an impact
through the creation of additional capacity for under 16’s, over 16’s and parent and
children places, which should be in place during 2022/23. With increasing demands
projected and a market shortage, further investments are planned subject to the
individual business cases and availability of suitable property and staff.
19. Social care fieldwork teams continue to remain under pressure with forecast spend
increasing to £0.6m above budget for the current year. Recruitment and retention of
qualified social work staff continues to be both a regional and national issue due to a
general shortage of social workers. Research shows that, on average, qualified social
workers do not remain in front line child protection work for more than 8 years and new
applicants for training have reduced this year by 6%. There is a growing pull of staff
moving to agency work for significantly inflated rates of pay resulting in pay competition
across neighbouring authorities.
20. Recruitment of newly qualified social work staff through assessment days has recently
been positive and work continues to establish Leicestershire as a chosen employer both
in terms of training and support as well as providing competitive pay through the use of
market premiums. Workloads are being balanced within the regions and additional staff
have been accounted for as growth in the 2022/23. All of these initiatives are intended to
have a positive impact to recruitment and retention, however the overall climate remains
challenging.
Adults and Communities
21. A net overspend of £2.8m (1.8%) is forecast for the revenue budget for 2021/22.
22. There is continuing significant financial impact due to Covid-19 on adult social care which
includes additional cost for commissioned services and loss of service user income. The
overall number of service users being supported across Residential Care, Homecare,
Supported Living, Cash Payments and Community Life Choices from January 2020
through to Aug 2021 have significantly increased. Typical growth in a year would be
approximately 1.5% per annum, however the current number of service users supported
shows an increase of 3.8%. There are early indications that overall numbers are starting
to decrease. Over the same time period the average cost per service user has also
increased, however these seem to be now stabilising.
23. The main areas with variances are:


Homecare overspend of £8.9m. The forecast reflects that both average package
costs and client numbers are significantly higher than budgeted. At the time of
preparing the budget, the hospital discharge to assess scheme was expected to
end on 31 March 2021. The scheme is now due to end on 31 March 2022, although
arrangements beyond this date are uncertain. Some of these costs are offset by
hospital discharge income in the region of £1.5m.

47

The discharge to assess scheme, along with placing less clients into residential
care services during the early stages of the pandemic, has been the main factor
behind the increase in the numbers of people receiving home care and the average
number of hours commissioned per client since March 2020.The discharge to
assess scheme for Covid-19 has meant a focus on lowering patient numbers in
hospital, which has reduced the involvement of social care prior to discharge.
Further work continues alongside Health in reviewing these practices As at the end
of December 2021 there were on average 2,250 home care clients with an average
package of £257 per week.


Residential Care overspend of £8.7m. Additional average cost of care packages
including transitions from Children’s services (£0.9m) and Covid-19/price costs
(£7.8m). Over the last 12 months there has been a significant increase in the
number of placements requiring a Supplementary Needs Allowance, short term bed
placements and price increases in addition to basic fee rates which has increased
the average cost of care. It is likely that these costs will be an ongoing issue and
work is being undertaken to understand the basis for these which could include
reduced occupancy. These are offset by NHS discharge income of £5.0m, reported
separately below.



Residential Care Income reduction £1.1m. As a result of Covid-19 the chargeable
number of residential service users has declined. In addition to this there is an
ongoing trend of lower residential service users from the Target Operating Model
(TOM) project is moving them into Homecare.



Supported Living (£5.7m) - high cost complex packages relating to a small number
of Transforming Care service users being discharged from hospital settings in the
community are expected to cost £3.5m. Along with increased hours being
commissioned over the Covid-19 period for the remaining service users £2.2m.
There is additional health funding in the region of £2.6m to support these costs,
reported separately below.



Community Income additional £4.9m - As a result of the shift of service users into
Non-Residential Services following Covid-19, the volume of chargeable service
users has increased compared to previous years. In addition, the review of NHS
Covid-19 funded service users has increased the number of chargeable service
users on the charging run. The income surplus is forecast to be £1.6m at this stage.
Health income is also forecast to overachieve by £3.3m overall.



Additional one of grant of £5m is to be received from the NHS to help support the
additional Covid costs and overall income from NHS Discharge Scheme £7.8m.

48

24. An action plan is in place which has been undertaking:





Reviews of all service users’ packages that have commenced or changed since
April 2020 commencing with Homecare which has reduced the overspend by
around £3m;
Working with NHS partners to help improve the discharge pathway including
reviewing funding arrangements;
Ensure financial and funding assessments are undertaken which has reduced the
potential loss of income by around £2m;
Reviewing internal processes.

25. However, the ongoing impact of Covid-19 on demand led commissioned services is
being validated and reviews of high cost packages will be undertaken. As the approach
to Covid-19 management changes nationally, the impact of these changes is being
monitored and continues to make accurate forecasting of demand for commissioned
services very challenging.
26. These costs are offset by a £2.9m underspend from staffing, overhead and other
budgets. There is also an additional Better Care Fund contribution agreed for the year of
£1m.
27. The following government grants relating to Covid-19 have been allocated in 2021/22;




Infection Control and Rapid Test Fund (£10.6m) - provides support to residential,
homecare and other providers that meet the strict grant conditions.
Workforce Recruitment and Retention Fund (£4.7m) providing support to residential,
homecare and other providers that meet the strict grant conditions.
Omicron Support Fund (£0.6m) - additional funds to support providers during
outbreak.

Public Health
28. The department is forecasting to be on budget. Within this position is a net underspend
of £1m which will be transferred to the Public Health earmarked reserve to offset
uncertainties on future grants.
Environment and Transport
29. A net underspend of £3.3m (4.0%) is forecast.
30. There are underspends on Transport budgets specifically SEN transport (£1.0m) and
Mainstream School Transport (£0.3m) due to reduced service demand and contract
suspensions as a result of Covid-19 and savings arising from service reviews. In addition,
underspends have arisen from the decision to make Concessionary travel reimbursement
at actual service levels as per Department for Transport guidance (£0.6m). The
commissioning of fewer routes has also led to a net underspend on Fleet Transport

49

(£0.4m).
31. Across Highways an underspend of £1.3m is anticipated, with HS2 underspending due to
Central Government delays (£0.2m) and increases in developer contributions from S38
and S184 infrastructure funding (£0.6m). Further underspends have arisen as a result of
increased operations on the network generating income from permitting and fines
(£0.6m) and increased income from recharges to the capital programme as a result of the
£2m contribution to roads maintenance programme, see below. This is offset by
increased reactive and environmental maintenance works to prevent network
deterioration (£0.7m).
32. There is a forecast net underspend of £1.9m on Waste budgets. This relates mainly to
continuing market price rises generating increased income for recycling, scrap metal and
dry recyclable materials (£1.6m). Additional income from trade waste is also projected
(£0.2m) together with lower composting tonnages (£0.2m). These underspends are
partially offset by additional waste tonnages going to landfill (net £0.4m). The balance
relates to vacancies across the service.
33. Due to the improving overall net revenue position for the County Council for the current
financial year, £2m of the department’s underspend has been redirected toward roads
maintenance funding.
Chief Executive’s
34. The Department is forecasting a net overspend of £0.1m (1.1%) which is mainly related
to additional costs of the Coroners Service (£0.4m) and work supporting Covid recovery
in the Communities Team. These costs are partly offset by staffing vacancies across the
department of £0.2m and savings on the LGA subscription of £50,000.
Corporate Resources
35. Overall the Department is forecasting a net overspend of £1.0m (2.8%).
36. There is a £2.3m forecast overspend on Commercial Services primarily related to the
continuation of difficult trading conditions and losses of income due to continuing Covid19 restrictions. Key examples are the continued delays to opening Beaumanor Hall
(£0.5m), lower volumes in the School Food Service and reduced scope for development
activity. Mitigating action has been taken in the form of furloughing staff and accessing
the Government’s sales, fees and charges grant funding scheme but both are available
to a much lesser extent this year.
37. There is a forecast underspend of £0.7m on Information and Technology, mainly relating
to not fully utilising all of the funds allocated for Microsoft Teams licensing and the
Contact Centre, and also from vacant posts and reduced printing expenditure.

Central Items

50

38. Capital Financing - £1.1m increased contribution to the capital programme. This relates
to the use of additional proceeds from the 2019/20 (75%) Business Rates Pilot becoming
available in 2021/22 (see below). The additional funds will be used to support the capital
programme and reduce the overall funding required.
39. Central Expenditure/ Grants - £1.7m underspend. Mainly relating to additional interest
income forecast from the financial returns of the £20m the Council invested in Private
Debt, through the Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) programme. These
investments have started to be repaid resulting in the investment and interest returns
having been received. In addition, recent increases in the Bank of England interest rate
has resulted in higher investment returns on balances invested than previously forecast.
40. Contribution to the budget equalisation earmarked reserve - £5.3m overspend. The
forecast contribution has been increased by £5.3m to match the forecast increase in the
DSG High Needs deficit mentioned earlier in the report. This is needed due to the
cashflow impact of the additional expenditure. The overspend continues to be accounted
for against the grant with the expectation that it will ultimately be repaid.
41. The inflation contingency is currently projected to be overspent by £1m. The main reason
for this is that the latest offer from the Local Government Employers for the 2021/22 pay
award would exceed the original MTFS assumption.
Business Rates
42. Additional Business Rates income of £2.6m is forecast in 2021/22, based on the latest
information from NNDR1 forms and forecast section 31 grants. Of this £1.1m relates to
the balance arising from the 2019/20 (75%) Business Rates Pilot, which will be used to
provide additional funds for the capital programme.
43. The provisional outturn position of the 2020/21 Leicester and Leicestershire Business
Rates Pool shows a total retention of £9.5m. The final position was expected to be
reported in December 2021, after the completion of the external audits; however, the
audit process has been prolonged at some of the Districts and final figures may not be
known until April. Monitoring of the 2021/22 Pool is being undertaken, with the second
exercise for quarter two showing a projected retention of around £10.5m.
Council Tax
44. The 2021/22 revenue budget included a provision of £9m for the potential impact of
Covid-19 on levels of council tax (and business rates) funding. The position has improved
compared to the original forecasts, but it is not possible to accurately assess the levels of
reductions in the funding streams, particularly as Government funding for furlough only
ended on 30 September 2021 and similarly some sectors will receive business rates
relief until 31 March 2022. The full impacts of unemployment and business closures are
likely to be seen over the remaining months of this financial year and in 2022/23.

51

However, £5m of the provision has been released at this stage as it looks unlikely that
the full provision will be required for this purpose.
Overall Revenue Summary
45. Overall, a net underspend of £3.5m is forecast. At this stage potential uses of the
underspend include:
•
investment in transformation activity to support delivery of MTFS savings;
•
reducing the capital shortfall in the 2022-26 proposed MTFS, £143m borrowing
included.
•
Supplementing the inflation contingency

CAPITAL PROGRAMME
46. The updated capital programme for 2021/22 totals £118.5m. This follows a review of the
programme undertaken in July 2021 and approved by the Cabinet in September 2021.
47. The latest forecast on the capital programme for 2021/22 shows an overall net variance
of £22.2m. A summary is shown in Appendix C with details of the major variances
provided in Appendix D. The main variances are reported below:
Children and Family Services
48. Overall net variance of £7.0m:


Provision of Additional School Places - £4.8m slippage due mainly to:
-

-

-

-

-

Rothley Phase 2 - slippage of £1.5m. Site issues leading to planning problems,
with permission being repeatedly pushed back. The developer's planning
application included both the new school building, plus outline permission for
up to 80 additional dwellings. However, the planning application was refused,
citing issues with the settlement boundary, the lack of demonstration of a
housing need, and being contrary to the Local Plan amongst the various
reasons for refusal. The scheme has now received planning approval in
principle.
Ashby School Places - slippage of £1.0m. In addition to the age range change,
Ivanhoe has recently joined an Academy Trust, which has brought with it
changes in key stakeholders at the school.
Lutterworth Primary School - slippage of £0.9m. The scheme has been delayed
due to higher than expected quotes being received by the school and a funding
agreement being put in place.
Melton John Fernley School - slippage of £0.7m. There have been numerous
design changes requested, which along with procurement framework issues
has resulted in significant delays.
Castle Donington Community College - slippage of £0.6m. Issues in securing
planning permission for the project has delayed the start date.

52



SEND Programme - £1.4m slippage. Time spent on schemes that were ultimately
deemed unfeasible has delayed progress in this area. One scheme is awaiting
Regional Schools Commissioner consent - this is unlikely to be granted until the end
of February.



Assessment & Residential Multi-functional properties - £0.8m in year slippage due
to the lack of suitable properties in the market post last year’s stamp duty holiday
and an offer that fell through as the restrictive covenants in the deeds making it
unsuitable for the required purpose. The refurbishment and compliance costs of
getting the properties ready have also been impacted by the current national climate
of rising builder costs and materials and consequently phase 1 is now projected to
cost £2.7m against a budget of £2.5m. The additional costs will be contained within
the overall C&FS capital programme.

Adults & Communities
49. The department is forecasting overall net slippage of £0.1m.



SCIP Loughborough - Ashby Court Refurbishment, £0.2m. Overspend forecasted
with a budget increase requested from the SCIP Board. This could be funded from
the 2022/23 SCIP allocation.
Hamilton Court/Smith Crescent - NWL Development, £0.2m. Cabinet agreed that a
short breaks facility was no longer required on this site therefore no further
development is expected in 2021/22.

Environment and Transport
50. The department is forecasting net overall net slippage of £14.5m. The main variances
are:








Melton Mowbray Distributor Road, North and East Sections - £5.3m. Slippage due
to contractors reducing planned work on the advanced work package to minimise
the financial risk to the County Council of completing work before the full business
case is agreed with DfT. Increased slippage as the forecast and programme are
being aligned, also less work is expected to be completed by external contractors.
Hinckley Hub (Hawley Road) – NPIF, £3.3m. Slippage due to delays relating to
Covid-19 restrictions and then waiting to commence the works after the Christmas
period to minimise traffic flow concerns. The evaluation of tenders also taking longer
than anticipated resulting in a delay in signing the construction contract.
Melton Distributor Road - Southern Section - £1.8m Slippage due to the signing of
the legal agreement terms for funding from Homes England taking longer than
expected. The agreement has now been signed.
Safety Schemes - £0.8m Slippage due to impact from Covid-19 delaying schemes.
Vehicle Replacement Programme - £0.7m slippage due to lead in time for purchase
of vehicles and ongoing work for business case for green vehicles.

53









Transport Asset Management – Capital Maintenance Schemes, £0.7m. Slippage of
£0.4m due to design fees on major projects being less than anticipated and due to
works on footways schemes due to risks built into the programme that may not be
quantifiable until next financial year. Underspend of £0.3m due to over accruals
from prior year.
Recycling House Waste Sites - General Improvements - £0.6m slippage. Due to a
better understanding for lead in times for procuring mobile plant and slippage of
additional money provided by Highways to Environment and Waste during the
pandemic.
Advanced Design / Match Funding – slippage of £0.5m. Due to delays in
procurement of services on Cycling and Walking Strategy and public consultation
not commencing until next financial year, and a lack of funding availability to
progress works on the Desford Crossroad project. Also delays on the design guide
programme caused by more review work being required.
Kibworth Site Redevelopment - £0.5m slippage of programme due to a more
accurate estimation of the value of works that can be completed during the current
year.

Chief Executives
51. The department is forecasting an overall net underspend of £0.2m due to a reduction in
the financial commitment required for the Broadband Phase 3 contract.
Corporate Resources
52. The department is forecasting overall to be on budget. The main variances within this
position are:








Workplace Strategy - end user device (PC, laptop) - £0.7m. Acceleration due to a
revised business case and a more ambitious plan in the wake of Covid-19.
Overspend of £0.1m relating to 50 high powered laptops which had been expected
to form part of a programme in the future, however, these are required earlier than
anticipated.
Climate Change - public sector decarbonisation scheme, £0.2m. Overspend due to
compensation event for the thermal store for County Hall.
Ways of Working – property - £0.2m. Acceleration due to revision of business case
and a more ambitious plan in the wake of Covid 19.
Climate Change - score + (schools energy efficiency scheme) - £0.6m slippage due
to consideration of the type of leases used and also whether it is still viable for the
County Council to undertake the works in light of the greater potential for grant
funding. This is under review.
County Hall Lift Replacement Scheme - £0.2m. Slippage due to a review of
procurement routes no suitable option has been identified and so to ensure
appropriate use of funds the project will commence next financial year once a new
framework is in place. This is the most suitable option to ensure due diligence by
both procurement and Legal ensuring contracts will be evaluated for compliance.

54



Climate Change - Electric Vehicle Car Charge Points - £0.2m. Slippage due to a
lack of staffing resource delaying the ongoing works with E & T Department.

Corporate Programme
53. An overall net variance of £0.4m is forecast. The main areas relate to:



Industrial Properties Estate - General Improvements, £0.2m slippage as projects not
come forward due to lower than expected lease turnover, resulting in fewer
refurbishment/upgrade projects.
CAIF – M69 Junction 2 Strategic Development, £0.1m slippage as a result of
workstreams relating to the project slowing down and delays associated with the
emerging local plan.

54. The Corporate Programme includes the repayment of £0.5m Homes England Local
Authority Accelerated Construction grant received in 2020/21. This was an initial payment
of a total grant available of £8.1m to contribute to building new Homes in the Lutterworth
area. Planning delays have meant that the County Council is unable to meet the grant
deadlines of 31st March 2022. Acceptance of the grant would have also placed
restrictions on the title of the land and include future grant repayment liabilities. By
withdrawing from the agreement, the first phases of the development will now be free of
these onerous conditions. Based on latest estimates the potential market value of the
land would increase by an equivalent amount, c£8m.
Capital Receipts
55. The requirement for capital receipts for 2021/22 is £2.8m. The latest forecast of receipts
is in line with the requirement.
Recommendation
56. The Scrutiny Commission is asked to note the contents of this report.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None.
Officers to Contact
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources,
Corporate Resources Department,
Tel: 0116 305 6199 E-mail: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
Declan Keegan, Assistant Director (Finance, Strategic Property and Commissioning)
Corporate Resources Department,
Tel: 0116 305 7668 Email: declan.keegan@leics.gov.uk

55

Appendices
Appendix A:
Appendix B:
Appendix C:
Appendix D:

Revenue Position as at Period 10, 2021/22
Revenue budget major variances
Capital Programme Monitoring Statement
Capital Programme – Forecast Main Variances and Changes in Funding

This page is intentionally left blank

57
APPENDIX A
REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING STATEMENT 2021/22
(AS AT PERIOD 10)
Updated
Budget

Projected
Outturn

£000

£000

78,046
35,855
-113,901
0

75,776
35,325
-113,901
-2,800

-2,270
-530
0
-2,800
-6,415
-9,215

-2.9
-1.5
0.0

82,605
-82,605
0

93,525
-82,605
10,920

10,920
0
10,920
17,512
28,432

13.2
0.0

89,353
156,546
-1,323
83,793
12,458
34,622
-2,285
8,000
28,300
3,848
413,312

87,173
159,376
-1,323
80,453
12,598
35,602
-2,285
8,000
28,300
4,848
412,742

-2,180
2,830
0
-3,340
140
980
0
0
0
1,000
-570

-2.4
1.8
n/a
-4.0
1.1
2.8
0.0
0.0
0.0
26.0
-0.1

GREEN
AMBER
GREEN
GREEN
AMBER
RED
GREEN
GREEN
GREEN
RED

Central Items
Financing of Capital
19,000
Revenue funding of capital
2,500
Revenue funding of capital - use of BR Pilot gain (see below)
Central Expenditure
3,049
Central Grants and Other Income
-43,508
Total Central Items
-18,959

19,000
2,500
1,050
2,849
-44,958
-19,559

0
0
1,050
-200
-1,450
-600

0.0
0.0
n/a
-6.6
3.3
3.2

GREEN
GREEN
GREEN
GREEN
GREEN

Contribution to budget equalisation earmarked fund
Contribution to General Fund
Total Spending

4,000
1,000
399,353

9,300
1,000
403,483

5,300
0
4,130

132.5
0.0
1.0

RED
GREEN

-40,346
-24,181
-4,900
1,574
-336,934
-3,566
9,000
-399,353

-40,346
-25,491
-5,170
-1,050
1,574
-336,934
-3,566
4,000
-406,983

0
-1,310
-270
-1,050
0
0
0
-5,000
-7,630

0.0
5.4
5.5
n/a
0.0
0.0
0.0
-55.6
1.9

GREEN
GREEN
GREEN
GREEN
GREEN
GREEN
GREEN
GREEN

0

-3,500

-3,500

Schools Budget
Schools
Early Years
DSG Funding
Earmarked fund - start of year
Earmarked fund - end of year
High Needs
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)
Earmarked fund - start of year
Earmarked fund - end of year
LA Budget
Children & Family Services (Other)
Adults & Communities
Public Health *
Environment & Transport
Chief Executives
Corporate Resources
DSG (Central Dept. recharges)
MTFS risks contingency
Covid-19 budget
Contingency for Inflation
Total Services

Funding
Business Rates - Top Up
Business Rates Baseline / retained
S31 Grants - Business Rates
Business Rates - balance of 19/20 Pilot gain
Council Tax Collection Funds - net deficit
Council Tax Precept
LCTS grant
Provision for impact of Covid-19 on funding
Total Funding
Net Total
* Public Health funded by Grant (£25.5m)
Underspending / on budget
Overspending of 2% or less
Overspending of more than 2%

GREEN
AMBER
RED

Difference
from Updated
Budget
£000
%

This page is intentionally left blank

59
APPENDIX B
Revenue Budget 2021/22 – forecast main variances (Period 10)
Children and Family Services
Dedicated Schools Grant
A net overspend of £8.1m is forecast. The main variances are:
£000
DSG High Needs Block (HNB) earmarked fund drawdown
5,650
The DSG budget includes an estimated HNB drawdown of £5.7m as the forecast in year overspend.

% of
Budget
n/a

Special Educational Needs
6,170
8%
Increased demand on the budget. The SEND Capital Programme is developing new resource bases with the
aim of reducing the reliance on expensive independent sector places. During 2019/20 and 2020/21 a number of
these bases welcomed their first cohort of students, with more places filled during the 2021/22 academic year.
The increase in demand, however, has resulted in these places being filled with new demand as opposed to
having the desired impact on existing numbers. Due to set-up costs the full effect of the programme will not be
seen until future years. Additionally, the numbers of pupils in mainstream settings that receive top-up funding is
rising rapidly.
DSG Income
-415
1%
Increase in 2021/22 High Needs DSG announced after budget setting.
Education of Children with Medical Needs
-210
-38%
This area includes a budget for a number of high needs placements, which has not been fully utilised to date in
2021/22.
High Needs Block Development
-180
-17%
A number of posts budgeted for within the HNB Development Plan will not been filled for the full financial year.
Early Years SEN Inclusion
-65
-7%
This area has carried a number of vacancies at various points throughout the financial year, resulting in a
forecast staffing underspend.
Schools Growth / Budget Allocations
-2,220
n/a
This funding has been earmarked to help meet the revenue costs associated with new schools and also for
meeting the costs of some funding protection for schools with falling rolls as a result of age range change in
other schools. The underspend will be transferred to the DSG earmarked fund to fund pupil growth in future
years.
Early Years / Nursery Education Funding
-530
-1%
Based on the Autumn 2021 data, the hours paid to providers are expected to be less than the number of hours
currently assumed in the Dedicated Schools Grant. The DfE has recalculated the 2021/22 DSG to allow for the
Summer 2021 and Autumn 2021 census, this is a change from previous years where the whole adjustment was
made in the next financial year. There will still be an adjustment in the next financial year based on the spring
2022 census. The early years balance will go into the DSG reserve and cover any further reduction in grant
following the spring term census.
Other variances
TOTAL

-80

n/a

8,120

n/a

Local Authority Budget
The Local authority budget is forecast to underspend by £2.2m (2.4%). The main variances are:
% of
Budget
Children's Social Care Fieldwork and Safeguarding Services
640
3%
On a whole whilst good progress has been made in regards to the various recruitment and retention activities
across the department, there are currently still isolated issues within certain social care localities. In some
localities it has become increasingly difficult recruiting and retaining experienced Social Workers, Senior
Practitioners and Team Managers. The prolonged period of instability has led to higher caseloads and use of
agency staff; this has further impacted on retention of experienced staff.
£000

60
Children's Social Care Placements inclusive of Asylum Seekers
-2,780
-7%
Looked after Children in Care (LAC) numbers increased by 8% last financial year to 705 as at 1st April 2021.
The budget for 2021/22 had assumed a further 8% increase in LAC numbers. However, currently LAC numbers
for Leicestershire stand at 686 and are not projected to increase above the position as at April 2021 by the end
of the financial year. One of the key drivers behind this current positive position is the current active work and
outcomes being achieved through the Defining Children and Family Services Programme, which as a result
have allowed the department to over-achieve in regards to its MTFS savings targets for 2021/22. Such
outcomes include reducing the number of LAC starts per year and more specifically reducing the number of
residential starts where it was seen the current level of need of children in residential provision could be
managed in alternative provision types and sustained through SMARTER planning. The subsequent impact has
seen current placements numbers across various provision types at a lower level than budgeted for, both within
external fostering and residential provision types.
Other variances
TOTAL

-40
-2,180

n/a
n/a

£000

% of
Budget

9,840

15%

Adults & Communities
The Department has a net forecast overspend of £2.8m (1.8%). The main variances are:

Residential Care and Nursing

The net forecast overspend arises from additional service users costs mainly due to Covid-19 of £7.8m,
transitions costs from children's services of £0.9m, and loss of Income as a result of Covid-19 due to the decline
in the chargeable number of service users of £1.1m. These additional costs will be offset by anticipated
additional income in the region of (£5.0m) from the NHS discharge Covid-19 fund (see separate variance
below). There are currently an average of 2,350 service users with an average gross care package cost of £850
per week .
Homecare
8,910
41%
The budget is based on an average weekly cost of £213 per Service User (SU) and 1,950 SU per week on
average. The budget was prepared assuming that client numbers and average hours per client would return to
pre Covid-19 levels by April 2021, both having increased due to the hospital discharge scheme. However, this
reduction has not occurred as the discharge scheme is now continuing. At the start of the year there were 2,310
service users. An Action Plan has been implemented which has reduced the overspend through prioritising the
reviews of packages for home care clients and improved commissioning practices. Health partners have been
advised that the current levels of commissioning are unsustainable for LCC. The average weekly cost for
2021/22 is forecast to be £257 and the average number of SU over the year is forecast to be 2,250. The costs
are also offset by £1.5m of income from Health for home care packages funded from the discharge scheme.
Supported Living Commissioned Services
5,665
28%
There are approximately 390 service users with an average weekly cost of £1,300 with some significant new
high cost users, £5.3m . Additional Health Funding (£2.6m, reported separately) is linked to these users and
overall approximately 66 users attract health funding. In addition prior year arrears of £0.4m and voids of £0.1m
are being forecast. There will be further growth of new service users from Residential Care to Supported Living
through the Target Operating Model (TOM) project/MH Accommodation moves. Increased package costs are
also being incurred because of CLC bases being closed and additional support being commissioned for
Supported Living service users.
Direct Cash Payments
270
1%
A small overspend is mainly due to being unable to recover some cash payments that have been made.
Care Pathway - Older Adults/Mental Health Countywide Team
145
3%
Overspend is mainly due to additional costs for independent Best Interest Assessors for Deprivation of Liberties
(DOLs) and other work.
NHS Discharge Income
-12,810
n/a
Income received from the Discharge Process Grant £7.8m and a one off additional grant £5m to support other
additional Covid-19 costs.

61
Community Income
-4,930
-23%
As a result of the shift of service users into Non-Residential Services following Covid-19, the volume of
chargeable service users has increased compared to previous years. In addition the review of NHS Covid-19
funded service users has increased the number of chargeable service users on the charging run. The income
surplus is forecast to be £1.6m at this stage.
Health income is forecast to overachieve by £3.3m overall. New Supported Living clients have increased income
by £2.9m, largely offsetting the additional expenditure incurred for these clients. New Learning Disability Pool
direct payments service users have generated £0.8m of additional income. Offsetting these are home care
recharges under Help to Live At Home (HTLAH), and income from the Non Weight Bearing pathway for home
care, which in total is £0.4m below budget. These two areas are likely to be due to new service users receiving
funding instead from the hospital discharge scheme.
Better Care Fund (BCF) contribution
-980
-5%
Additional BCF funding was agreed during the year for social care protection and other schemes.
Community Life Choices (CLC) / Day Services Team
-810
-33%
Underspend from closure of Community Life Choices (CLC) bases following lockdown and the vacancies that
are being held.
Community Life Choices (CLC) commissioned services
-600
-10%
Underspend following lockdown and the closure of CLC bases within the independent sector and service users
either receiving no service or a vastly reduced service. Discussions are ongoing on a potential new CLC
framework.
Supported Living, Residential and Short Breaks
-445
-9%
Underspend from closure of Residential and Short Break bases following lockdown and the vacancies that are
being held pending an action plan.
Care Pathway - Learning Disabilities- Working Age Adults Team
-315
-10%
Underspend due to staffing vacancies.
Business Support
Underspend due to staffing vacancies pending an Action Plan.

-200

-11%

Community Care Finance
Underspend due to staffing vacancies.

-190

-16%

Care Pathway - Older Adults/Mental Health - Working Age Adult Team
Underspend due to staffing vacancies.
Care Pathway - Learning Disabilities- Countywide Team
Underspend due to staffing vacancies.

-175

-7%

-130

-18%

Direct Services Review
Underspend on furniture and maintenance budgets
Care Pathway - Learning Disabilities- Working Age Adults Team
Underspend due to staffing vacancies.

-130

-64%

-125

-18%

Shared Lives -Community Life Choices (CLC) commissioned services
Underspend on Shared Days due to lower number of service users and carers.

-125

-24%

Care Pathway - Older Adults/Mental Health - Heads of Service & Lead
Practitioners

-125

-63%

90
2,830

n/a
n/a

Underspend due to staffing vacancies.
Other variances (under £100k)
TOTAL

Public Health
The Department has a projected £1m net underspend, which will be contributed to the Public Health
earmarked reserve, resulting in a forecast net nil position.
% of
Budget
Public Health Earmarked Reserve
n/a
1,045
Net underspend on Public Health budgets offset by a contribution to the Public Health earmarked reserve.
Uncertainties on future grants.
£000

62
-15%
Sexual Health
-595
Significant underspend mainly on Out of Area Genito/Urinary Medicine (£290k), GP Clinic Based Services
(£131k) and the Sexual Health Services contract (£115k) due to the impact of Covid-19 on activity based
services.
-68%
NHS Health Check Programme
-340
The underspend is a result of the significant drop in these services provided and reclaimed by GPs due to the
impact of Covid-19.
Other variances
TOTAL

-110
0

n/a
n/a

Environment and Transport
The Department is forecasting a net underspend of £3.3m (4.0%). The main variances are:
% of
Budget
-48%
Highways & Transport Operations Services - Staffing & Admin
950
£2m revenue contribution to capital to support the patching budget. Offset by £0.6m over recovery of income on
Highways Network Management, £0.2m underspend resulting from previous inflation claim and variances due to
capital income over recovery after the £2m contribution and vacancies across the service area.
£000

8%
Landfill
720
Overspend due to:
- £35k due to more trade waste
- £130k due to additional tonnes arising to landfill (related to Covid-19)
- £460k increased tonnage from Mechanical Biological Treatment (MBT) contract
- £90k due to an under reserve at 2020/21 year-end
The forecast is subject to the ongoing improvements in the Covid-19 situation and any further lockdowns could
increase waste volumes to landfill.
25%
Reactive Maintenance
485
Unbudgeted maintenance spend on cattle grids, kerbs conservation, specialist fencing items, the Wymeswold
bank collapsing and costs for traffic management.
13%
Social Care External
275
Profile spend shows an increase in costs from September due to a rise in demand for children’s social care
transport. There is also the ongoing impact of Covid with more solo taxi transport journeys being commissioned
by ASC for vulnerable adults and less users being placed on a fleet vehicle to achieve social distancing. As a
result, several ASC Fleet vehicles have been decommissioned and replaced with more taxis. A review of this is
required but the outcome of the ASC review of Day Service provision is awaited that will impact on the future
demand for ASC transport. This has led to an overspend on taxi services, but an underspend on social care
Fleet.
4%
Environmental Maintenance
190
Overspend due to an increase in gulley emptying and increase spend on drainage repairs based on current
commitments and schedules, slightly offset by a reduction in forestry works due to capacity issues as a result of
vacancies.
14%
Environment & Waste commissioning - Initiatives
115
No draw down from the waste reserve, causing an overspend, which is slightly offset by small underspends on
low applicants for waste grants.
Dry Recycling
-1,240
Underspend due to an improved forecast on paper and card recyclable prices. Increased tonnages are
anticipated. However, this is offset by increased material income.

-56%

63
-7%
SEN External
-1,005
Underspend forecast partly due to unspent £500k temporary Covid budget growth in final term of 2020/21
academic year. Some contracts were paused / cancelled as a result of pupil isolation due to Covid and therefore
costs were lower.
£250k of underspend due to over-reserve at 2020/21 year-end. Actual costs relating to January - March 2021
were lower than anticipated due to over-estimation of costs during lockdown period (fewer SEN contracts ran
due to Covid).
Covid-19 continues to impact spending in 2021/22 with some contracts suspended due to Covid-related pupil
absences.
Service review work undertaken during summer 2021 has also helped to reduce costs. Better value is being
achieved from Passenger Fleet by allocating more high need / high cost pupils onto Fleet vehicles.
-12%
Concessionary Travel
-625
Underspend due to the decision that concessionary travel reimbursements will be made based on actual bus
service levels rather than purely at pre Covid-19 levels. Under DfT guidance local authorities are permitted to
reduce payments to operators where operating mileage falls below 100% of pre-Covid levels.
-79%
H & T Network Staffing & Administration
-600
Underspend due to additional S38 & S184 infrastructure income as developers were increasing rates of
development as lockdowns eased (Broadnock coming online could increase things further). In addition there are
a number of vacant posts in Flood Alleviation and Traffic and Signals contributing to the underspend.
n/a
Passenger Fleet
-430
Forecast underspend due to ongoing reduced demand for Fleet services due to Covid-19, particularly Adult
Social Care services. This has led to some Fleet routes being decommissioned and a large number of vacancies
for drivers and escorts. Future demand for ASC services and traded work is difficult to predict and depends on
service users' appetite to resume shared transport.
Haulage & Waste Transfer
Forecast underspend due to more direct deliveries to landfill.

-295

-14%

-8%
Mainstream School Transport
-280
Underspend forecast due to savings achieved by review of bus and taxi contracts during summer 2021, plus
additional £213k income received from DfE for the Extended Rights to Home to School Travel Grant.
-8%
Recycling & Household Waste
-280
Underspends on higher recyclable income, staffing underspends and agreed compensation payment from
contractor slightly offset by overspend on Barwell security.
-48%
Departmental Costs
-220
Bad debt provision was created in 2020/21 for accident repair claim due to uncertainty regarding return of funds.
Agreement has been reached in 2021/22 that £197k of this debt will be repaid. This has therefore led to an
underspend, alongside a reduction in Occupational Health Referral costs.
15%
Waste Management - Income
-220
Underspend forecast due to additional income from trade waste.
-49%
HS2
-200
Underspend due to work not progressing at anticipated speed as there has been a delay to government
announcements in respect of the approval of the Hybrid Bill. Best estimate now assuming that the Hybrid Bill will
not happen until 2022/23, and many consultant costs will not be incurred this financial year.
-11%
Composting Contracts
-180
Underspend forecast on composting due to lower tonnages and gate fees.
-3%
Highways & Transport Operations Resourcing - Staffing & Admin
-125
Underspend due to vacant posts.
n/a
Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) Funding
-105
Sustained higher levels on scrap metal prices has resulted in additional net income.
-9%
Environment & Waste Management Commissioning - Staffing & Admin
-115
Underspend due to vacant posts currently not filled in the Projects and Resources and the Environment Policy
and Strategy team.
n/a
Other variances
-155
TOTAL
-3,340
n/a

64
Chief Executive's
The Department is forecast to be overspent by £0.1m (1.1%). The main variances are:
% of
Budget
Coroners
380
35%
There has been a significant increase in the costs charged as well as an increase in the number of cases. The
Assistant Coroners are undertaking more casework resulting in additional staffing costs.
Freeport
0 n/a
The Freeport costs will initially be funded from LCC reserves (cash flowed) but will be offset by retained
business rates generated once Freeport goes live. Cash flowing is at risk if designation doesn’t actually happen
but currently this risk looks low. Forecast expenditure of £336k in 2021/22, to be funded from corporate
earmarked reserves.
£000

Legal Services
Variance largely due to anticipated shortfall in income.
Policy and Communities
Overspend due to impact of job share during pandemic/recovery phase.
Democratic Services and Administration
Variance due to staff vacancies and reduced travelling expenses.
Trading Standards
Underspend due to staff vacancies.
Economic Growth
Underspend due to staff vacancies.

80

3%

60

3%

-140

-10%

-120

-7%

-75

-11%

Registrars
-55
56%
Income levels are forecast to be higher based on current activity and the departure of the Service Manager has
reduced staffing costs.
Other variances
10
n/a
TOTAL
140
n/a
Corporate Resources
The Department is forecasting a net overspend of £1.0m (2.8%). The main variances are:
% of
Budget
Commercial Services (Commercialism, LTS Property and Country Parks)
2,285
n/a
Overspend due to difficult trading conditions, as a result of restrictions related to Covid-19 including the most
recent Omicron variant. Losses have been mitigated through the use of furlough (£0.25m) and Sales, Fees and
Charges (SFC) claims (£0.27m)
£000

Audit and Insurance
185
8%
Forecast overspend predominantly driven by increased insurance premium costs, reflecting trends in the wider
market environment.
Building Maintenance
60
3%
Maintenance pressures on sites within the corporate estates partially related to Covid-19 have caused an
overspend on the central maintenance fund.
Information & Technology
-715
-7%
Underspend due to a reduction in print costs, which is likely to materialise in full given the impact of the Omicron
variant on returning to the office.
The MS teams rollout has now begun, but was delayed due to other crucial projects such as Ways of Working,
leading to an underspend.
Vacancies across the service also contribute to the forecast underspend.
Communications & Digital Services
-245
-24%
Underspend driven by the use of COMF (Contain Outbreak Management Funding). This funding, provided by
central government, is being used to offset eligible expenditure incurred to help prevent Covid-19 outbreaks in
Leicestershire.
Operational Property
Staff vacancies held unfilled ahead of staff structure reviews.

-155

-8%

65
Learning & Development
-125
-9%
Underspend caused by two main reasons - cost reductions in staffing (reduction in FTE & Maternity Leave) and
departments not releasing staff to satisfy commitments to required training.
Building Running Costs
Lower premises costs at various sites due to lower occupancy as a result of the pandemic.
Customer Services

-90

3%

-75

-3%

Higher than expected attrition rates, coupled with the challenges of backfilling vacant roles and a reduction in
staffing costs.
CAIF
0
0%
Greater than anticipated income generated throughout the financial year (forecast £230k), to be transferred to
earmarked reserve.
Other variances
TOTAL

-145
980

n/a
n/a

Central Items - Central Expenditure budgets
These budgets are forecast to have a net underspend of £0.2m.
% of
Budget
Financial Arrangements - ESPO surplus
-110
n/a
2020/21 share of surplus is higher than accrued for in 2020/21 accounts and 2021/22 latest forecast exceeds
amount budgeted for.
Financial Arrangements - Enterprise Zone business rates income
-70
n/a
Income received relating to the Enterprise Zones in Charnwood and Hinckley & Bosworth.
Other variances
-20
n/a
TOTAL
-200
n/a
£000

This page is intentionally left blank

67
APPENDIX C
CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING STATEMENT (PERIOD 10)

Children & Family Services*

Revised
Capital
Programme
2021/22

Changes in
Funding
2021/22

Updated
Budget
2021/22

Forecast

Updated
Budget v
Forecast
Variance

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

38,611

170

38,781

31,804

-6,977

Adults and Communities

5,194

0

5,194

5,140

-54

Environment & Transport

57,294

3,864

61,158

46,614

-14,544

Chief Executive’s

2,289

0

2,289

2,094

-195

Corporate Resources

8,527

103

8,630

8,627

-3

Corporate Programme

2,929

-500

2,429

2,026

-403

114,844

3,637

118,481

96,305

-22,176

Total

*Excludes Schools Devolved Formula Capital

This page is intentionally left blank

69
APPENDIX D
Capital Budget 2021/22 – forecast main variances
Children and Family Services
Net slippage of £7.0m is forecast compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:
£000
Provision of Additional Primary Places
-4,801
1) Rothley Phase 2 - Slippage of £1.5m. Issues with the site has caused planning problems, with permission being
repeatedly pushed back. The developer's planning application included both the new school building, plus outline
permission for up to 80 additional dwellings. However, Charnwood Borough Council subsequently refused the
planning application, citing issues with the settlement boundary, the lack of demonstration of a housing need, and
being contrary to the Charnwood Local Plan amongst the various reasons for refusal. Although the scheme has now
received planning approval in principle, the decision notice has not yet been issued as the Section 106 agreement is
not complete.
2) Ashby School Places - slippage of £1.0m. Delays have been encountered both at Ivanhoe's end and LCC end. In
addition to the age range change, Ivanhoe has recently joined an Academy Trust, which has brought with it changes
in key stakeholders at the school. The resultant draft payment schedule indicates that only 50% of the funding will
be passported by year-end.
3) Lutterworth Primary - slippage of £0.9m. The scheme has been delayed due to higher than expected quotes being
received by the school and a funding agreement being put in place. The agreement has now been completed and
sent to the Academy Trust for signing. Upon signing the funding can begin to be passported to the school. The
scheme is still forecast to deliver places in time for the 22/23 academic year.
4) Melton, John Fernley - slippage of £0.7m. This S106 funded substantial project creates 8 new classrooms, science
lab, food technology, expended library, offices and outdoor eating space. There have been numerous design
changes requested, which along with procurement framework issues has resulted in significant delays.
5) Castle Donington Community College - slippage of £0.6m. Issues with planning permission for the project has
delayed the start date.
6) Coalville Places, Newbridge School - slippage of £0.4m Delays have been encountered both at Newbridge's end
and LCC end. The resultant draft payment schedule indicates that only part of the 21/22 funding will be passported
by year-end.
7). Anstey Martin School - acceleration of £0.8m. This S106 funded passported scheme forms part of the 22/23
programme. However, it is now envisaged that the works can be completed by year-end.
8) Syston St Peters & St Pauls - underspend of £0.3m. The final contract sum for the scheme was lower than
expected.
SEND Programme
-1,376
1) New/Expansion of Special School Places - slippage of £1.1m. Time spent on schemes that were ultimately
deemed unfeasible has delayed progress in this area. The reduction of available funding has resulted in the School
Place Planning Team needing to revisit plans and priorities regarding options to address imminent need for places.
One scheme to expand one of the existing special schools has been agreed in principle. This is awaiting Regional
Schools Commissioner consent - as this is unlikely to be granted until the end of February only minimal costs will be
incurred in 21/22.
2) SEMH School - slippage of £0.2m. The timeframe for these works is linked to the progress of the 'Shepshed
Masterplan' - a complex scheme which creates additional primary places in Shepshed, and ultimately physical space
for the creation of this SEMH school. Due to delays to the Masterplan, demolition works for this scheme have slipped
until April as the DfE are not taking transfer until later in the year.
Assessment & Resi Multi-functional Properties x 4
-800
The availability of suitable properties in the buoyant property market has caused further delays to this scheme. One
property that LCC had had an offer accepted on fell through due to restrictive covenants in the deeds rendering it
unsuitable for the required purpose.
Other variances
TOTAL

0
-6,977

Adults & Communities
Net slippage £0.1m is forecast compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:
£000
Hamilton Court/Smith Crescent - NWL Development
-240
Cabinet agreed that a short breaks facility was no longer required on this site therefore no further development is
expected in 2021/22. A decision is required by Cabinet on the re-allocation of these monies.

70
SCIP Loughborough - Ashby Court - Refurbishment
238
Overspend forecasted with a budget increase requested from the SCIP Board. This could be accelerated from the
2022/23 SCIP allocation.
SCIP Specialist Dementia Facility - Coalville
-50
Slippage on this scheme due to estimated construction costs post pandemic being higher than initially budgeted. It is
expected that the scheme will be reviewed and a re-assessment of the costs from external surveyors will be sought.
Other variances
TOTAL

-2
-54

Environment and Transport
Net slippage of £14.5m is forecast compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:
£000
A511 Major Road Network (MRN)
Acceleration on programme relating to design work to quantify the costs of the project.

383

Melton Mowbray Distributor Road - North and East Sections
-5,253
Slippage due to contractors reducing planned work on the advanced work package to minimise the financial risk to
LCC of completing work before Full Business Case is agreed with DFT. Increased slippage as the forecast and
programme are being aligned also less work is expected to be completed by external contractors.
Hinckley Hub (Hawley Road) - NPIF
-3,338
Slippage due to delays relating to Covid 19 restriction and then waiting to commence the works after the Christmas
period to minimise traffic flow concerns. The evaluation of tenders taking longer than anticipated meaning a delay in
signing the construction contract.
Melton Distributor Road - Southern Section
-1,778
Slippage due to the signing of the legal agreements terms for funding from Homes England taking longer than
expected and thus the work was been delayed until the agreement was signed. The agreement has now been
signed.
Safety Schemes

-832

Slippage due to impact from Covid 19 stalling the programme in addition the programme is suffering with a
resourcing issue.
Vehicle replacement programme

-700

Slippage of programme due to lead in time for purchase of vehicles and ongoing work for business case for green
vehicles.
TAM - Capital Maintenance Schemes

-677

Slippage of £0.4m due to design fees on major projects being less than anticipated and works on footway schemes
due to risks built into the programme that may not be quantifiable until next financial year. Underspend of £0.3m due
to over accruals from prior year, estimations were completed for final settlements but the costs were less than
expected.
Recycling House Waste Sites - General Improvements

-633

Slippage due to the lead in time to secure mobile plant being longer than previously anticipated. In addition there is
slippage relating to some additional money provided by highways to waste during lockdown.
Advanced Design / Match Funding

-549

Slippage due to delays in procurement of services on Cycling and Walking Strategy and public consultation not
commencing until next financial year, a lack of funding availability to progress works on the Desford Crossroad
project. Also delays on the design guide programme caused by more review work being required.
Kibworth Site Redevelopment

-500

Slippage due to a more accurate estimation of value of works completed during the 2021/22 financial year.
TAM - Traffic Signal Renewal
Slippage due to additional funding from the DFT provided during 2021/22 to be spent by March 2023, schemes
currently being investigated

-252

TAM - Flood Alleviation - Environmental Works
-187
Slippage due to programme taking longer to design than anticipated and so works can not commence until 22/23.

71
Other variances
TOTAL

-228
-14,544

72
Chief Executives
Net underspend of £0.2m is forecast compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:
£000
Rural Broadband Scheme - Phase 3
-195
The Broadband Phase 3 contract was amended by Change Request 1 and the net effect was a reduction in the
financial commitment. De-scoped and re-scoped a number of properties based on contract activity to date.
Other variances
TOTAL

0
-195

Corporate Resources
Net variance of net nil is forecast compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:
£000
Workplace Strategy - End User Device (PC, laptop)
742
Acceleration of £0.6m due to revision of business case and a more ambitious plan in the wake of Covid-19.
Overspend of £0.1m relating to 50 high powered laptops which had been expected to form part of a programme in
the future, however, these are required earlier than anticipated.
Climate Change - Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme
209
Overspend due to compensation event of £0.2m for the thermal store for County Hall due to services under the
concrete slab, there is also oil contamination. The programme was delayed because of an issue with the location of
the thermal store being changed and planning permission needing resubmitting.
Ways of Working - Property
Acceleration due to revision of business case and a more ambitious plan in the wake of Covid 19.
Climate Change - Score + (Schools Energy Efficiency Scheme)
Slippage has been due to consideration of the operating / finance lease and also whether it is viable for LCC to
undertake the works. This is under review.

157
-593

County Hall Lift Replacement Scheme
-160
Slippage due to a review of procurement routes no suitable option has been identified and so to ensure appropriate
use of funds the project will commence next financial year once a new framework is in place. This is the most
suitable option to ensure due diligence by both procurement and Legal ensuring contracts will be evaluated for
compliance.
Climate Change - Electric Vehicle Car Charge Points
Slippage due to a lack of staffing resource delaying the ongoing works with E & T.

-150

Romulus Court - IT Environmental monitoring
-85
Slippage due to a review of procurement routes no suitable option has been identified and so to ensure appropriate
use of funds the project will commence next financial year once a new framework is in place. This is the most
suitable option to ensure due diligence by both procurement and Legal ensuring contracts will be evaluated for
compliance.
Other variances
TOTAL

-123
-3

Corporate Programme
Net slippage of £0.4m is forecast compared with the updated budget. The main variances are:
£000
70

CAIF - Airfield Business Park - Phase 3-4
Completion of Airfield Farm phase 2, acceleration from future years asset acquisitions funding.
CAIF - Industrial Properties Estate - General Improvements
-223
Slippage as projects not come forward due to lower than expected lease turnover, resulting in fewer
refurbishment/upgrade projects.
CAIF - M69 J2 Strategic Development Site
-100
Slippage as a result of workstreams relating to the project slowing down and delays associated with the emerging
local plan.
CAIF - Lutterworth East - Planning and Pre-Highway construction Works
-96
Slippage due to delay in obtaining planning permission less work than anticipated is being undertaken in this financial
year.
Other variances
-54
TOTAL
-403

73

74
Capital Programme - Changes in Funding
2021/22 Budget Adjustments
Children & Families
Provision of School Places - from Section 106 developer contributions
Environment and Transport
TAM Restorative Patching - revenue contribution
TAM Preventative Maintenance - revenue contribution
Externally Funded Schemes - from Section 106 developer contributions
TAM Traffic Signal Renewal - funding from Department for Transport
TAM Flood Alleviation - various income
M1 J23 - Section 106 contributions
M1 J23 - virement from adv design
Adv Design virement - to M1J23
Ashby Canal - from earmarked fund
Plant Renewals - from earmarked fund
Cycleways - cancellation of funding
Corporate Resources
Tree Planting Programme - funded from Forestry Commission Grant
Snibston Country Park - funding from British Cycling
Corporate Programme
CAIF - County Farms Estate General Improvements - transfer to CAIF reserve for Firs Farm
Overall Total

169

1,802
198
292
250
105
777
617
-617
379
82
-21

65
38

-500
3,636

75

Agenda Item 11

SCRUTINY COMMISSION – 9 MARCH 2022
OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION ON THE STRATEGIC PLAN
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to inform the Scrutiny Commission of the feedback
received during public consultation on the draft Strategic Plan (2022-26) and to
seek its views on the revised Plan which is appended to this report.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

Delivery of the Strategic Plan is enabled by the Medium Term Financial Strategy
(MTFS) which sets out a financial plan supporting the aims in the Plan and by the
Strategic Change Portfolio which outlines how the Council will transform operational
service delivery to maintain or improve outcomes. The Plan is underpinned by all
other Council strategies, Departmental Business Plans and Service/Team Plans
which provide further detail on how the Council will deliver the Plan.

3.

On 6 December 2017, the County Council approved the Strategic Plan (2018-22).
On 8 July 2020, the County Council approved a revised version of that Plan which
reflected the Council’s declaration of a climate emergency. On 26 October 2021,
the Cabinet approved the draft Strategic Plan (2022-26) for public consultation.

Background
4.

The Strategic Plan sets out the Council’s long-term vision for Leicestershire and its
priorities over a four-year period. It is a key strategy which shapes how the Council
plans and delivers services. The current Plan (2018-22) is due to expire in April
2022 which has led to the development of a revised Plan covering 2022-26.

Public Consultation
5.

The Cabinet, at its meeting on 26 October 2021, approved a 12-week public
consultation on the draft Strategic Plan to run from 1 November 2021 to 21 January
2022. The consultation period was subsequently extended to 18 February 2022 to
enable further direct engagement with County Council officers and members.

6.

The consultation sought the views of a wide variety of stakeholders including
residents, community groups and partners. It consisted of a public survey which
received 259 responses, in addition to direct engagement of the Council’s Scrutiny
Committees, the Scrutiny Commission and key partnership boards including the
Health and Wellbeing Board, Children and Families Partnership Board and

76
Educational Excellence Partnership Strategic Board. There was also engagement
with community groups and partners including Leicestershire Equality Challenge
Group, the Council’s Youth CYCle groups and town and parish councils (via two
briefing sessions facilitated by Leicestershire & Rutland Association of Local
Councils). Additionally, there was engagement of Council staff groups such as the
BAME Network and LGBT Network in addition to 3 staff briefings which used an
interactive presentation to obtain the views of over 200 officers. The consultation
was promoted to all residents, partners and community groups through various
channels including e-mails, social media and articles in Leicestershire Matters.
Format and Structure
7.

The Plan summarises the Council’s vision for Leicestershire through five strategic
outcomes and a single line vision statement. The outcomes represent long-term
aspirations for Leicestershire which may not be achieved in full during the four-year
course of the Strategic Plan. Therefore, the Plan also includes specific aims for the
Council to achieve from 2022-26 in order to progress towards each outcome. It
also sets out the key actions which the Council will deliver to achieve these aims.

8.

During consultation, there was a view that the Plan was too long and that detail
about the Council’s actions could be set out separately. Some also commented
that whilst the Plan identified what success would look like, it did not adequately
quantify this or set a benchmark against which performance could be measured.

9.

In addition, some stated that the Plan included aspirations which were outside the
Council’s control. Recognising that the Council often has a broader role as a
partner, enabler and facilitator, it was suggested that the Plan should more clearly
differentiate between those aspirations for which the Council would have lead
responsibility, and those where it would have a contributing/partnership role;
specifying which partners it would work with to deliver the actions in the Plan.
Some also challenged the lack of reference to district and borough councils.

10.

Response to this feedback:





The length of the Plan has been reduced by cutting down on unnecessary
text and merging or removing aims and actions where appropriate. Further,
images have been added to improve the visual appeal of the document.
Quantitative targets tend to be established through annual service planning
processes and supporting strategies, as this allows for the targets to reflect
current service capacity and pressures. However, quantitative targets have
now been added for some aims in the Plan such as those around CO2
emissions and the supporting families programme. Additionally, to provide
greater clarity on what the Council is aiming to achieve by 2026, the Plan
also now includes, under ‘how we will measure success’, the key
performance indicators which will be monitored to identify if each aim is
being achieved. Finally, it should be noted that each sub-outcome in the Plan
includes a summary of current performance, which can be used as a
benchmark against which to measure future progress.
The Plan refers to the need for the Council to ‘work with partners’ to deliver
certain actions and now includes a definition (in the glossary) of ‘partners’. It
also now refers to collaboration with specific partners, such as district
councils, to deliver specific actions. Further, the Plan highlights effective

77
collaboration with district councils. For example, the introduction to the ‘Great
Communities’ outcome sets out the Council’s desire to build upon successful
partnerships, such as work with district councils during the Covid-19
pandemic, to establish community hubs to support vulnerable people.
Vision
11.

There was a high level of support for the Council’s vision. Of the 259 public survey
respondents, 79% agreed with the outcomes, with 42% strongly agreeing.
Similarly, 79% agreed with the vision statement, with 39% strongly agreeing. Only
10% disagreed. There was particularly strong support for the following outcomes:




12.

‘Improving Opportunities’: 88% agreed, of which 58% strongly agreed
‘Clean, Green Future’: 83% agreed, of which 54% strongly agreed
‘Keeping People Safe and Well’: 83% agreed, of which 56% strongly agreed

However, there was less, albeit still substantial, support for the following outcomes:



‘Great Communities’: 76% agreed, of which 44% strongly agreed
‘Strong Economy, Transport and Infrastructure’: 68% agreed, of which 34%
strongly agreed (notably 17% disagreed, with 6% strongly disagreeing)

Chart 1: The extent to which public survey respondents agreed or disagreed with each outcome

13.

As will be shown below, it appears that the primary reasons for the lower level of
support for the ‘Strong Economy, Transport and Infrastructure’ outcome were
concerns that housing development would have a negative impact on the
environment and may not be accompanied by necessary infrastructure (e.g.
schools, health facilities and public transport networks).

14.

Whilst there was significant support for the vision statement (particularly the
references to inclusivity, greener living and healthy communities), some stated that
it did not add value, as the vision was already summarised by the five outcomes.

78
15.

Response to this feedback:



See relevant sub-sections below for response on specific outcomes.
Removed the single-line vision statement

Clean, Green Future
16.

The ‘Clean, Green Future’ outcome aims for the environment to be protected and to
tackle climate change, biodiversity loss and unsustainable resource usage. There
was a high level of support for this outcome, as well as for the specific aims which
the Council intended to achieve by 2026 to progress towards it. Over 90% of survey
respondents rated each of the aims as either ‘fairly important’ or ‘very important’.

17.

There were, however, concerns that the outcome may not be compatible with the
Council’s aims to support housing and infrastructure development.
Other requests included:







18.

Enable and promote sustainable transport
Attract ‘green’ / environmentally-friendly businesses
Educate residents on climate change
Reduce the volume of waste produced locally
Work with farmers to tackle climate change
Remove reference to installation of new gas boilers

Response to this feedback:











Outcome name revised to ‘Clean and Green’ to ensure consistency following
changes to the names of other outcomes (set out in sub-sections below).
The Introduction / Foreword now acknowledges the challenges involved in
supporting economic growth whilst achieving a ‘Clean and Green’ future for
Leicestershire and highlights how the Council intends to achieve this.
Further actions have been added to sub-outcomes 4.1 (community action to
tackle climate change), 4.4 (low carbon economy) and 7.2 (sustainable
infrastructure) to show how the Council will enable and promote cycling and
walking through enhanced infrastructure, cycle information and training, as
well as and work with partners to improve bus and rail services.
An action has been added to sub-outcome 4.4 (low carbon economy) to work
with partners to enhance the capacity of SMEs to supply low-carbon
products and services, expand links between businesses and universities to
enhance low-carbon research and development and develop a central
integrated hub for demonstration of low-carbon technology.
The Plan includes an action (sub-outcome 4.1) to raise environmental
awareness amongst communities and businesses to promote positive action.
The Plan now includes under sub-outcome 4.3 (sustainable resource usage)
actions to reduce the volume of waste produced in Leicestershire, including
supporting the national Love Food Hate Waste campaign, delivering food
waste prevention classes and providing a SHIRE Environment Grant scheme
to enable communities to conduct their own waste prevention activities.
The Plan includes an action under sub-outcome 4.2 (nature) to support
sustainable farming practices which maintain and enhance biodiversity.

79



Removed the reference under sub-outcome 4.1 (community action to tackle
climate change) to installing new gas boilers through Warm Homes. The
action is now to support people to be more efficient in energy and water use.
Further detail on how the Council will deliver the actions above will be set out
in relevant supporting strategies such as the Council’s Environment Strategy.

Great Communities
19.

The ‘Great Communities' outcome aims for inclusive communities in which people
support each other and participate in service design and delivery. Whilst most
agreed with the outcome, there was varied support for the Council’s aims by 2026.

20.

There was significant support for the aims to:





21.

Ensure Council services are accessible and inclusive
Support the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) sector
Increase community cohesion and tackling hate crime
Increase the % of residents who feel they can influence Council decisions

However, there was less support for the aims to:





Increase engagement in cultural and heritage activities
Sustain the increase in volunteering seen during the pandemic
Increase the number of Neighbourhood Plans adopted
Increase the number of active Community Response Plans

22.

Similarly, during the 3 staff briefings on the draft revised Strategic Plan, the aim
around cultural and heritage activities was consistently seen as the least important.

23.

Feedback suggested that the aim to sustain a high rate of volunteering was
perceived by some to indicate the Council attempting to shift its responsibilities onto
unpaid volunteers. Some requested that the Plan highlight the role of Councillors in
enabling residents to influence Council decisions. There was also a view that the
action under sub-outcome 5.2 (public participation) to support town and parish
councils indicated insufficient acknowledgement of ‘non-parished’ areas.

24.

Response to this feedback:






A sentence has been added under sub-outcome 5.4 (volunteering) to clarify
that the Council aims to support volunteering opportunities and activity as it
recognises the significant contribution which volunteers make in delivering
wider community benefit beyond the Council’s direct service provision.
Revised wording of the aim for a ‘sustained increase in volunteering postpandemic’ to read ‘There is a wide variety of volunteering opportunities and
activity across Council services’. This reflects feedback that the aims should
be more focused on areas over which the Council has direct control.
The aim under sub-outcome 5.2 (public participation) to ‘increase the number
of Neighbourhood Plans adopted’ has been removed, as feedback suggests
that this was not seen as important, and it was challenged on the basis that it
is not a County Council function. The Plan still, however, includes an action
for the Council to support development of Neighbourhood Plans as this helps

80





to achieve the aim of ‘increasing the proportion of residents who feel they
can influence Council decisions’.
The Plan now refers in sub-outcome 5.2 (public participation) to the role of
County Councillors in representing the needs and interests of residents.
However, it sets out the Council’s desire to improve how it engages with
residents in service design and delivery so that more residents feel they can
influence Council decisions.
The actions in sub-outcome 5.2 (public participation) show how the Council
intends to engage all residents in service design and delivery – not just those
from areas with a Town or Parish Council. To further emphasise this, the
action to support town and parish councils in their roles as providers of
community-managed services and community leaders has been expanded to
include supporting the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE)
sector, which covers both ‘parished’ and ‘non-parished’ areas.

Improving Opportunities
25.

The ‘Improving Opportunities’ outcome aims for every child to get the best start for
life with access to a good quality education and for everyone to have the
opportunities they need to fulfil their potential. It was the most popular outcome,
with each of the Council’s aims to deliver it rated as either fairly or very important by
over 90% of survey respondents, and over 60% rating each aim as ‘very important’.

26.

However, some suggested that the outcome may not be achievable due to
reductions in youth and education services. There was also a view that to deliver
the outcome mainstream schools would need more resources to support children
with special educational needs who have an Education, Health and Care Plan.

27.

Although the emphasis on children and families was welcomed, there was a view
that the outcome should also focus on supporting young people and adults to
access education and employment opportunities.

28.

Other requests included:






29.

Promote alternative career paths to university (e.g. vocational routes)
Highlight the role of libraries (e.g. reading sessions for children)
Add more detail on how families will be supported to be self-sufficient
Revise targets around post-16 outcomes to be more ambitious
Revise outcome name to ‘Improved Opportunities’ to support consistency

Response to this feedback:






The name of the outcome has been revised to ‘Improved Opportunities’.
The Council’s aims to progress towards this outcome by 2026 are
considered realistic and attainable, despite funding pressures.
The Plan highlights the Council’s intention for most children with special
educational needs (SEND) to have their needs met in a mainstream school
setting at the lower level of support (SEN Support). It also includes an action
to help ensure mainstream schools have the resources to promote inclusion.
Sub-outcome 6.4, ‘everyone is able to aim high and reach their full potential’,
has been revised to read ‘young people and adults are able to aim high and

81








reach their full potential’ to reflect that it is focused on ensuring people can
access education and employment from age 16 onwards.
The Council is keen to promote youth pathways into employment including
academic and vocational routes. The Plan includes under sub-outcome 6.4
actions to ensure young people receive individualised careers guidance and
can access alternative education providers if formal education is not suitable.
There are also actions under sub-outcome 7.1 (skills) to help improve further
education facilities and promote apprenticeships. An action has been added
to this sub-outcome to ‘be a delivery partner with the European Social Fund
Employment Hub (until 2023) which promotes apprenticeship opportunities to
businesses’. Additionally, an action has been added to sub-outcome 6.4
(post-16 outcomes) to work with partners through the Local Enterprise
Partnership to support the Enterprise Adviser Network which inspires and
prepares young people for the world of work, by linking business/employer
volunteers (Enterprise Advisers) with schools and colleges.
The aims to progress towards sub-outcome 6.4 (post-16 outcomes) by 2026
have been revised to be more ambitious. They now aim for Leicestershire to
be in the best performing 25% of counties for the rate of young people who
are not in education, employment or training (NEET), to remain in the best
performing 25% of counties for the percentage of people with learning
disabilities who in paid employment and the percentage who are living
independently. The sub-outcome also includes an aim for the percentages of
people in contact with secondary mental health services who are in paid
employment / living independently to be above the national average – this is
because Leicestershire performs below the national average in this area
currently, so it is considered realistic and achievable (i.e. not too ambitious)
to aim for above the national average in this specific area by 2026
The Plan now includes under sub-outcomes 6.1 (early years) and 7.1 (skills)
actions to provide learning opportunities through libraries and adult learning.
The Plan sets out under sub-outcome 6.3 (family resilience) how the Council
will support families to be resilient and self-sufficient. This includes providing
information and advice, supporting families in a crisis, early identification and
prevention and assisting families who decide to educate their child at home.

Strong Economy, Transport and Infrastructure
30.

The ‘Strong Economy, Transport and Infrastructure’ outcome aspires for
Leicestershire to have a productive, inclusive and sustainable economy and
infrastructure which meets the demands of a growing population and economy.

31.

As outlined previously, it was consistently the least popular of the 5 outcomes.
Public survey feedback considered the aim around housing development to be the
least important, with 42% respondents describing it as either not at all important
(23%) or not very important (19%). During both the public survey and the 3 County
Council staff briefings on the Plan, this aim was consistently rated as the least
important of all aims in the Plan.

32.

There was also relatively low support for the aims to support Research and
Development (R&D), increase the number of businesses in Leicestershire and
ensure there are sufficient employment sites for growth. However, there was a high
level of support for increasing labour market opportunities for young people,

82
addressing skills shortages, supporting inclusive economic growth, and ensuring
infrastructure supports growth and net zero emissions.
33.

It seems that the aim to support housing development was least popular due to
concerns that it would undermine delivery of a ‘Clean and Green’ future in
Leicestershire due to the building of new houses in greenfield areas. This led some
to request clarification on which is a greater priority to the Council between ‘green’
and ‘growth’. There were also concerns that new houses may not be supported by
necessary infrastructure (e.g. schools, health facilities and public transport).

34.

There was also a frequent theme around the need to better enable and promote
sustainable transport, such as cycling and walking as well as affordable and
frequent buses and trains. It was suggested that achieving the aims for this
outcome would require investment in this area to avoid excessive congestion.

35.

Other requests included:






36.

Highlight the role of libraries in supporting skills and employment
Clarify how the Council will support green technologies
Build networks between schools and employers to address skills gaps
Encourage businesses to commit to more apprenticeships
Focus less on supporting logistics sector and more on growth sectors

Response to this feedback:











Removed the sub-outcome around housing, with the key actions to support
housing development shown instead to support the infrastructure suboutcome (7.2). This reflects the low popularity of the aims around housing, as
well as the fact that the planning of housing is a district council responsibility
rather than the County Council. Further, listing the actions to support housing
provision in the sub-outcome around infrastructure highlights that the Council
considers the wider infrastructure requirements of housing developments.
Removed the aim ‘sufficient employment sites and premises for growth’
The Introduction / Foreword now acknowledges the challenges involved in
supporting economic growth whilst achieving a ‘Clean and Green’ future for
Leicestershire and highlights how the Council intends to achieve this.
Actions have been added to sub-outcome 7.2 (infrastructure) for the Council
to enable and promote cycling and walking through enhanced infrastructure
and to deliver a Bus Service Improvement Plan as well as work with
Midlands Connect to improve passenger rail services.
Sub-outcome 7.1 (skills) highlights the role of libraries in supporting skills.
Sub-outcome 4.4 (low carbon economy) includes an action to work with
partners to develop the training and skills routes required for zero carbon
development. It also includes a new action to work with partners to enhance
the capacity of SMEs to supply low-carbon products and services, expand
links between businesses and universities to enhance low-carbon research
and development and develop a hub to demonstrate low-carbon technology
Sub-outcome 7.1 (skills) includes an action to provide information, advice
and guidance on the labour market to parents, teachers and young people –
this may help to build networks between schools and businesses. This suboutcome also includes an action to help develop an Apprenticeship Action

83



Plan which will help increase apprenticeship opportunities in the county. A
further action has been added to sub-outcome 6.4 (post-16 outcomes) for the
Council to work with partners through the Local Enterprise Partnership to
support the Enterprise Adviser Network which inspires and prepares young
people for the world of work, by linking business/ employer volunteers
(Enterprise Advisers) with local schools and colleges.
Logistics and manufacturing are key economic sectors in Leicestershire. The
Council aims to support these sectors and other growth sectors such as life
sciences, low carbon technologies, creative industries and aerospace.

Keeping People Safe and Well
37.

The ‘Keeping People Safe and Well’ outcome aims for the people of Leicestershire
to be safe and protected from harm and to have the opportunities and support they
need to take control of their health and wellbeing.

38.

There was a high level of support for this outcome and for all the Council’s aims to
progress towards it by 2026, with over 90% public survey respondents agreeing
with each aim and the majority ‘strongly agreeing’. There was significant support for
each aim, particularly those focused on community safety, vulnerable people,
mental wellbeing, unpaid carers and care experiences. The aim with the least
support was for more residents to be a healthy weight.

39.

Some questioned the level of influence which the County Council has over areas
such as crime levels, preventing young people from engaging in criminal activity
and increasing the proportion of residents with a healthy weight. It was highlighted
that achieving these aims would require partnership-working with other public
agencies such as the NHS, Police and district councils and that the aim around
healthy weight would rely on individuals taking responsibility for their own wellbeing.

40.

There was also a view that the Plan should outline how the Council is intending to
support road safety, such as through education and highway design. Further, some
requested clarification on how the Council would address substance misuse.
Additionally, there was a request to highlight how the Council would promote
access to green space in order to support its aims around wellbeing.

41.

Other requests included:








42.

Revise outcome name to ‘Safe and Well’ for consistency
Involve unpaid carers in service design and support them to make their views
known by advocating for them
Highlight how sustainable transport supports wellbeing
Invest in the training of the social care workforce
Refer to tackling scammers and fraud
Strengthen reference to meeting accommodation needs of frail and/or
disabled people; and making properties accessible during development
Increase reference to usage of assistive digital technology

Response to this feedback:
 Outcome name revised to ‘Safe and Well’ – note this change also led to the
‘Clean, Green Future’ outcome being re-named to ‘Clean and Green’

84

















Highlighted the specific partner agencies which the Council will need to work
with to deliver the aims for this outcome and removed the aim for ‘less crime
and fear of crime’, recognising that this is a Police responsibility. This aim is
now instead focused on ensuring more residents feel safe in their local area.
Actions added to sub-outcome 8.1 (community safety) to support road safety
such as delivering the Safety Camera Scheme, Driver Education Workshops,
Community Speed Enforcement and develop a Road Safety Strategy
An action has been added to sub-outcome 8.3 (public health / wellbeing) to
‘Deliver our Substance Misuse Strategy (2020-23) to support people to make
informed healthy lifestyle choices to reduce the harm caused by alcohol and
drug misuse and improve their wellbeing’.
An action has been added to sub-outcome 8.3 (public health / wellbeing) to
‘Ensure that residential planning applications by the County Council for its
land enable public access to green space, and support district and borough
councils to develop plans to improve public access to green space’. Also
added under ‘how we will measure success’ is a new performance indicator
showing levels of public access to green space.
An action under sub-outcome 8.4 (care experiences) has been revised to
‘Provide opportunities for carers to inform and shape service development’.
Highlighted in sub-outcome 8.3 (public health / wellbeing) that we are living
in an obesogenic environment, with an abundance of energy dense food,
motorised transport and sedentary lifestyles. Added that there is a need to
work with partners to improve the healthy weight environment such as by
promoting sustainable/active travel, reducing the number of fast food outlets
and providing people with skills and resources to cook and eat healthily
A further action has been added to sub-outcome 8.4 (care experiences) for
the Council to ‘Recruit and train an appropriately skilled and resilient social
care workforce, whilst inspiring more people to work in the sector and
improving job satisfaction through rewarding careers and opportunities’
Sub-outcome 8.1 (community safety) includes actions to work with partners
to raise awareness of and tackle scammers and rogue traders who exploit
vulnerable consumers and to enforce food and product safety standards
Sub-outcome 7.2 (infrastructure) now highlights that the number of older
people living in Leicestershire is forecast to increase significantly and that
this will necessitate the development of housing which is accessible for those
who are frail and/or disabled. It also includes a revised action to deliver our
Social Care Investment Plan to secure suitable accommodation choices for
social care service users, including those who are frail and/or disabled.
Sub-outcome 8.4 (care experiences) includes an action to ‘provide effective
crisis response, reablement services, equipment, and technology to enable
people to be self-reliant’ and a new action has been added to ‘work with
partners to develop an outcomes-led technology service which provides
carers and/or those with care needs with the right technology and guides
people to technology which can enable them to live independently for longer’

Strategic Change Portfolio
43.

The Strategic Plan also includes a section on the Council’s internal transformation
programme, the Strategic Change Portfolio. This outlines the purpose, aims and
actions of the ‘four pillars’ of this programme: Sustainable Finances, Carbon
Reduction, Customer and Digital and Ways of Working.

85
44.

During the consultation, there was a concern raised by the Leicestershire Equality
Challenge Group (LECG) and others that increased adoption of digital services
through the Customer and Digital Programme may lead to ‘digital exclusion’
whereby some people are unable to access services due to lack of digital
technology and/or digital skills. It was suggested that this could exacerbate social
and economic inequalities. There was a request to reflect how the Council will
support digital participation for all and to include actions to ensure everyone can
access reliable broadband and learn how to use digital technology.

45.

Response to this feedback:


Increased adoption of digital services through the Customer and Digital
Programme is about making the online customer journeys easy to use so
that services are easier to access. Sub-section 9.2 of the Plan (the Customer
and Digital Programme) includes an action to understand and mitigate the
impact of digitalisation and channel development on groups with protected
characteristics. A new action has been added to ensure services are
accessible through multiple channels (e.g. mediated digital access,
telephone support and face-to-face channels) so that no groups are
excluded. A further action has been added to develop a community-based
programme to support residents to learn how to use digital technology.



The Strategic Plan also highlights under sub-outcome 7.2 (infrastructure) the
‘digital divide’ caused by differential access to reliable broadband. There is
an action to work with partners through the Local Enterprise Partnership to
improve broadband, Wi- Fi and 5G connectivity across Leicestershire and
define and implement the Council’s first digital connectivity strategy.

Performance Management
46.

The Council’s progress and performance in delivering this Plan will be monitored by
officer Outcome Boards, which will provide six-monthly highlight reports to
Corporate Management Team summarising key achievements, challenges and
priorities. Overview and Scrutiny Committees will receive quarterly updates on
performance for the areas they cover. Scrutiny Commission will receive the Annual
Performance Report and regular finance monitoring reports. Outcome Boards will
also ensure all Council strategies align with and support the aims of their outcomes.

Timetable for Decisions
47.

The Strategic Plan will be considered for approval by the Cabinet at its meeting on
29 April 2022 and then by the County Council at its meeting on 18 May 2022.

Resource Implications
48.

Actions in the plan are drawn from existing Council strategies and business plans.
As such, there should not be any additional investment required to deliver it with the
exception of officer resources required to monitor delivery of the Plan and ensure
that the outcomes are supported by all Council plans and strategies.

86
Conclusions
49.

This report has been presented to the Commission for consideration of the revised
Strategic Plan (2022-2026) in light of the consultation feedback received before
consideration of the final draft by the Cabinet at its meeting on 29 March 2022.

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
50.

None

Equality and Human Rights Implications
51.

A screening assessment of the Strategic Plan concluded that a full impact
assessment is not required. The Strategic Plan is a high-level document which
reflects the content of existing Council plans and strategies in order to set out a
clear summary of the Council’s overall ambitions and delivery approach; it does not
include new actions which could have Equality and Human Rights Implications.

52.

The Plan will, however, have a positive impact as it promotes Equality and Human
Rights, primarily by including, within the section on the ‘Great Communities’
outcome specific aims and actions to deliver sub-outcome 5.1: ‘diversity is
celebrated, and people feel welcome and included’.

Other Relevant Impact Assessments
Crime and Disorder Implications
53.

There are no direct crime and disorder implications arising from this report.
However, the Plan promotes community safety by including aims and actions to
deliver sub-outcomes 8.1 ‘people are safe in their daily lives’ and 8.2 ‘people at the
most risk are protected from harm’ of the ‘Safe and Well’ outcome.
Environmental Implications

54.

The Plan raises the profile of environmental issues by including, within the section
on the ‘Clean and Green’ outcome, aims and actions to protect the environment and
tackle climate change. The Council’s aims to ensure infrastructure supports net
zero carbon emissions are also reflected in the section on the ‘Strong Economy,
Transport and Infrastructure’ outcome (see sub-outcome 7.2).

Officers to Contact
Tom Purnell, Assistant Chief Executive
Tel: 0116 305 7019
Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
Ashley Epps, Senior Policy Officer
Tel: 0116 305 0527
Email: Ashley.epps@leics.gov.uk
Appendix
Draft Leicestershire County Council’s Strategic Plan (2022-26)

87

Strategic Plan
2022-26

DRAFT
Published February 2022

88

Table of Contents
1. Glossary...............................................................................................2
2. Introduction / Foreword..........................................................................3
3. Strategic Outcomes (Our Vision for Leicestershire)......................................4
4. Clean and Green ..................................................................................5
5. Great Communities................................................................................9
6. Improved Opportunities........................................................................ 14
7. Strong Economy, Transport and Infrastructure..........................................20
8. Safe and Well.....................................................................................26
9. Strategic Change Portfolio.....................................................................33
10. Medium Term Financial Strategy..........................................................37
11. Enabling Services...............................................................................38

DR
AF
T

12. Performance Management..................................................................39

1. Glossary
Term
LLEP
Partners

VCSE sector
SEND
EHCP
EHE
NEET
GVA
STEM
R&D
SMEs
GDHI
PM2.5
CO2e

Definition
Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership
Tends to refer to other public bodies such as NHS, Police, Fire and Rescue Service,
district councils, parish and town councils, but can also include private and third
sector organisations
Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise sector
Special Educational Needs and Disability
Education, Health and Care Plan
Elective Home Education
Not in Education, Employment or Training
Gross Value Added
Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics
Research and Development
Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises
Gross Disposable Household Income
Fine Particulate Matter
Carbon Dioxide Equivalent

2 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

89

2. Introduction / Foreword
This Strategic Plan sets out our long-term vision and priorities for the next four years (2022-26).
Our vision is based on five strategic outcomes which are aspirational; they outline the end results that we want
to see for Leicestershire. For each outcome, we have identified specific aims which we will focus on achieving
over the next four years, with corresponding actions. The actions in this Plan are not exhaustive; further detail
on how we will deliver our priorities is set out in supporting Council and partnership strategies.
Whilst the outcomes are in separate sections, there are significant interdependencies between them. For
example, reducing our carbon footprint supports both our aims to tackle climate change and to improve health
outcomes. Additionally, improving children’s development supports both our aims to ensure everyone can
achieve their full potential and to increase skills supply and economic productivity. Links such as these are
highlighted throughout the Plan and some actions are shown to support multiple outcomes.
We recognise that our aspiration for a ‘Clean and Green’ future may seem at odds with our desire for ‘Strong
Economy, Transport and Infrastructure’. However, we are confident that through actions such as enabling
sustainable transport, promoting business action on climate change and ensuring infrastructure developments
are low or zero carbon, we can strike the right balance between ‘green and growth’.

DR
AF
T

We will deliver this Plan by building upon our previous achievements, such as being recognised by Impower as
the most productive Council in England and Wales, whilst being the lowest funded County Council in the UK.
However, the Council alone cannot deliver all the change that will be needed. Through continued collaboration
with our partners to coordinate and integrate our plans we hope to make the maximum impact on the most
pressing issues that we face and celebrate and build on the success of this great county.

3 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

90

3. Strategic Outcomes
(Our Vision for Leicestershire)
Great Communities
• Diversity is celebrated and people feel
welcome and included
• People participate in service design and
delivery
• Cultural and historical heritage are
enjoyed and conserved

Clean and Green
• People act now to tackle climate
change

• Communities are prepared for and
resilient to emergencies
• People support each other through
volunteering

• People are safe in their daily lives
• People enjoy long lives in good
health

DR
AF
T

• Nature and the local environment are
valued, protected and enhanced

Safe and Well

• Resources are used in an
environmentally sustainable way
• The economy and infrastructure
are low carbon and
environmentally- friendly

Improved Opportunities

• People at the most risk are
protected from harm
• Carers and people with care
needs are supported to live active,
independent, and fulfilling lives

• Every child gets the best start in life

Strong Economy, Transport
and Infrastructure

• Every child has access to good quality
education

• There is close alignment between skill
supply and demand

• Families are self-sufficient and enabled
to be resilient
• Young people and adults are able to aim
high and reach their full potential

• Leicestershire has the infrastructure
for sustainable economic and housing
growth
• Leicestershire is an attractive place
where businesses invest and flourish
• Economic growth delivers increased
prosperity for all

4 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

91

4. Clean and Green
This outcome reflects the need to protect and enhance the environment and tackle climate change. Global
warming is increasing the frequency and intensity of flooding and heatwaves. It will affect social and
environmental determinants of health including clean air, safe drinking water, food supply and secure shelter.
There is increasing recognition of the need to protect and enhance the environment. The 2015 Paris
Agreement requires countries to limit temperature rise to below 1.5 to 2°C. Government has committed to
reducing the UK’s net emissions of greenhouse gases to zero by 2050. The County Council has declared a
climate emergency and is committed to achieving net zero carbon emissions from its own operations by 2030
and to work with partners to achieve net zero carbon emissions in Leicestershire by 2045.
The County Council has various levels of control and influence in protecting the environment and addressing
climate change. It is responsible for managing the environmental impacts of its own activities (e.g. heating and
powering offices, using vehicles and generating waste) and is able to help minimise the impacts of residents
and businesses (e.g. by enabling and promoting sustainable transport, managing household waste in an
environmentally-sustainable way and enforcing environmental legislation on businesses). It also has capacity to
influence wider action by working with partners and lobbying Government.

DR
AF
T

We will help to tackle climate change by embedding environmental sustainability into everything we do. We
will minimise the environmental impact of our activities and use our influence in areas such as transport,
planning, economic development and community engagement to protect the environment.

4.1 People act now to tackle climate change and protect the environment

To achieve net zero carbon emissions in Leicestershire we need communities to take action to reduce their
environmental impacts, such as by being more resource-efficient and travelling by sustainable modes.
99% of residents think that protecting the environment is important and from 2005-2019, there was a 36%
reduction in domestic CO2 emissions. Leicestershire performs well in the energy efficiency of new build
homes, but poorly in the efficiency of existing homes. It also has below average rates of electrical vehicle
ownership and cycling and walking.

Our aim by 2026
• More residents actively involved in tackling climate change

5 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

92
Our actions
• Raise environmental awareness amongst local communities, schools and businesses to promote positive action
• Support people to be more resource efficient in their energy and water use
• Work with bus operators to deliver our Bus Service Improvement Plan which will promote affordable,
frequent, and high-quality passenger transport services
• Work with the region’s transport body, Midlands Connect, to improve passenger rail services
• Work with partners to enable and encourage electrical vehicle usage, such as by expanding charging points
• Enhance the infrastructure that supports cycling and walking, such as segregated infrastructure, cycle
parking, pedestrian crossings and traffic reduction measures to create healthy streets and spaces
• Provide cycle training and work with schools and workplaces to provide people with the required skills and
information to cycle and walk

How we will measure success
• Percentage of domestic properties (new build / existing) with Energy Performance Rating C+
• Percentage of residents who report having made lifestyle changes to help tackle climate change

DR
AF
T

• Rate of electrical vehicle ownership

• Percentage of adults walking for travel, 3 days a week
• Percentage of adults cycling for travel, 3 days a week

• Number of volunteers helping to tackle climate change

4.2 Nature and the local environment are valued, protected and enhanced

Biodiversity describes the enormous variety of life on Earth. Biodiversity and the eco-system clean our water,
purify our air, regulate the climate and provide us with food and resources for medicines. Loss or damage of
natural environments is among the biggest threats to wildlife.

Intensively managed farmland, with applications of chemical fertiliser, pesticides and herbicides, is poor
for wildlife. In Leicestershire, where more than 80% of the land is farmed, our wildlife continues to decline
due to a lack of good habitats. Leicestershire has relatively few sites of recognised nature conservation value
compared to other counties, with the best sites representing only about 1% of the land in Leicestershire.

Our aim by 2026
• Increase the percentage of county land which promotes diversity of habitat and species
6 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

93
Our actions
• Create, protect and enhance sustainable green space and waterways on Council managed land and assets
• Promote and support environmentally sustainable farming practices which maintain and enhance biodiversity
• Work with the LLEP to develop a Natural Capital Investment Plan to minimise the loss of habitats

How we will measure success
• Hectares of Council land in better management for nature
• Percentage of suitable Council land in better management for nature
• Number of trees planted by the Council

4.3 Resources are used in an environmentally sustainable way
We are using the planet’s resources at a faster rate than they are being replenished and in a way which does
not allow them to be reused. In order to address this crisis, we need to move to a circular economy model.
This is a more efficient alternative to a traditional linear economy (make, use, dispose) where resources are
used for as long as possible, then recovered, regenerated, or recycled.

DR
AF
T

Compared to other county areas, Leicestershire has a lower rate of household waste which is recycled and a
significantly higher percentage of waste which is landfilled.

Our aim by 2026

• Increase in the percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting and reduction in the
percentage landfilled

Our actions

• Work with partners to reduce the volume of waste produced in Leicestershire, such as by supporting the
national Love Food Hate Waste campaign, delivering education around food waste prevention and enabling
communities to conduct their own waste prevention activities
• Manage waste in the priority order of prevention, reuse, recycling, other recovery and disposal
• Encourage appropriate use of our Recycling & Household Waste Sites service

• Provide an efficient and sustainable trade waste recycling, treatment and disposal service

How we will measure success

• Percentage of municipal waste sent to landfill
• Percentage of household waste sent by local authorities for reuse, recycling, composting

4.4 The economy and infrastructure are low carbon and environmentally friendly
Decarbonising the economy and infrastructure is one of the key solutions to addressing the climate emergency,
as nearly 70% of Leicestershire’s emissions come from commercial, industrial and transport sources. This will
require action from the Council, partners and businesses.
From 2005-2019, there was a 54% reduction in commercial CO2 emissions in Leicestershire and a 40%
reduction in industrial CO2 emissions. However, transport emissions fell by only 8%.
A survey of local businesses from March-June 2021 (LLEP Business Tracker) found that 35% had taken action to
reduce their carbon impact in the past 2 months and 50% planned to do so over the next 6 months.
7 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

94
Our aims by 2026
• Net-zero carbon emissions from the Council’s own operations by 2030, with an interim 64% reduction by 2025
• Work with partners to ensure Leicestershire is on track to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2045

Our actions

DR
AF
T

• Develop and implement a Net Zero Carbon 2030 Plan for the Council
• Reduce our demand for energy and increase our generation and use of renewable energy
• Through the Environment Group, collaborate with district councils and the LLEP to coordinate development
and implementation of environmental programmes and promote a green recovery
• Own and manage efficient and sustainable properties through our Corporate Asset Investment Fund
• Work with partners to develop the training and skills routes required for zero carbon development
• Encourage businesses to reduce their carbon impact and promote business opportunities arising from netzero transition
• Work with partners to support the capacity of SMEs to supply low-carbon products and services, expand
links between businesses and universities to enhance low-carbon research and development and develop a
central integrated hub for demonstration of low-carbon technology
• Reduce pollution and contamination through our Trading Standards service
• Investigate and pursue opportunities to increase carbon sequestration through natural solutions such as tree
planting
• Work with bus operators to deliver our Bus Service Improvement Plan which will promote affordable,
frequent, and high-quality passenger transport services
• Work with the region’s transport body, Midlands Connect, to improve passenger rail services
• Work with partners to enable and encourage electrical vehicle ownership and walking and cycling, including
through provision of infrastructure

How we will measure success

• Total CO2e emissions from the Council (buildings, sites, street lighting and traffic signs, fleet)
• Amount of renewable energy generated as a percentage of consumption by the Council
• CO2 emissions in the local area within the scope of local authority influence
• Percentage of businesses taking action to reduce their carbon impact

8 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

95

5. Great Communities
This outcome aims for Leicestershire to have active and inclusive communities in which people support
each other and participate in service design and delivery. It reflects our aspiration to have frequent dialogue
with communities about local priorities, how well services are working and how they could be improved.
Communities also need to be resilient; able to avoid, prepare for, respond to and recover from emergencies.
The communities we live in and the relationships we have are the primary source of our physical and mental
health – which in turn influence the kind of life we are able to live and the part we play in society. Our
communities are key assets and by investing in them we can cultivate the conditions for people to flourish.
We will support communities to take advantage of and build on the assets within their local area (e.g.
buildings, people, skills and networks) to solve local challenges. We will strengthen community capacity by
supporting the VCSE sector and building upon successful partnerships which have been shown to deliver
better outcomes for residents, such as our work with district councils during the Covid-19 pandemic to
establish community hubs to support the most vulnerable people in our County.

DR
AF
T

We will use a wider range of engagement methods to ensure residents can have their say in decisions affecting
their local areas. Building on the exceptional collaborative work undertaken during the Covid-19 pandemic with
partners such as district councils, Police and the NHS, we will support communities to minimise the impact of
any emergencies and ensure a seamless return to normal life.

5.1 Diversity is celebrated and people feel welcome and included

We are committed to equality and diversity because we believe that everyone deserves to be treated fairly and
that people are happier when they can be themselves without fear of discrimination or inequality.
There has been a decrease in the percentage of residents who feel that their local area is a place where people
from different backgrounds get on well together (from 96% in 2019/20 to 91% in 2021/22). The rate of hate
crime has also increased since the EU referendum and during the pandemic.

Our aims by 2026

• Work with partners to increase community cohesion and tackle hate crime
• Council services are more accessible and inclusive

Our actions

• Deliver our Equalities Strategy to improve service accessibility and equity in employment opportunities
• Fulfil the Race at Work Charter, Disability Confident Scheme and the Stonewall Workforce Equalities Index
• Organise and promote civic events throughout the county to celebrate our diverse communities
• Support the Inter Faith Forum to promote greater understanding and awareness of faith and religion
• Support the Equality Challenge Group to scrutinise our service accessibility and inclusivity
• Work with partners through the Safer Communities Strategy Board to help prevent and tackle hate crime

How we will measure success
• Percentage of residents who feel that in their local area, people from different backgrounds get on well
• Rate of hate crime incidents
• Percentage of residents who agree the Council treats all types of people fairly
• Percentage of the Council workforce who feel that the Council is committed to equality & diversity
9 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

96
5.2 People participate in service design and delivery
Residents should feel that they can get involved in decisions about public services and policies which affect
their lives. County Councillors have a key role in representing the needs and interests of residents, however the
Council aims to improve how it engages residents in service design and delivery so that more residents feel
they can influence Council decisions. Currently, 50% of residents feel well informed about the Council and
69% state that they trust the Council. However, only 32% feel that they can influence Council decisions.
Neighbourhood Plans enable residents to develop a shared vision which shapes development in their local
areas. There are now 125 active Neighbourhood Planning group and 35 communities managing their local
library, with many of these being community hubs which support the needs of local people.

Our aim by 2026
• Increase in the proportion of residents who feel that they can influence Council decisions

Our actions

DR
AF
T

• Improve how we engage residents in service design by using a wider range of engagement methods and
applying the best practice principles from the Consultation Institute Charter
• Support the development of Neighbourhood Plans and provide timely consultation responses

• Support the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) sector and town and parish councils in
their roles as providers of community-managed services and as community leaders
• Support communities to plan and deliver services, such as libraries and heritage sites

How we will measure success
• Percentage of residents who feel well-informed about the Council
• Percentage of residents who feel that they can influence Council decisions
• Number of Neighbourhood Plans adopted
• Number of communities running their own library

10 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

97
5.3 Cultural and historical heritage are enjoyed and conserved
Culture is our past, present and future. It’s what we have inherited, what we are experiencing now and what
we would like to see remembered. We want to preserve and make accessible our local cultural and historic
heritage to enhance the wellbeing of local residents.

DR
AF
T

From 2018/19-2019/20, there was an 8% reduction in visits to heritage sites between 2018/19 and
2019/20. Covid-19 has had a significant impact, with the county’s heritage sites and libraries having closed
during the restrictions. However, services have adapted through digital delivery including virtual museum tours,
whilst libraries have seen an 89% increase in the number of e-loans from 2019/20-2020/21.

Our aim by 2026

• Increase in the number of Leicestershire residents and visitors engaging in cultural and heritage activities

Our actions

• Our libraries, heritage, country parks and adult learning programmes will provide accessible community
facilities, exhibitions and parks and outdoor activities with a wide range of learning opportunities
• Support communities to engage in cultural and heritage activities and develop their own bespoke
programmes of cultural events and activities
• Support schools with a wide range of resources, pupil sessions and professional help to stimulate reading
for pleasure and creative learning across the curriculum
• Preserve and provide access to resources which can be used to research Leicestershire’s history
• Maintain the County’s natural history, artefacts, specimens, information and objects as well as the stories of
the people who have made Leicestershire their home for thousands of years
• Offer a wide range of online adult learning courses in venues across Leicestershire

How we will measure success
• Library site and website visits and loans
• Museum and heritage site and website visits
11 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

98
5.4 Communities are prepared for and resilient to emergencies
Covid-19 has highlighted the importance of communities being able to respond to, withstand and recover
from adverse situations. Developing a Community Response Plan enables a community to identify the skills,
knowledge and resources in their local area which can be mobilised during a crisis. There are currently 53
Community Response Plans across Leicestershire.

Our aim by 2026
• Increase in the number of active Community Response Plans

Our actions
• Work with the local Resilience Partnership to prepare for, respond to and recover from emergencies
• Support communities to prepare for emergencies by developing Community Response Plans
• Provide business continuity information and advice to businesses and VCSE sector organisations
• Support resilience to changes in climate, such as by fulfilling our duties as Lead Local Flood Authority

DR
AF
T

• Maintain our Resilient Highways Network to ensure traffic keeps moving despite disruptive events
• Work with partners to provide emergency short-term food and fuel support to those in need

How we will measure success

• Number of active Community Response Plans

5.5 People support each other through volunteering

Volunteers perform a key role in supporting local communities and delivering our vision for Leicestershire.
We want to support volunteering opportunities and activity because we recognise the significant contribution
which volunteers make in delivering wider community benefit beyond the Council’s direct service provision.

12 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

99
Leicestershire has a dynamic and diverse Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) sector, ranging
from small grassroots groups to national charities. During the Covid-19 pandemic, VCSE organisations
supported vulnerable people whilst experiencing significant financial pressures and increases in demand.
There was also a surge in volunteering with over 1,000 volunteers supporting vulnerable people and a
further 1,250 assisting with vaccinations. However, pre-pandemic there was a long- term downward trend in
volunteer numbers.

Our aims by 2026
• There is a wide variety of volunteering opportunities and activity across Council services
• VCSE organisations remain financially viable and maintain their service delivery

Our actions
• Develop and maintain volunteering opportunities across Council services
• Provide communities with up-to-date information and advice to support and promote volunteering
• Encourage Council staff to volunteer to build links with communities and support local initiatives

DR
AF
T

• Support volunteers to maintain their health and wellbeing

• Support the growth and development of VCSE organisations by providing targeted grants and funding
• Support VCSE organisations in areas such as governance, income generation and commissioning

How we will measure success

• Percentage of residents who have given unpaid help in the past 12 months

• Number of volunteering enquiries received by Voluntary Action Leicestershire
• Number of volunteering opportunities across Council services

• Number of hours of volunteering by Council-managed volunteers

• Amount of SHIRE Community Grants awarded to VCSE organisations

• Feedback from VCSE organisations regarding current and future challenges

13 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

100

6. Improved Opportunities
This outcome aims to ensure that all children and young people get the best start for life and have the
opportunities they need to fulfil their potential, regardless of their circumstances. We believe children are best
supported to grow within their own families and as such the outcome reflects our aspiration for families to be
self-sufficient. It also aims to ensure that disadvantaged adults, such as those with learning disabilities, autism
and/or mental health conditions, are able to aim high and achieve their aspirations.
The impact of disadvantage is felt before a child enters school and can have a significant impact on their
future prospects. Whilst the term ‘disadvantage’ is usually linked to a family’s income, it can also be linked to
vulnerability in the context of the child’s family. For example, children living in a home where there is domestic
abuse, poor mental health and/or problematic usage of drugs or alcohol, are at greater risk of experiencing
mental illness and engaging in harmful behaviours. Children with special educational needs and/or disabilities
may also be disadvantaged, and some children face multiple disadvantages.

DR
AF
T

Education has the potential to drive social mobility and improve outcomes for the next generation. It is
estimated that people with five or more good GCSEs have average lifetime productivity gains of £100,000,
compared to those with qualifications below this level. It is therefore essential that children arrive at school
ready to learn. High quality care in the early years of a child’s life supports better readiness for school, stronger
cognitive skills and speech and language development. Investing in children’s development in the early years
therefore benefits children, communities and the wider economy.
Our services will be flexible and responsive to the needs of children and families, providing the right level of
support at the right time. Wherever possible children’s and families’ needs will be met by universal services,
however we will also invest in effective, targeted services that identify and support vulnerable families at
an early stage. We will work closely with partners, including through Leicestershire’s Children and Families
Partnership, to help ensure children and young people can reach their full potential.

6.1 Every child gets the best start in life

The first 1,001 critical days from pregnancy to the age of two set the foundations for an individual’s cognitive,
emotional and physical development. We want to improve how we support families during these 1,001 days.

14 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

101
Leicestershire generally performs well in child and maternal health. However, it is similar to the national
average in the percentage of children achieving a good level of development at foundation stage and it ranks
in the worst 25% of counties for the percentage of children achieving the expected level of development at
age 2-2.5yrs. It also performs poorly in terms of the percentage of eligible 2 year olds taking up free early
education (an initiative for low-income households) and the percentage of children eligible for free school
meals who achieve a good level of development at age 5.
There are 2 tiers of support for children with special educational needs (SEND): ‘SEN Support’ and ‘Education,
Health and Care Plan’ (EHCP). EHCPs are the higher level of support. In Leicestershire, the percentage of
children with SEND who have an EHCP and achieve a good level of development by age 5 is significantly higher
than national average. However, for children on SEN Support, performance is below the national average.
For the past 10 years there have been year-on-year increases in the rate of children looked after in our care.
These children are consistently working at below age related expectations when they start school.

Our aims by 2026
• Increase in the percentage of children achieving the expected level of development at age 2-2.5yrs

DR
AF
T

• Increase in the percentage of children achieving a good level of development at foundation stageit

Our actions

• Develop an integrated communication strategy to promote the 1001 Critical Days Children’s Manifesto
• Strengthen collaboration with partners to improve education and health outcomes for pre-school children
• Work with partners across education, health and care to promote breastfeeding initiation and continuity
• Inform staff in education, health and care about the needs of children with SEND and available support
• Develop an integrated Early Years Pathway to ensure vulnerable children are identified and supported
• Encourage and support eligible families to access free early education (FEEE)

• Support childcare providers to offer sufficient high-quality early education places

• Protect and strengthen the services provided by our Children and Family Wellbeing Centres

• Support children’s development through learning opportunities in libraries (e.g. reading sessions)

How we will measure success

• Percentage of eligible families taking up free early education (FEEE) for their child

• Percentage of children achieving a good level of development at ages 2-2 ½ years
• Percentage of children achieving a good level of development at foundation stage
• Percentage of looked after children achieving age-related expectations when they start school

6.2 Every child has access to good quality education
As of August 2021, Leicestershire had a similar proportion of primary and secondary schools rated either
good or outstanding to the national average. The vast majority of children and families are offered their first
preference of school placement. However, there is a growing need for school places.

15 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

102

DR
AF
T

Demand for the higher level of support (EHCPs) for children with SEND has also increased significantly,
leading to rising demand for specialist SEND provision. We believe however that most children with SEND
should have their needs met in a mainstream school setting at the lower level of support (SEN Support).
Leicestershire has better educational attainment rates than the national average at primary level, however,
at secondary level attainment is similar to the national average. Whilst children in our care have significantly
poorer educational outcomes than their peers, Leicestershire performs well in this area compared to other
counties. Additionally, educational attainment for children with SEND on the higher level of support (EHCP) is
better locally than the national average.
However, Leicestershire consistently performs below comparator levels in the educational attainment of
children with SEND on the lower level of support (SEN Support). Further, at key stages 2 and 4, educational
attainment of children in receipt of free school meals is consistently lower locally than the national average.

Our aims by 2026

• Sufficient, high quality mainstream school places and specialist SEND provision to meet demand

• Improved educational attainment amongst disadvantaged pupils (i.e. those who are in receipt of free school
meals, are in our care and/or have special educational needs)

Our actions
Sufficient, high quality mainstream school places and specialist SEND provision to meet growing demand
• Work with partners to ensure that admissions arrangements promote diversity and choice
• Monitor school capacity and extend or build new schools where required
• Implement an ambitious programme to develop SEND provision across the local area, including resources
in mainstream schools to promote inclusion and expansion of existing special schools
• Maintain our school buildings and strengthen our relationships with academies to ensure that all school
buildings (irrespective of their designation and funding arrangements) are fit for purpose

16 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

103
Improved educational attainment amongst disadvantaged pupils
• Ensure that all children in our care and care leavers access appropriate, stable education placements and
positive educational experiences, such as through our Virtual School
• Work with partners through the SEND and Inclusion Board to ensure that all mainstream schools and
providers are inclusive, with staff able and supported to meet the learning needs of those with SEND
• Work with further education colleges to develop individualised learning for young people with SEND
• Improve the quality of EHCPs, the EHCP process and Annual Reviews both within the local authority and
between the local authority, clinical commissioning group and provider services
• Ensure that when a child or young person needs move to a different educational provision or service, this is
done in a timely manner with the appropriate information available

How we will measure success
• Percentage of pupils offered first choice of school (primary / secondary)
• Percentage of schools rated good or outstanding (primary / secondary / special)

DR
AF
T

• Percentage of pupils achieving the expected level of attainment from Key Stages 1-4

6.3 Families are self-sufficient and enabled to be resilient

Many families have complex needs which require support to enable their children to achieve good outcomes in
life. We need to identify issues early and work directly with families in collaboration with other services.
Leicestershire County Council has a strong track record of supporting families experiencing multiple
disadvantages to achieve significant and sustained progress through the Supporting Families programme.
Disruption in family lives can lead to children missing education, with the impacts felt by children, families and
wider society. Leicestershire has low rates of children missing education. However, the number of children
electively home-educated (EHE) has increased significantly in recent years. We need to ensure that families
opting for EHE are aware of what is expected of them and able to provide a good quality education.

Our aim by 2026

• Families are able to deal with issues as they arise, and the Council achieves its targets for the number of
families achieving progress through the Supporting Families Programme (set at 464 families in 2022/23)

Our actions
• Develop the Leicestershire Information and Support Directory and Local Offer to help families access
information, guidance and support
• Support the delivery of Citizens Advice services and crisis and hardship support for people in need
• Work positively with families opting for EHE, offering support to ensure statutory duties are met
• Work across the early help partnership to ensure all agencies are able to identify families who may require
additional support at the earliest possible opportunity and provide the best response
• Help avoid children becoming looked after by prioritising investment in early help / preventative services and
ensuring children at risk of family breakdown receive timely, and if necessary intensive, support
• Develop our support for young people experiencing emotional and behavioural difficulties

17 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

104
How we will measure success
• Percentage of families achieving positive progress through the Supporting Families Programme (Education
and learning / Progress to work / Home and money)
• Number / percentage of families achieving significant and sustained progress through the Supporting
Families Programme

6.4 Young people and adults are able to aim high and reach their full potential
To fulfil their potential, young people need access to relevant, good quality post-16 education, training and
employment opportunities. It is also critical that adults who may be disadvantaged due to learning disabilities
and/or mental health issues are able to live as independently as possible and access suitable employment.

DR
AF
T

Leicestershire performs better than the national average for the percentage of children aged 16-17 who are
not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET), at 2.4% in Leicestershire compared to 2.8% nationally,
and ranks in the best performing 50% of county areas. Those most likely to be NEET include care leavers,
young carers, young offenders and those with learning and/or other disabilities. Leicestershire is in the best
performing 25% of county areas for the percentage of care leavers who are in education, employment, or
training as well as for the percentage of care leavers who are living in suitable accommodation.

The percentage of young people aged 19 with at least a level 2 qualification is consistently higher locally
(better) than the national average, however for those from low-income households who claimed free school
meals during school, performance is consistently lower locally than the national average.
Leicestershire is in the best performing 25% of counties for the proportion of people aged 18-64 with a
learning disability who are in paid employment and the proportion who are living independently. However, it is
in the worst 25% of counties for the proportion of those in contact with secondary mental health services who
are in paid employment, and for the proportion living independently.

Our aims by 2026
• Leicestershire performs in the best 25% of counties for the rate of young people aged 16-17 who are NEET

18 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

105
• Leicestershire remains in the best 25% of counties for the percentage of adults with a learning disability
who are in paid employment, and the percentage who are living independently
• The percentage of adults in contact with secondary mental health services who are in paid employment,
and the percentage who are living independently, increase to be above the national average

Our actions
Preventing young people from becoming NEET
• Challenge schools in relation to statutory individualised careers guidance for vulnerable groups
• Monitor the progress of learners beyond age 16 to ensure good progress and identify those at risk of
becoming NEET in order to target them for additional support to participate in education or training
• Deliver our ‘promise’ to care leavers (launched in collaboration with district councils, the Office of the Police
and Crime Commissioner and the Combined Fire Authority) to support care leavers to access employment
or training through measures such as qualifications and ring-fenced apprenticeships
• Through our Teenagers with Babies Group, deliver actions to reduce NEET amongst teenage parents, such
as by ensuring seamless support pathways and improving access to educational opportunities

DR
AF
T

• Provide children in contact with our Youth and Justice Service with dedicated Education Workers and
Careers Advisors to ensure they are actively engaged in education, training or employment
• Expand the range of alternative providers for children and young people for whom formal educational
placements are not suitable
• Be an active partner with the Enterprise Adviser Network which inspires and prepares young people for the
world of work, by linking business/ employer volunteers (Enterprise Advisers) with local schools and colleges
• Be a delivery partner with the European Social Fund Employment Hub (until 2023) which promotes
apprenticeship opportunities to businesses. The project brings together businesses and young people.
• Maintain a person-centred process to support transition from childhood to adulthood

Supporting disadvantaged adults to access paid employment and live independently

• Offer engaging ‘first steps’ learning opportunities through our Adult Learning Service as to increase
participation by disadvantaged learners and prepare them for more formal learning
• Work with partners to promote and extend opportunities for supported employment for disadvantaged people
• Support people to live in the least restrictive environments possible by developing more supported
accommodation, including ‘step down’ temporary accommodation, and exploring the benefits of single
accommodation units with on-site shared support for adults with mental ill-health

How we will measure success
• Percentage of young people aged 16-17 who are not in Education Employment or Training (NEET) or
whose activity is not known
• Percentage of care leavers in education, employment or training (EET)
• Percentage of care leavers in suitable accommodation
• Percentage of young people with special educational needs who are in education or training
• Percentages of adults who live independently (learning disabilities / mental health)
• Percentages of adults who are in paid employment (learning disabilities / mental health)

19 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

106

7. Strong Economy, Transport and
Infrastructure
This outcome aims to use local innovation and skills to build a productive, inclusive and sustainable economy
at the cutting edge of science, technology and engineering. It reflects the need for our transport, housing and
digital infrastructure to meet the demands of a growing population and economy.
Our economy is primed for success. We have unrivalled assets such as a world-class university with one of the
UK’s largest science parks, a central location with the largest distribution park in Europe and the UK’s largest
freight airport. Recently, the East Midlands Airport Gateway Industrial Cluster site in North West Leicestershire
was selected for Freeport Status. This will provide a significant boost to our strong and growing manufacturing
and logistics industries and create up to 60,000 additional jobs.
However, our economy faces significant challenges including lower productivity than the UK. The Covid-19
pandemic has also challenged businesses in terms of their resilience and financial health. Before Covid-19,
the Leicester and Leicestershire economy generated £24.5bn in Gross Value Added (GVA). Testament to its
resilience and growth potential, we still expect this to increase to £30.2bn by 2030.

DR
AF
T

We will support people to develop the skills they need to access employment, particularly in our growth
sectors. We will help to ensure that our infrastructure provides excellent connectivity – enabling access to
opportunities and opening up sites for development – whilst supporting net zero carbon emissions by 2045.

7.1 There is close alignment between skill supply and demand

It is important to ensure that education and skills are well-aligned to the needs of employers as this will drive
economic growth and ensure people are able to get good jobs and make progress in their careers.

Local skills needs are driven by the needs of our key sectors (manufacturing and logistics) and other growth
sectors such as life sciences, low carbon technologies, creative industries and aerospace. In 2021, a LLEP
survey of local businesses found 21% were experiencing recruitment difficulties due to skills issues, 60%
needed more basic work-based skills and 33% needed digital skills. The shortfall in overseas workers caused
by Covid-19 and EU-Exit may further increase demand for skills, particularly in sectors such as social care.

20 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

107
Leicestershire performs well in the percentage of working-age adults qualified to Levels 2+ and 3+ . It also
has a strong further education sector and good supply of graduates to the labour market. However, our growth
sectors need for more young people to pursue careers in Science, Technology, Engineering & Mathematics
(STEM) and there are challenges in retaining young people and graduates in Leicestershire.

Our aims by 2026
• Reduction in the proportion of employers reporting skills shortages or gaps
• Increased opportunities in the labour market for young people

Our actions
Reduction in the proportion of employers reporting skills shortages
• Work with partners to:
• Capture and analyse labour market information to identify growth sectors and skills shortages
• Support the Further Education sector to expand and improve their facilities and links to growth sectors

DR
AF
T

• Develop Skills Plans for growth sectors to help businesses meet their recruitment and skills needs
• Be an active member of the Digital Skills Partnership to address digital skills deficiencies
• Provide flexible leadership and management development programmes

• Promote enterprise skills programmes to support self-employment, start-ups and existing businesses
• Provide opportunities for learning and skills development through libraries and Adult Learning
Increased opportunities in the labour market for young people

• Work with partners to provide information, advice and guidance on the labour market to parents, teachers
and young people
• Work with partners to identify and promote youth pathways into employment in emerging sectors
• Work with partners to provide youth career services such as Careers Hub

• Work with partners to support the graduate retention initiatives of local universities and businesses
• Work with partners to produce an Apprenticeship Strategy and Delivery Plan

• Be a delivery partner with the European Social Fund Employment Hub (until 2023) which promotes
apprenticeship opportunities to businesses. The project brings together businesses and young people.
• Through the Kickstart scheme, provide employment for young people at risk of unemployment

• Through our Work and Skills Leicestershire scheme, provide free one-to-one support, advice and
information to help people access secure paid employment or training
• Be an active partner with the Enterprise Adviser Network which inspires and prepares young people for the
world of work, by linking business/ employer volunteers (Enterprise Advisers) with local schools and colleges

How we will measure success
• Working age population qualification rates
• Unemployment and employment rates
• Percentages of businesses experiencing recruitment issues or skills shortages
• Apprenticeship start and achievement rates

21 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

108
7.2 Leicestershire has the infrastructure for sustainable economic and housing growth

DR
AF
T

We need our housing, transport and digital infrastructure to support economic and population growth, whilst
helping to deliver net zero carbon emissions.

Leicestershire’s population is projected to rise by 19% from 2021-2043. There is therefore a need for 96,580
new houses by 2031, which will need to be low carbon and include affordable housing. The number of
older people living in Leicestershire is forecast to increase significantly, which will necessitate development of
specialist housing suitable for those who are frail and/or disabled. These houses need to be supported by new
roads, schools, transport and other infrastructure.
Road networks in Leicestershire are in fair condition with a low percentage of roads requiring structural
maintenance. However, there are unreliable journey times caused by congestion on roads in local towns and
on parts of the strategic road network. Further, rurality presents challenges for medium and long-distance
public transport, meaning it can be difficult to enable opportunities to travel by sustainable modes.
To drive economic growth, we also need an additional 367-423 hectares of land for employment use by
2031. Since 2010, there has been a transformation in the provision of world class business locations in
Leicestershire with new office, technology and manufacturing premises accommodating 5,000 jobs. We need
to continue to support existing employment areas and identify where further growth should be directed.
Expanding digital connectivity will accelerate economic growth. The Covid-19 pandemic has accelerated
digital transformation, with employers expecting digital skills to become increasingly important. Whilst this has
enhanced business efficiency, productivity and resilience, it has also exposed the ‘digital divide’ in society with
some lacking access to digital technology and connectivity.

Our aims by 2026
• Infrastructure capacity and capability supports growth and net zero carbon emissions
• Support district councils in their roles as local housing authorities to improve existing housing stock and
maximise opportunities for development of low carbon and affordable houses

22 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

109
Our actions
• Deliver the Social Care Investment Plan to secure specialist accommodation choices for social care service
users, including those who are frail and/or disabled
• Secure financial contributions from developers to support infrastructure (e.g. schools, highways)
• Work with partners to renew existing employment sites and premises where there is demand
• Work with partners to maintain momentum in the development of strategic sites and the Freeport
• Through our Corporate Asset Investment Fund, own and manage a diverse portfolio of property and other
investment assets which support economic growth and environmental sustainability
• Provide safe and well-maintained highways which support housing development and economic growth
• Maximise opportunities from technological innovations; utilising evidence gathered on the Major Road
Network and key radial routes to support end to end journey planning and better traffic management
• Work with bus operators to deliver our Bus Service Improvement Plan which will promote affordable,
frequent, and high-quality passenger transport services
• Engage the logistics sector to better understand its transport infrastructure needs and support the efficient
movement of freight into, within and out of Leicestershire

DR
AF
T

• Work with the sub-national transport body, Midlands Connect, to improve passenger rail services
• Engage HS2 Ltd to ensure that Leicestershire’s interests are addressed throughout construction
• Work with partners to enable and encourage electrical vehicle usage, including through infrastructure
• Enhance the infrastructure that supports cycling and walking, such as segregated infrastructure, cycle
parking, pedestrian crossings and traffic reduction measures to create healthy streets and spaces
• Work with partners through the LLEP to improve broadband, Wi- Fi and 5G connectivity across
Leicestershire and define and implement the Council’s first digital connectivity strategy

How we will measure success

• Number of new houses completed

• Number of affordable houses delivered

• Percentage of principal and non-principal roads where structural maintenance should be considered
• Levels of public and business satisfaction with traffic levels

• Rates of travelling by, and public satisfaction with, public transport
• Rates of electrical vehicle ownership and cycling and walking
• Percentage of premises with gigabit-capable broadband

7.3 Leicestershire is an attractive place where businesses invest and flourish
89% of businesses in Leicestershire are micro-sized (employing 9 or fewer people). The number of businesses
has increased significantly (+18% between 2014 and 2019), with improvements in start-up and survival rates.
However, productivity rates are lower locally than the national average. This may be partially driven by low
investment in research and development (R&D) – a key driver of innovation and productivity. In 2016 R&D
expenditure was equivalent to 1.5% GVA in Leicestershire, Rutland and Northamptonshire – below the UK
average (1.7%) and government target of 3%. This highlights the need to increase investment and activity in
R&D and innovation and to lever existing R&D capabilities from our leading corporations.

23 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

110

DR
AF
T

Leicester and Leicestershire are in a prime location for international businesses; 18% of local businesses
exported in 2020, with 83% selling to EU markets. However, businesses need to adapt to the challenges
posed by Covid-19 and EU-Exit; the value of goods exported from the UK declined by 16% in 2020.

Our aims by 2026

• Increased investment in Research and Development

• Increase in the number of businesses and business survival rates

Our actions

Growth and expansion of existing innovation and R&D strengths

• Work with partners through the LLEP Innovation Board to drive forward innovation priorities

• Work with partners to ensure the R&D sector has the skills and support to attract new programmes
• Support R&D funding bids and knowledge transfer initiatives to promote investment in R&D

• Support collaboration between businesses and universities to help translate research into innovations
• Work with businesses to develop a culture of innovation and awareness of the performance benefits
• Increase in the number of businesses and business survival rates

• Support our traditional strengths in manufacturing and logistics in addition to growth sectors such as
advanced manufacturing and engineering, life sciences, low carbon technologies and aerospace
• Work with partners to encourage foreign and domestic inward investment and expansion into the County,
including in the Freeport site
• Develop and implement the Freeport strategy and support for international business
• Advise businesses to assist recovery from Covid-19 and adaptation to new EU trading relationships

How we will measure success
• Rates of businesses and new enterprises per 1,000 population
• Research and Development (R&D) expenditure as a share of Gross Value Added (GVA)
• Gross Value Added (GVA) per job
• Business confidence levels

24 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

111
7.4 Economic growth delivers increased prosperity for all
Inclusive economic growth does not just contribute to Gross Value Added (GVA) in the local economy; it
improves living standards by reducing levels of deprivation and creating opportunities for everyone.
Leicestershire is ranked 137th out of 152 upper tier authorities in deprivation (where 1st is the most deprived).
It also has a low rate of households at risk of homelessness. However, pockets of deprivation exist, with four
neighbourhoods in the county falling within the most deprived 10% in England.
The percentage of school pupils eligible for free school meals is below the national average but has risen
significantly in recent years. Gross Disposable Household Income (GDHI) – the amount of money which
households have available for spending or saving – is lower than the average amongst county authorities.

Our aim by 2026
• Growth in Gross Value Added (GVA) in the local economy corresponds with a reduction in deprivation

Our actions

DR
AF
T

• Through the Kickstart scheme, provide employment for young people at risk of unemployment

• Through Work and Skills Leicestershire, provide free information and advice to help people access
employment or training
• Deliver gigabit broadband in rural areas to help ensure equality of digital opportunity

How we will measure success

• Gross Value Added (GVA) per head
• Index of Multiple Deprivation

• Percentage of households in fuel poverty

• Percentage of school pupils in receipt of free school meals
• Gross Disposal Household Income (GDHI) per head
• Rates of homelessness and rough sleeping

25 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

112

8. Safe and Well
This outcome aims to ensure that people are safe and protected from harm, live in a healthy environment and
have the opportunities and support they need to live active, independent and fulfilling lives.
Good health is a basic precondition for people to take an active role in family, community and work life.
Leicestershire performs well across a range of health indicators and has higher average life expectancies than
England. However, there are persistent health inequalities; life expectancy is 6.3 years lower for men and 5.0
years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Leicestershire compared to the least deprived areas.
Health and wellbeing outcomes are influenced by a range of social, economic and environmental factors,
known as the ‘wider determinants of health’. These include factors such as early childhood experiences,
social support and community inclusivity, crime rates, income levels, educational opportunities, availability of
transport, access to nutritious food and safe drinking water and the quality of housing and infrastructure.
The Council can influence these factors in various ways such as by working with partners to build community
capacity, support community safety, protect vulnerable people, facilitate skills development and job creation,
enhance the quality of housing and infrastructure and promote healthy lifestyles.

DR
AF
T

We will embed a ‘Health in all Policies’ approach to systematically consider the health implications of all
decisions. We will provide information and advice to support people to take control of their wellbeing and plan
for their future. We will identify people who may be at risk of needing social care support and help them to
gain or regain the skills they need to live independently. We will also support carers and those with care needs
to live active, independent, and fulfilling lives through easy access to person-centred care and support.
We will also help keep people safe by working with partners such as district councils, NHS, Police and Fire
and Rescue services to raise awareness of and prevent crime and to identify and protect vulnerable people.
This will include work to review and improve our safeguarding practices.

8.1 People are safe in their daily lives

Crime levels are relatively low in Leicestershire compared to other areas. The number of people killed or
seriously injured on the County’s roads is also low and public satisfaction with road safety is high.
However, crime levels have shown an upward trend and there has been a reduction in the percentage of
residents who feel safe when outside in their local area after dark, from 88% in 2019/20 to 79% in 2020/21.
From 2018/19 to 2020/21, there has been a year-on-year reduction in referrals to child safeguarding for child
sexual exploitation. However, the rate of referrals for child criminal exploitation is increasing.

Our aims by 2026

• Increase in the percentage of residents who feel safe in their local area
• Fewer children and young people involved in and impacted by criminal behaviour

Our actions
Increase in the percentage of residents who feel safe in their local area
• Work with partners including the Police to raise awareness of and tackle all forms of hate crime
• Help to tackle modern slavery and trafficking by ensuring our suppliers adhere to ethical standards and
working with the Modern Slavery Action Group to raise awareness, disrupt crimes and safeguard victims
• Work with partners through the Violence Reduction Unit to help prevent serious violence
• Raise awareness of and tackle scammers and rogue traders who exploit vulnerable consumers

26 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

113
• Work with the Road Safety Partnership to support the Safety Camera Scheme and delivery of Driver
Education Workshops as well as speed reduction initiatives including Community Speed Enforcement
• Ensure road safety audits are undertaken during our own projects and those undertaken by others
• Develop a Road Safety Strategy
Fewer children and young people involved in and impacted by criminal behaviour
• Deliver a whole-family approach to prevent children and young people from engaging in crime
• Deliver preventative street-based work in areas with high levels of anti-social behaviour
• Identify and address the exploitation of children and young people and support victims

How we will measure success
• Percentage of residents who feel safe in their local area
• Resident perceptions of the level of anti-social behaviour in the community
• Detriment to consumers prevented by Trading Standards
• Number of people killed or seriously injured on our roads

DR
AF
T

• Road safety satisfaction levels
• Rate of referrals to child safeguarding for child sexual or criminal exploitation
• Rate of first time entrants to the criminal justice system aged 10-17

• Hospital admissions for assault with a sharp object amongst under-25s

8.2 People at the most risk are protected from harm

There is a long-term upward trend in demand for child safeguarding, with an increase in the rate of
safeguarding investigations and children on child protection plans. The rate of children looked after by the
Council has also increased year-on-year for the past 10 years.

Whilst the rate of reported domestic abuse-related incidents remains below the national average, it has
increased in Leicestershire from 21.1 per 1,000 population in 2017/18 to 23.1 in 2019/20. The Leicestershire
Needs Assessment undertaken by Safelives in 2021 shows a year-on-year increase in under-18s becoming
victims of domestic abuse. In 2020/21 this equated to almost a doubling on the previous year.

27 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

114
Our aim by 2026
• Vulnerable children and adults are identified and protected from harm and abuse

Our actions
Vulnerable children and adults are identified and protected from harm and abuse
• Risk assess and quality assure care providers to ensure services are safe and protect vulnerable children
and adults
• Work with partners to review the lessons from the Covid-19 pandemic regarding safeguarding
• Improve how we safeguard babies by establishing robust procedures and raising awareness of risk factors
• Develop a communications strategy to deliver universal safety messages to children and young people
• Combat sexual violence and domestic abuse by delivering our Domestic Abuse Reduction Strategy (20225) – protecting survivors and their families in safe and appropriate accommodation and improving our
understanding of perpetrators and how to respond to them

DR
AF
T

• Develop trauma-informed practices across the Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership to support
children to recover from Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)
• Raise awareness amongst communities to prevent people becoming victims and ensure they know how to
seek help and have the confidence to do so
• Improve our understanding of the impact of equality and diversity issues on access to safeguarding

How we will measure success

• Percentage of safeguarding enquiries where the desired outcome was fully or partially achieved
• Percentage of service users who say that services make them feel safe
• Domestic crime and incident rate

• Number of safe accommodation spaces for domestic abuse victims
• Children’s placement stability rates

• Rates of re-referrals to Children’s Social Care within 12 months

8.3 People enjoy long lives in good health

As highlighted previously, the health of people in Leicestershire is generally better than the England average.
However, healthy life expectancy (an estimate of how many years people might live in a ‘healthy’ state) is only
marginally higher than the national average and there are significant health inequalities in the county.
Health outcomes are influenced by a wide range of social, economic and environmental factors, known as
the ‘wider determinants of health’. For example, air pollution, particularly fine particulate matter (PM2.5), is a
significant health hazard. PM2.5 is the 3rd leading cause of preventable deaths in Leicestershire.
We are living in an obesogenic environment, with an abundance of energy dense food, motorised transport and
sedentary lifestyles. Two thirds of adults, and one third of children in year 6, are either overweight or obese.
There has been an increase in physically inactive adults, from 19.5% in 2018/19 to 21.9% in 2019/20. Some
areas of the county have higher rates of overweight/obesity and physical inactivity than England. There is a
need to improve the healthy weight environment such as by promoting sustainable/active travel, reducing the
number of fast food outlets and providing people with skills and resources to cook and eat healthily.

28 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

115

DR
AF
T

Leicestershire has high rates of people reporting low happiness and high anxiety. Although there is a low rate
of suicides in Leicestershire compared to other counties, the county has a high rate of excess deaths amongst
those aged under 75 with a severe mental illness. These excess deaths are explained not only by suicides and
accidents but also physical illnesses; studies show that that all-cause mortality in people with severe mental
illness is 2 to 3.5 times higher than in the general population.

Our aims by 2026

• Improved healthy life expectancy and reduced health inequalities
• Increased proportion of residents with a healthy weight

• Improved mental wellbeing and reduced prevalence of mental ill health

Our actions

Improved healthy life expectancy and reduced health inequalities

• Deliver a wider determinants programme of work to address the social, economic and environmental factors
which influence health outcomes, thereby improving health and reducing health inequalities
• Embed a Health Equity in All Policies approach to help ensure our decisions improve health outcomes
• Through Healthy Together 0-19, provide Health Visiting and School Nursing to support the health and
wellbeing of children and young people
• Provide information and advice to enable people to access health and wellbeing services and resources
• Identify those at risk of needing social care support and intervene early to maintain wellbeing
• Deliver our Substance Misuse Strategy (2020-23) to support people to make informed healthy lifestyle
choices to reduce the harm caused by alcohol and drug misuse and improve their wellbeing
Increased proportion of residents with a healthy weight
• Work with partners to create an environment which facilitates healthy choices
• Support people to achieve and maintain a healthy weight through prevention, self-management and weight
management support
• Prioritise healthy weight through systems leadership, creating a workforce that are confident to promote
healthy weight

29 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

116
Improved mental wellbeing and reduced proportion of residents experiencing mental ill health
• Promote positive mental health and awareness of risk factors for poor mental health
• Sustain excellent customer satisfaction with our cultural, wellbeing and adult learning services; promoting
and facilitating access to libraries, museums and learning centres to promote wellbeing
• Support communities to engage in cultural and heritage activities and develop their own bespoke
programmes of cultural events and activities
• Ensure that our residential planning applications for our own land enable public access to green space, and
support district councils to develop plans to improve public access to green space
• Implement ‘Making Every Contact Count Plus’ to deliver brief interventions which enhance wellbeing
• Work with partners such as the NHS to ensure the early detection and treatment of mental health and
wellbeing needs and improve access to mental health services for all ages

How we will measure success
• Average healthy life expectancy
• Percentages of adults walking / cycling for travel at least 3 days per week

DR
AF
T

• Levels of air pollution – fine particulate matter

• Percentage of residents with access to green space within a 10 minute walk
• Percentages of children / adults who are physically active

• Percentages of children / adults classified as overweight or obese

• Rate of school pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs

• Rates of hospital admissions for mental health conditions (under 18s)
• Self-reported wellbeing measures

• Rate of excess under 75 mortality rate in adults with serious mental illness

8.4 Carers and people with care needs are supported to live active, independent, and
fulfilling lives
Leicestershire ranks in the best 25% of county areas for the performance of its reablement services, which
support those with physical or mental health needs to maintain or regain their independence and avoid
unnecessary admissions to hospital or residential care. Leicestershire also has low rates of adults being
admitted into residential or nursing care which is important as research suggests that people tend to prefer
alternative accommodation options.
Further, in Leicestershire, a high proportion of people with social care needs receive personalised care and
support through direct payments or personal budgets which enable them to choose the services they receive.
However, there is a need for improvement in the proportion of people who find it easy to access information
about adult social care services and in the quality of life and overall satisfaction of those who receive care and
support. As highlighted previously, the number of older people, and those living with dementia and/or mobility
problems, is forecast to increase significantly. Some will require housing adaptations and others will need
specialist housing and support.

30 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

117
Our aims by 2026
• Increase in the proportion of people who find it easy to access information and advice about adult social
care services
• Improvements in the experiences of those who receive adult social care and support
• Carers feel more recognised, valued and supported to undertake their caring role

Our actions
Increase in the proportion of people who find it easy to access information and advice about adult social
care services
• Improve access to information and advice through digital channels including the Directory of Services
• Work with partners to proactively provide advice and information about housing, including development of
social prescribing and encouraging people to plan for their future housing needs
• Provide quality information, advice and guidance for those living with dementia and their carers
Improvements in the experiences of those who receive adult social care and support

DR
AF
T

• Respond to customer feedback to improve satisfaction with our adult social care services

• Recruit and train a skilled and resilient social care workforce, whilst inspiring more people to work in the
sector and improving job satisfaction through rewarding careers and opportunities
• Work with the NHS to deliver integrated services at the point of delivery with seamless transitions between
health and social care
• Enable people to be self-reliant and independent through crisis support and reablement services
• Work with partners to provide carers and/or those with care needs with the right equipment and technology
to enable them to live independently for longer
• Review progress on the Living Well with Dementia Strategy (2019-22) and co-produce a new strategy
• Explore solutions to transport issues to enable older people to remain active and independent

• Support people receiving direct payments to choose the provision suitable to meeting their outcomes
• Deliver the Social Care Investment Plan to secure specialist accommodation choices for social care service
users, including those who are frail and/or disabled
Carers feel recognised, valued, and supported to undertake their caring role

• Work with partners to identify carers and ensure they are signposted to information and services
• Provide opportunities for carers to inform and shape service development

• Develop carer-friendly communities by raising awareness about the needs of carers
• Promote health checks for carers to help them to maintain their own physical and mental health
• Work with housing providers and others to ensure carers can access equipment and adaptations
• Ensure carers can access assessments which determine if they require further social care support

31 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

118

How we will measure success

DR
AF
T

• Percentages of service users / carers who find it easy to find information about support
• Percentages of service users / carers receiving self-directed support
• Percentage of service users who have control over their daily life

• Percentages of service users / carers who have as much social contact as they would like
• Percentage of people who had no need for ongoing services following reablement

• Percentages of service users / carers who are satisfied with their care and support

32 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

119

9. Strategic Change Portfolio
The Council’s Strategic Change Portfolio (SCP) outlines how it will transform operational service delivery to
maintain or improve outcomes. It consists of four key programmes:
• Sustainable Finances
• Customer & Digital
• Carbon Reduction
• Ways of Working

DR
AF
T

Overseen by the Council’s Transformation Delivery Board, and managed through Departmental Change and
Programme Boards, the SCP contains targets and deliverables for each programme as described below.

Sustainable Finances Programme

The savings requirements contained within the Council’s annually refreshed Medium Term Financial Strategy
(MTFS) remain a central driver for the Council’s change portfolio. However, the scale of the financial and
transformation challenge is increasing, with the simple changes having been made and the straightforward
savings long-since delivered. What remains is complex change, often involving multiple partners and many risks.
The body of work contained within the portfolio, refreshed annually, currently represents future savings targets in
excess of £48m, including £21m for services supporting those with special educational needs (SEND).

9.1 Customer & Digital Programme

The Covid-19 pandemic has changed customer expectations of how our services should be delivered and the
need for more immediate access to information and support via a broader range of channels is greater than ever
before. In response to the changing needs of our citizens we will focus on developing and delivering against an
improved, council-wide customer and channel strategy which supports the delivery of modern and effective
services in the most efficient and sustainable way. By promoting innovative, digital ways of working, we will
seek to shape the Council’s interaction with its customers as part of our digital revolution and to enable improved
customer journeys leading to an enhanced customer experience and faster, first time resolution of customer needs.

Our aims by 2026
• Customers directed to the right channel, at the right time, in the most efficient way
• Council service access channels maximise citizen value whilst reducing costs
• A whole system approach is taken to designing our customer journey and back-office processes
33 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

120
Our actions
Customers directed to the right channel, at the right time, in the most efficient way
• Develop and implement Customer and Digital strategies to support high-quality, consistent customer
experience through improved digital services
• Increase our understanding of customers and actively involve them in our channel development
• Ensure services are accessible through multiple channels (e.g. digital access, telephone and face-to-face
channels) so no groups are excluded and engage with Leicestershire Equality Challenge Group to further
identify and mitigate the impact of digitalisation on those with protected characteristics
• Develop a community-based programme to support residents to learn how to use digital technology
• Improve front-end communications interfaces to ensure enquiries are directed to the right channel
• Deliver a new target operating model for our Customer Service Centre
Our customer channels maximise citizen value whilst reducing the cost of service
• Increase the amount of automation for repetitive, low value activities and integrations
• Increase service user adoption of digital solutions by driving a cultural shift to “digital by choice”

DR
AF
T

• Improve our ability to resolve queries on first contact using the optimal channel
A whole system approach is taken to designing our customer journey and back-office processes
• Work with Council Departments to develop and deliver improved customer journeys

• We will improve our contact and system data to inform continuous improvement activity

• We will seek to exploit emerging technologies and system integration where possible to enable more
streamlined end-to-end working

How we will measure success
• Customer satisfaction levels
• Cost reduction and avoidance
• Response handling rates
• Application of digital tools and processes
• Rates of channel shift to automated and self-serve processes

34 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

121
9.2 Carbon Reduction Programme
The Carbon Reduction Programme aims to achieve net zero carbon from the Council’s own operations by
2030, with an interim target of 64% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2025 (compared to 2016/17).
Leicestershire County Council is ahead of target in the delivery of net-zero emissions by 2030. From 2008/092020/21, the Council reduced the greenhouse gas emissions from its own operations by 74%. This may have
been further supported by impact of Covid-19 in reducing business mileage and emission from our estate.
There are also increasing opportunities to secure external funding and investment to reduce our carbon
emissions. The most recent success has been in our bid for decarbonisation funding, securing £3.6m towards
works on our key buildings, including expansion of the biomass heating system across County Hall.
However, meeting the ambitious net-zero 2030 target remains a significant challenge, particularly due to the
challenging financial position of the council and demands on resources. Our aims and actions to deliver this
programme are set out in the section on the ‘Clean and Green’ outcome (see here).

9.3 Ways of Working Programme

DR
AF
T

The Covid-19 pandemic saw a huge shift in organisational culture – with many working from home for the
first time. This led to a change in how we work with each other and provide services. There is now a need for
greater flexibility and remote working which will be delivered through our Ways of Working Programme.

Our aims by 2026

• All staff have the technology and training needed to do their job effectively

• The way we work embodies continuous improvement, innovation, and ambition

• Council-operated workplaces are a shared resource based on need, where people can collaborate

Our actions

All staff are provided with the technology and training needed to do their job effectively
• Provide all staff with an assigned ‘worker style’ and the IT kit they need

• Ensure all IT equipment is replaced in good time to ensure technology is effective and productive
• Ensure all staff can work remotely through specialist technology, software and remote access
• Staff meetings to be ‘digital by default’ - hybrid and face-to-face meetings will be supported
The way we work embodies continuous improvement, innovation, and ambition
• Focus on objectives and outputs not on presenteeism for office-based staff
• Empower staff to choose where they work, whilst prioritising service and customer needs
• Senior leaders and managers to lead by example – champion > role model > challenge
Council-operated workplaces are a shared resource based on need, where staff and customers can
collaborate
• Set up workplaces to support collaboration, productivity, wellbeing and customer service
• Prioritise space for activities - flexibility to be the norm with fixed desks kept to minimum
• Encourage staff to work as flexibly as possible, using a mix of workplaces (offices, working from home,
remote working) to best meet service and customer needs and support staff wellbeing.

35 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

122

How we will measure success

DR
AF
T

• Productivity levels

• Business mileage costs

• Property costs and income generation

• Staff wellbeing indicators and sickness absence rates
• Recruitment and retention indicators
• Environmental impact

36 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

123

10. Medium Term Financial Strategy
Delivery of this Strategic Plan is enabled by the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) which sets out a
credible financial plan supporting the aims and actions in the Plan.
The Council is operating in an extremely challenging financial environment following a decade of austerity
and spending pressures, particularly from social care. This has been further exacerbated by the Covid-19
pandemic and there is significant uncertainty around future funding levels. Despite this, we will deliver this
Strategic Plan by focusing our available resources on the key priorities set out in previous sections.

Our aims by 2026
• Delivered a revenue budget and capital programme which reflected the Council’s key priorities
• Maintained a sustainable financial position that ensures the Council is resilient to financial shocks
• An improved financial position for Leicestershire arising from progress on Fair Funding

DR
AF
T

Our actions
• Raise awareness of our financial position and maintain transparency around our savings proposals
• Target efficiency savings and new income generation before service reductions

• Regularly update assumptions to support the efficient flow of resources to Council priorities
• Promote a culture of forward planning to ensure there is time for corrective action

• Embed financial discipline in decision-making to increase value for money for taxpayers

• Through our Corporate Asset Investment Fund, invest in commercial schemes to generate income

How we will measure success
• Level of risk in the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)’s Financial Resilience Index
• Avoidance of unplanned in-year budget cuts or short-term, reactive actions to resolve unforeseen financial
issues

37 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

124

11. Enabling Services
Delivery of this Plan is dependent on a wide range of ‘back-office’ services such as Finance, IT, HR, Legal,
Communications, Property Services, Strategy and Business Intelligence, Democratic Services and Business
Support. These organisation-wide functions support frontline services by providing business support based on
specialised knowledge, best practice and technology. They also support good governance, ensuring that:
• Resources are directed in accordance with agreed policy and according to priorities
• There is sound and inclusive decision making
• There is clear accountability for the use of those resources
Good governance is about ensuring the Council is doing the right things, in the right way and for the benefit
of the communities it serves. It leads to high standards of management, strong performance, effective
use of resources and positive outcomes. The diagram to the right illustrates the core principles of good
governance which the Council is committed to and how they relate to each other: Principles A and B permeate
implementation of principles C to G.

DR
AF
T

Back-office services have a key role in ensuring that the Council adheres to these principles and achieves
positive outcomes for service users. For example, Strategy and Business Intelligence support principle C by
assisting decision-makers in defining the Council’s overall vision and outcomes. Additionally, Finance support
Principle F by enforcing financial discipline, strategic resource allocation and efficient service delivery.

C.

Defining outcomes
in terms of sustainable
economic, social and
environmental benefits

G.

D.

Implementing good
practices in transparency,
reporting, and audit, to
deliver effective
accountability

Determining the
interventions necessary
to optimize the
achievement of the
intended outcomes

A.

Behaving with integrity,
demonstrating strong commitment
to ethical values, and respecting
the rule of the law

B.

Ensuring openness and
comprehensive stakeholder
engagement

F.

Managing risks and
performance through
robust internal control
and strong public
financial management

38 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

E.

Developing the
entity’s capacity,
including the capability
of its leadership and
the individuals
within it

125
11.1 Leicestershire County Council Values and Behaviours
Good governance flows from shared values and culture. Our values, set out below, underpin everything we do
and describe how we will deliver this Plan.

Positivity

Flexibility

We find the best way to
get things done. We
challenge ourselves to deliver
high- quality services
and inspire others to
deliver results.

We are adaptable
in order to support the
needs of the business –
working collaboratively
and supporting
colleagues.

Openness
and Transparency
We are honest with the
people we work with and
serve. We share information
and communicate
clearly.

Trust
and Respect
We enable our staff to take
ownership and be accountable
for their own performance,
actions and decisions. We
value diversity and listen to
the views of others.

DR
AF
T

12. Performance Management

The Council’s progress and performance in delivering this Plan will be monitored by Outcome Boards.
Council Departments will be required, through their annual service planning processes, to identify actions
for each forthcoming year which will help to achieve the aims set out in this Plan. The Outcome Boards will
monitor progress in the delivery of these actions, as well as other actions already set out in this Plan. They will
also ensure that all Council plans and strategies align with and supports the aims in this Plan.
Outcome Boards will provide 6-monthly highlight reports to our Corporate Management Team in order to
inform strategic decision-making and resource allocation. The Council’s Scrutiny Committees will receive
quarterly updates and our Annual Performance Reports will provide a summary of progress each year.

39 Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2022-26

V0781

126

127

Agenda Item 12

SCRUTINY COMMISSION - 9TH MARCH 2022
DRAFT COMMUNITIES STRATEGY: LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY
COUNCIL COLLABORATING WITH OUR COMMUNITIES – OUR
COMMUNITIES APPROACH 2022-26
FEEDBACK FROM COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to update the Scrutiny Commission on the preparation
the draft Communities Strategy: Leicestershire County Council Collaborating with our
Communities - Our Communities Approach 2022-26 before consideration of the final
draft by the Cabinet at its meeting on 29th March 2022.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The Cabinet approved the current Communities Strategy 2017- 21 on 12th December
2017. The draft refreshed Communities Strategy: Leicestershire County Council
Collaborating with our Communities - Our Communities Approach 2022-26, was
approved by the Cabinet at its meeting on 26th October 2021 for engagement with
stakeholders.

3.

The draft Communities Approach will complement and support government objectives
to “build back better” after the pandemic and to “level-up” prosperity and opportunity
by enabling and supporting communities to achieve their goals through co-production
and collaboration and by building community capacity and assets. It will continue to
enable delivery of all outcomes of the Councils’ Strategic Plan and will set out how
(through the Approach) the Council will seek to achieve its priority outcomes. A
report on the outcome of the consultation on the draft Strategic Plan is also on the
agenda for this Scrutiny Commission meeting.

Background
4.

The engagement draft of the Communities Approach was considered by the Scrutiny
Commission at its meeting on 17th November 2021. The report to that meeting set
out progress resulting from delivery of the existing Communities Strategy, the context
for, and influences on, the development of the draft Communities Approach and the
key cross-cutting principles that underpin the Approach. The report also highlighted
that the principles of the Approach will be supported by the Strategic Plan and
associated Council plans, and that the delivery model will be underpinned by the
themes of an asset-based approach centred on the strengths of local communities,
and social action.

128
Engagement feedback
5.

The Cabinet, at its meeting on 26th October 2021, approved engagement with
stakeholders on the draft Communities Approach between 1st November 2021 and
21st January 2022. This engagement period was subsequently extended to 18th
February 2022 to coordinate with the extended timescale for consultation on the draft
revised Strategic Plan and to allow time for additional input to development of the
draft Approach. Engagement was used to gather insight and understanding about
Leicestershire Communities and the approach that the Council proposes.

6.

The engagement process invited contributions from the Communities
Board/Departmental Management Teams, workers groups, the Leicestershire
Equalities Challenge Group, parish and town councils, other public sector partners
and the voluntary and community sector including VAL (Voluntary Action
Leicestershire) and the RCC (Rural Community Council). The methods of
engagement included a survey and dissemination of information through newsletters
and briefings, with opportunities to feedback via group discussions, email responses
and an on-line questionnaire. The engagement process was promoted via web
articles and newsfeeds, social media and briefing meetings with stakeholder groups
and organisations.

7.

The questionnaire survey on the Leicestershire Communities website was the focus
for community feedback and 97 responses were received. In addition to the survey,
feedback was also received through meetings, letters, and stakeholder briefings.

8.

Feedback from the engagement process showed support for the principles identified
in the Communities Approach (73% agreeing, 24 % undecided and 3% disagreeing),
including support for community empowerment, the role and potential of communities
and the individuals, groups, and buildings within them. Other feedback received
included calls for prioritisation of principles and actions, more clarification and
information on how principles translate to action, recognition of the continuing value
of public as well as voluntary service delivery and broad and early co-production
engagement starting with issues definition.

9.

The engagement identified support for the objective to help communities to design
and deliver solutions (60% agreeing, 19% undecided and 21% disagreeing), with
suggestions for increased support in areas such as community buildings and mental
health and wellbeing. A number of comments also promoted enhanced engagement
with communities, including the most disadvantaged communities, and openness to
community ideas and initiatives. Others called for the principles to be embedded
across the Authority and highlighted the value of providing advice and support for
communities and community groups.

10. There was a broad spread of opinion on the strength of local assets with 40% rating
local resources as strong, 36% rating them as neither weak or strong and 24% rating
them as weak. Views on how the Council could collaborate with communities to
further strengthen community assets centred on support for enhancement of physical
assets such as community centres and village halls, and an identified need for
improved and sustained communication and deepening trusting relationships with
stakeholders. There were also suggestions for increased recognition/funding of, and
collaboration with, communities and increased devolution of power to communities
and parish councils. Feedback highlighted the value of joint working with parish and

129
town councils, district councils and communities in non-parished areas. Many
positive examples of community collaboration were put forward as part of the
engagement with many people highlighting valuable community services delivered
by/from community venues including community managed libraries, church halls,
community cafes, community centres/village halls and heritage centres.
Scrutiny Commission - 17th November 2021
11. Points raised by Members at the meeting of the Scrutiny Commission on 17th
November 2021 have been taken into account in the revised draft Approach as
follows:








The Council should continue to support communities to come together and
address local issues – the revised Approach has an increased focus on supporting
empowerment, participation and enabling social action.
Prevention will continue to be of critical importance – there is a continuing focus
on prevention in the revised Approach.
Unparished areas and the issues affecting them are not adequately represented in
the draft Approach – the revised Approach highlights that the Council will continue
to work with a wide range of voluntary and other groups that operate in nonparished areas.
There should be increased clarity around infrastructure support available via the
Rural Community Council (RCC) and the LRALC (Leicestershire and Rutland
County Association for Town and Parish Councils) – delivery of the revised
Approach will include a focus on enhanced communication including on how
support services complement each other.
The vital role of volunteers should be further supported – support for volunteering
is a focus of the revised Approach.

The revised draft Approach
12. The engagement draft of the Communities Approach was designed specifically to
promote co-production of the Council’s approach to working with communities and to
encourage consideration, debate and feedback on the background, context and
emerging direction of a future Approach. The revised draft retains the format of the
engagement draft but has been restructured. The narrative and emphasis on
previous work, policy development and context has been revised while the principles,
themes and implementation objectives have been enhanced.
13. Engagement feedback has been taken into account and the revised draft includes
increased explanation of the meaning of key concepts, and the mechanisms for
embedding the principles within the Authority and for promoting them to partners.
This change has also led to the replacement of the Principle of Engagement with one
centred on Participation that better reflects the ambition to work with and alongside
partners and communities in collaboration and reflects the partnership sub-objective
of the Strategic Plan.
14. To augment the Approach whilst retaining a shorter document, a dedicated resource
has been developed on the Leicestershire Communities Website. This resource
focuses on asset-based thinking and doing and features local and national examples,
academic research and case studies that identify and demonstrate how activities can
support the principles of this Approach and the Outcomes of the Strategic plan.

130

15. The Scrutiny Commission is invited to consider the outcome of the engagement on
the Communities Approach and the changes to the document that have been made
as a result.
16. The revised draft Communities Strategy: Leicestershire County Council Our
Communities Approach 2022-26 is attached as an Appendix to this report.
Resource Implications
17. There are no direct financial implications in relation to the draft Our Communities
Approach 22-26. Delivery of the Approach will be supported from within existing
staffing resources and through the commissioning of community capacity building
contracts and grants.
18. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance have
been consulted on this report.
Conclusion
19. This report has been presented to the Commission to provide an opportunity for
consideration of the outcome of engagement and the consequent changes to the
draft Communities Approach before consideration of the final draft by the Cabinet.
Timetable for Decisions
20. On 29th March 2022, a report will be presented to the Cabinet regarding the outcome
of engagement on the draft Our Communities Approach 22-26 and seeking approval
for the revised Communities Approach to be submitted to the County Council for
approval in May 2022.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
21. An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment Screening has been carried out
on the draft Communities Approach. The screening assessment concluded that the
implementation of the Communities Approach is likely to have a positive equalities
and human rights impact. Through a focus on early intervention and prevention,
developing inclusive and supportive community connections and community
solutions it will promote community cohesion and have a positive impact on
individuals or groups that identify with protected characteristics.
Background papers
Report to the Cabinet – Working Together to Build Great Communities in Leicestershire:
The Leicestershire Communities Strategy 2017-21 - 12 December 2017
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s134009/FINAL%20Communities%20Strategy%20re
port.pdf

131
Report to the Cabinet – Draft Communities Strategy: Leicestershire County Council
Collaborating with our Communities- Our Communities Approach 2022-26 – 26th October
2021
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/g6447/Public%20reports%20pack%20Tuesday%202
6-Oct-2021%2014.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10
Report to Scrutiny Commission - Draft Communities Strategy: Leicestershire County
Council Collaborating with our Communities- Our Communities Approach 2022-26 – 17th
November 2021
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=6747&Ver=4
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None.
Officers to Contact
Tom Purnell, Assistant Chief Executive, Strategy and Business Intelligence, Chief
Executive’s Department
Tel: 0116 305 7019
Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
Zafar Saleem, Head of Communities, Policy and Resilience,
Chief Executive’s Department
Tel: 0116 305 4952
Email: zafar.saleem@leics.gov.uk
Appendices
Appendix – Draft Refreshed Communities Strategy: Leicestershire County Council
collaborating with our Communities, our Communities Approach 2022-26

This page is intentionally left blank

133

Leicestershire
Communities
Leicestershire County Council
Communities Strategy

Our Communities Approach
2022 - 26 Final Draft

134

Contents
Foreword

3

Introduction

4

Our Communities Approach 2022-26

5

Key Achievements 2017-21

6

Supporting Voluntary, Community Social Enterprise (VCSE) infrastructure
and community organisations

6

Embedding Asset Based Approaches

7

Supporting Town & Parish Councils

7

Website

8

The Communities Board

8

Covid-19 – Since March 2020

9

Since March 2020...

9

Recovery

10

Communities Fund

10

Policy Developments

11

Our Communities Approach 2022-26
Principles of the Strategy

13
13

- Prevention

13

- Participation

13

- Catalysts

14

Model

15

- Asset Based Thinking and Doing

15

- Social Action

16

Next Steps

2 Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022-26

17

135

Foreword

Mrs Pam Posnett, CC,
Cabinet Lead Member Community and Staff Relations

It is heartening to see that collaboration and working alongside Leicestershire Communities
is at the forefront of the way in which the county council makes it plans and delivers its
services. This approach has guided our work for many years, and there are many inspiring
examples of what has been jointly achieved, but there are also opportunities to go further and
I am delighted that this strategy makes a strong commitment to fully embed a way of working
centred on an asset-based approach and the value of social action.
Every community has a tremendous supply of assets
including people, skills, land and buildings and
networks that can be used to build the community
and solve the challenges that require a shared
commitment and a willingness to come together.
The approach of communities and the council to the
Covid 19 pandemic is testament to this and has also
informed our Communities Approach.

This document, sets out a way of working for the
council over the coming years. I would like to thank
everyone for their contributions in the development
of this revised strategy and I look forward to working
with you all as we take our next steps and make
plans to embed the Approach.

I am delighted that this draft strategy
“makes
a strong commitment to fully embed
a way of working centred on an asset-based
approach and the value of social action.

”

Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022 - 26

3

136

Introduction
Our Communities Approach sets out our aspirations to strengthen and further embed
Leicestershire County Council’s approach to decision making and to designing and delivering
public services in Leicestershire. Formerly known as the Leicestershire Communities Strategy,
this refreshed and updated Our Communities Approach has been informed by:
Recognising and learning from the difference made by approaches to working with communities that have
become embedded within the county council and growing these,
The role and significance of civil society (communities and the Voluntary, Community and Social
Enterprise Sector [VCSE]) prior to and during covid-19 (including social action and community responses)
A focus on recovery from the pandemic and the plans for levelling up.

Our first Communities Strategy 2014-17 was
delivered against the backdrop of austerity measures
and at a time when making efficiencies, within
a market-led, transaction-based public service
framework was required. The impact of these
measures meant that adopting new models of
delivery and relationships with citizens was needed
to mitigate the impacts of reduced resources on
Leicestershire communities.
New models were beginning to be adopted and
during this period we saw the establishment of
Community Managed Libraries, the creation of Local
Area Coordinators within Leicestershire and, with
more savings needed, a continued commitment
to support our communities and voluntary sector
through grants and commissioned activities, albeit
within a reduced resource envelope.
The aim of the Communities Strategy 2017-21
‘Working Together to Build Great Communities’ was
to move away from the dire warnings of the previous
few years and to look at ‘what can be done.’ This aim
was underpinned by 4 Key Priorities:

4 Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022-26

1. Communities support themselves, individuals
and families
2. Communities in collaboration with public
services, are supported to design and deliver
better outcomes for the people of Leicestershire
3. Voluntary and Community Sector organisations,
Social Enterprises and Parish & Town Councils
are supported and empowered to provide a
range of effective services and activities for
individuals and communities
4. The Council continues to be outward focussed,
and open to new ways of working
The Strategy introduced asset-based approaches to
support and enable ‘how’ we do things. It has helped
change our thinking and provided the impetus to
collaborative solutions that have developed new
relationships, values and culture within the county
council and with our communities.

137

Our Communities Approach 2022-26
Principles of the Strategy
The principals outlined in this refreshed Strategy build on and incorporate the Priorities of the
Communities Strategy 2017-21.

Prevention - (Priority 1 - Helping people to help themselves and others)
Supporting and enabling citizens to help themselves and others. This is about how the whole
council works towards providing preventative and self-help support and how we communicate
this with our communities.

Participation - (Priority 2 - Work in collaboration & Priority 4-Be outward focused)
The Council will work across services, departments and with partners including districts,
health, blue light services and businesses but will be led by our work with our citizens and
communities.

Catalysts - (Priority 3 - Supporting Voluntary and Community Sector organisations,
Social Enterprises (VCSE) & Town & Parish Council service provision)
Voluntary and Community Sector organisations, Social Enterprises and Parish & Town
Councils are supported and empowered to collaborate and provide a range of effective
services and activities for individuals and communities.

Model
The Principles of our Communities Approach are underpinned by asset-based thinking and
doing and social action. These concepts were introduced in our Strategy 2017-21 and we
want to reiterate and emphasise them as the model for delivery for the county council over the
next 4 years.

(Please see Pages 13-16 for further information on the Principles and Model)

Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022 - 26

5

138

Key Achievements 2017-21
Supporting Voluntary, Community Social Enterprise (VCSE) infrastructure and
community organisations

Leicestershire has a dynamic and diverse VCSE, with over 3,000
different organisations operating across the county, ranging from
small grassroots groups, to social enterprises and national
charities.
These organisations have a strong track record of innovation and responsiveness to communities and are an
essential part of improving the lives of people across the county.
Support for the VCSE in Leicestershire is provided by an infrastructure services contract that is delivered by
Voluntary Action Leicestershire (VAL) https://valonline.org.uk/ The service is jointly commissioned with West
Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group and East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group.
It is aligned to the shared objectives of the county council and CCGs around managing demand through early/
community level intervention and prevention, increasing community resilience and more effective delivery of
services by community groups. The Service brings together commissioners and sector groups in information,
advice and learning events, provides advice and support around topics such as governance, group development
and funding and promotes, develops and supports volunteering.
In addition to the infrastructure contract, support for the VCSE in Leicestershire is also enabled by a contract with
CASE (Cooperative and Social Enterprise Development Agency) https://case.coop/ to provide support for social
enterprise development and a grant to the RCC to provide assistance for Community Buildings; an invaluable
resource where community activities take place, where people meet and from where services are delivered.

6 Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022-26

139

LEICESTERSHIRE

7

TOWN
COUNCILS

160

55

PARISH
COUNCILS

PARISH MEETINGS

Supporting Town & Parish Councils
Leicestershire has a total of 7 Town Councils, 160 Parish
Councils and 55 Parish Meetings. The council works closely
with the Leicestershire & Rutland Association of Local Councils
(LRALC) to support Town and Parish Councils and Meetings and
has a Grant Agreement with the Association to help enable this
support.
The key elements of the agreement are around engagement with
the Sector and enhancing the role of the local councils.
A new website – A-Roads to Zebras’ – has been developed to
support Parish & Town Councils with Highways related queries
and applications. Meetings, briefings, and training sessions have
taken place on the ‘Climate Emergency’. These will help shape
the support we offer to Parish & Town Councils in responding to
our Net Zero goal.

Embedding Asset Based Approaches
An asset-based approach is one that harnesses the skills, knowledge, connections and potential which already
exist within communities. Through a combination of influencing and direct delivery a range of asset- based
projects and programmes have been supported and delivered working with peers and colleagues, local,
regional and national partners and Leicestershire communities and citizens.
With partners from health and the VCSE we have designed and delivered a long-term asset-based
development programme running over 6 months that has resulted in a number of collaborative, practical new
initiatives. We have also facilitated sessions with partners such as Town and Parish Councils and, by invitation,
delivered workshops to partner conferences.
Within communities themselves we have hosted events such as Community Roadshows to put asset-based
approaches into practice and enable whole geographical communities to come together. We have also worked
with communities of interest such as Community Manged Libraries, collecting and developing tools and
resources to be made available to all.

Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022 - 26

7

140

Website
The Leicestershire Communities website is a resource
which provides a range of useful information to help local
people to actively participate in their communities. It
continues to be a place where our communities can find
information and support. The website has dedicated pages
for the Neighbourhood Planning Network and Community
Managed Libraries where volunteers can manage and
update their own pages.
www.leicestershirecommunities.org.uk/

SHIRE Community Grants Fund

Community
Grants

Leicestershire County Council’s SHIRE Community Grants
programme provides grant funding to charities and other voluntary/
community organisations and social enterprises, to support the
delivery of services, projects and activities which improve the lives
of vulnerable and disadvantaged people and groups.
www.leicestershirecommunities.org.uk/grants/

The Communities Board
The Communities Board was established in August 2016 to co-ordinate delivery of the Communities Strategy
across the Council by developing active, resilient and inclusive communities. Progress and proposals are
overseen and driven forward by the internal Board which meets bi-monthly and includes senior representatives
from across the Council.
The Communities Strategy acts as a key enabler across the work of all Council departments and all five
Outcomes of the Strategic Plan, although it is acknowledged that it has a strongest connection to the Great
Communities Outcome. The Communities Strategy aims to facilitate and drive culture change within the
Council and identifies opportunities to do things differently by:

Encouraging, enabling and
supporting volunteers and
volunteering

Creating the conditions
and commissioning for
social action and assetbased thinking and doing

8 Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022-26

Working with
communities, town &
parish councils, the VCSE
and businesses.

141

Covid-19 – Since March 2020
Since March 2020...
Leicestershire County Council had a leading role in
the response for our communities to the Covid-19
pandemic. As the host for the Local Resilience
Forum (LRF) there was a clear line of responsibility
within the Council for the initial set-up and support
for the crisis response. Structures were quickly
established across Leicestershire, Leicester and
Rutland (LLR) to identify issues and co-ordinate
support. This included the establishment and
leadership of partnership response ‘cells’ that were
tasked with dealing with all aspects of the response.
Whilst specialists for health, care and blue light
services were drawn into the planning for their
responsibilities, LCC established and led the
Voluntary, Faith and Community Engagement Cell
and the sub-cells that were tasked with supporting
our communities.

Within the LRF a Community and Volunteering
group was established and has been responsible for
supporting and driving forward work linked to:
The multiple community responses that were
happening across LLR in support of neighbours
and communities within local areas.
The role and impact on voluntary and
community sector organisations in supporting
communities and those that were shielding,
how these organisations were operating and
could continue.
The establishment and co-ordination of
volunteering and volunteers in support of
delivering the response to requests for help
from both individuals and public services as
consequence of the pandemic.

At this time, our ongoing work,
informed by the Communities
Strategy 2017-21, and our role
in supporting the Voluntary and
Community Sector, Town and
Parish Councils, communities
and working with partners, was
invaluable.

Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022 - 26

9

142

LEICESTERSHIRE

£2.6m

COMMUNITIES FUND

3

ROUNDS
OF FUNDING

GRANTS

AWARDED

379

Communities Fund
In March 2020 the Council announced a £1 million fund
to support voluntary and community sector organisations
in the county to manage the financial impacts of the
pandemic. This hardship fund was established to enable
local groups, impacted by reduced income from sales/
trading, room rental or donations, to keep on providing
essential support to vulnerable people, including those
isolating and with reduced social contact.
The grant fund was subsequently increased in value and extended
through further rounds of funding to help voluntary groups to
manage the impacts of the pandemic and to continue to deliver
services for vulnerable and disadvantaged people and communities.
In total, over 3 rounds of funding, 379 grants were awarded,
totalling nearly £2.6m of funding from the county council.

Recovery
Optimistically, the LRF and county council took its first steps towards thinking about recovery
in the early summer period of 2020. Whilst there had been a need to retain a focus on
responding to the impacts of the Covid-19 this has been accompanied by looking at what
could be learnt from the pandemic to help us shape how we recover.
This learning concentrated on the vital role that civil
society (communities, voluntary sector, local groups)
had, and continues to have, in providing services and
support to individuals and communities and how

10 Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022-26

this can be built upon. The Communities Approach
is part of the councils wider work and plans for
recovery.

143

Policy Developments
Financial pressures and the implications of ongoing reductions in funding for the public
sector accompanied by rising demand for public services has meant that there has been, and
continues to be, a need to focus on how the county council can best achieve its outcomes.
Locally the Council’s Strategic Plan and Outcomes have been reviewed and updated.
One of the five strategic outcomes that the Plan seeks to achieve is Great Communities; thriving, inclusive
communities in which people support each other and take responsibility for their local area.
Our Communities Approach is reflected in the Great Communities Outcome through the enabling
commitments that;
 People participate in service design and delivery,
 People support each other through volunteering.

The Communities Approach does
however support all aspects of every
Outcome and all elements of the
Strategic Plan and should be viewed
as ‘how’ the county council can
deliver ‘what’ (all the Outcomes) we
want to achieve.
Since the adoption of the 2017-21 Communities
Strategy there has been a notable shift amongst
commentators, think-tanks, policy developers and
politicians that has promoted a change in how the
public sector operates; with a greater emphasis on
how it collaborates with communities and where and
how decisions are made.
The greater emphasis on collaboration and
involvement for our citizens and communities,
supporting and empowering them to have autonomy
and agency over their lives and in their interactions
with public services, is not without its challenges.

However, this shift towards greater community
involvement and collaboration should be viewed as
model of ‘how’ we can achieve solutions.
New Local* advocate that the public sector needs to
recognise and acknowledge ‘that the solutions to an
area’s biggest challenges are to be found outside in
the community not inside the institution…’ and that
this can be achieved though:
Community decision-making:
Using deliberative and participatory tools to involve
citizens more meaningfully in local decision-making.
Collaboration with communities:
Public services shifting from hierarchical and siloed
ways of working, to more collaborative approaches
which deeply involve communities as equal partners
with essential insights.
Building community capacity and assets:
Equipping communities with the resources and skills
they need.

*New Local (formerly the New Local Government Network) is an independent think tank and network with a mission to transform public services and unlock community power.
COMMUNITY POWER: THE EVIDENCE Grace Pollard, Jessica Studdert and Luca Tiratelli Published by New Local February 2021 www.newlocal.org.uk/research/publications/

Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022 - 26

11

144
This way of working is related to, and can be
viewed alongside, associated calls and lobbying for
regional and local devolution and changes to local
governance and our aspiration to learn from the
pandemic and ‘Build Back Better’ by ‘Levelling Up
our Communities.’
Levelling up our communities: proposals for a new
social covenant - A report for government by Danny
Kruger MP, September 2020
www.dannykruger.org.uk/sites/www.dannykruger.
org.uk/files/2020-09/Kruger%202.0%20
Levelling%20Up%20Our%20Communities.pdf,
set out a series of recommendations ‘to give civil
society a greater role in levelling up the country.’
He advocated that ‘What is missing in our current
model [of public service] is community power: the
role of local people, acting together spontaneously or
through enduring institutions, to design and deliver
the kind of neighbourhood they want to be part of.’

The report has informed the Levelling
Up White Paper (Levelling Up the
United Kingdom www.gov.uk/
government/publications/levellingup-the-united-kingdom) sets out how
the Government proposes to spread
opportunity more equally across the
UK.*

As New Local note, ‘This principle [Community
Power] is not just a theory. It already exists in
neighbourhoods, in local networks, and in voluntary
and community organisations where people come
together to overcome challenges and support each
other. This comes to the fore in times of crisis, such
as with the sudden flourishing of mutual aid during
the Covid-19 pandemic but has endured for decades
in many forms. It is also rapidly influencing practice
in the public sector and local government. Public
services are seeing the benefits of moving towards
practices which involve actively collaborating with
communities. New methods of enabling community
insights to shape action are increasingly being
developed: from councils trialling participatory and
deliberative democracy; to frontline professionals
using asset-based practice and co-production.’
www.newlocal.org.uk/publications/the-communityparadigm/
This refreshed Communities Approach aims to
act as a catalyst to further develop and strengthen
the achievements of collaboration and community
involvement and move this approach ‘From the
Margins to the Mainstream”. This will be achieved
by enhancing and embedding the mindset, values,
behaviours, relationships and infrastructure creating
‘…the conditions for new operating models to
thrive. ’ From the Margins to the Mainstream-Nesta
-Collaborate Published September 2020.
https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/Margins _
to _ Mainstream.pdf

12 Leicestershire
Approach 2022-26
*Specific Government
responses to theCommunities
principal recommendations
of the Kruger report have been published in a policy paper at www.gov.uk/
government/publications/government-response-to-danny-kruger-mps-report-levelling-up-our-communities-proposals-for-a-new-social-covenant/
government-response-to-danny-kruger-mps-report-levelling-up-our-communities-proposals-for-a-new-social-covenant

145

Our Communities Approach 2022-26
An ongoing focus over many years, and in the lead up to and learning from the pandemic,
was not to focus solely on what communities have done or can do. Rather, it is to look at the
role the county council has and how it operates in supporting and enabling individuals and
communities to help themselves.
Our refreshed and updated Communities Approach 2022-26 reflects this not only in its title
but in its ethos, principles, and model of delivery.

Principles of the Strategy
Prevention
Supporting and enabling citizens to help themselves and others. This is about how the whole
council works towards providing preventative and self-help support and how we communicate
this with our communities.
Prevention has often been used in health and social care settings, however for the Approach
we use it to cover a full range of self-help, care, wider wellbeing and community impacts.
This could be anything from planning for life changes, thinking about the waste you produce
through to climate change and preparing for emergencies.
We must focus on how the information and advice we produce underpins prevention and
reduces demand, ensuring that it is accessible, relevant, and timely.

Participation
The Council will work across services, departments and with partners including districts,
health, blue light services and businesses but will be led by our work with our citizens and
communities. Through listening and conversations and by building trusting relationships and
encouraging participation we will inform our decisions and define and design our solutions
locally.

13 Leicestershire Communities Annual Report 2020 Leicestershire
- 21
Communities Approach 2022 - 26

13

146

PROMISE TO
THE PUBLIC

PUBLIC
PARTICIPATION
GOAL

An example of a Participation Spectrum Model adapted from https://iap2canada.ca/foundations

To provide the public
with balanced and
objective information
to assist them in
understanding the
problem, alternatives
and/or soloutions.

To obtain public
feedback and analysis,
alternatives and/or
decision.

To work directly with the
public throughout the
process to ensure that
public concerns and
aspirations are
consistently understood
and considered.

To partner with the
public in each aspect
of the decision including
the development of
alternatives and the
identification of the
preferred solution.

To place final
decision-making in
the hands of the public.

We will keep you
informed.

We will keep you informed,
listen to and acknowledge
concerns and aspirations,
and provide feedback on
how public input influenced
the decision.

We will work with you to
ensure that your concerns
and aspirations are directly
reflected in the alternatives
developed and provide
feedback on how public
input influenced the
decision.

We will look to you for
advice and innovation in
formulating solutions and
incorporate your advice and
recommendations into the
decisions to the maximum
extent possible .

We will implement what
you decide.

EVOLVE

COLLABORATE

INFORM

CONSULT

INCREASING IMPACT ON THE DECISION
The Participation Spectrum Model demonstrates that through a range of
engagement methods different outcomes can be achieved. One, many or all
methods can be understood as participation, and we will continue to provide
information and consultations, however a move towards greater collaboration
and coproduction in decision making is advocated here.

Catalysts
Voluntary and Community Sector organisations, Social Enterprises and Parish & Town
Councils are supported and empowered to collaborate and provide a range of effective
services and activities for individuals and communities.
This will require a focus on not only how we work with our communities but also how our
‘catalysts’ as providers of activities that are either commissioned by, or support our plans are
enabled to support our communities too. This will include a focus on disadvantage, rurality,
communities of interest and protected characteristics.
The Principles of the Strategy will be supported by the Strategic Plan and associated plans;
the Council’s Engagement Strategy; VCSE Partnership Statement; Strategic Volunteering
Vision; Social Value Policy and others.

14 Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022-26

EMPOWER

147

Model
The Principles of our Communities Approach are underpinned by asset-based thinking and doing
and social action. These concepts were introduced in our Strategy 2017-21 and we want to reiterate
and emphasise them as the model for delivery for the county council over the next 4 years.

Asset Based Thinking and Doing
Asset Based Approach – working with the skills, knowledge,
connections and potential that exists within a community.
The asset-based approach starts by making visible and explicitly valuing the strengths that exist
in people and places rather than starting from the perspective of the problems in a community, or
what a community needs (a ‘deficit-based’model).

Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022 - 26

15

148
These strengths include:
Personal assets – the knowledge, skills, talents and aspirations of individuals
Social assets – the relationships people have with family, friends and the wider community
Community assets – voluntary and community sector organisations; faith groups; public sector services
that operate in the area
Neighbourhood assets – the physical assets that contribute to health and wellbeing where people can
meet and take part in activities, for example community centres and parks.

An asset-based approach develops connections, builds relationships, and mobilises social action at the
local level, helping to prevent the need for more formal services and helping communities to develop and
flourish. This approach also highlights that the design, development and delivery of solutions is not only
the responsibility of public services, but is much more effective when accompanied by local community
involvement which helps people to take ownership of, and responsibility for, local solutions. As evidenced
clearly through the responses from local communities within the pandemic.
Investment in identifying, understanding and developing community assets can help to prevent and address
problems early on, rather than when they have had a greater impact on people and have become more
difficult and costly to tackle.
We want to continue to focus on this approach by:

- Embedding the ‘asset-based’ approach amongst our staff, service departments and
partners, understanding that is ‘how’ we think and do things such commissioning and
service planning that will help achieve change.
- Supporting communities to recognise their own and local assets, ensuring that all can take
full advantage of what is available.
- Providing a dedicated resource on the Leicestershire Communities Website, which will
include guides, practical examples and information to help embed the Approach.
www.leicestershirecommunities.org.uk/assetbased

Social Action
A focus on social action acknowledges that when people come together and act, they can improve their lives
and solve the problems their communities face. Social Action can be best understood as:
People coming together to help improve their lives and solve the problems that are important in their
communities. It can broadly be defined as practical action in the service of others, which is (i) carried out by
individuals or groups of people working together, (ii) not mandated and not for profit, (iii) done for the good of
others – individuals, communities and/or society, and (iv) bringing about social change and or value.’
(adapted and updated from Leicestershire Communities Strategy 2017-21)
16 Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022-26

149

Next Steps...
The aim of this Communities Approach is not to present a complete ‘plan’, mapping out the
specifics of what can be achieved; rather it is intended as guide to shape ‘how’ we should
work to fulfil the ambitions of the council and of communities. It should be understood as a
live document wherein we further develop and enhance the approach over the next 4 years as
we implement and learn.
Through the principles and model, we believe that we are creating the conditions to provide services
and support that will benefit all of Leicestershire. This will be underpinned by continued oversight by the
Leicestershire County Council Communities Board, working with our communities to help shape how we do
things locally.
We will provide briefings, training, and resources to support this Approach.
We will work with all partners to help to embed the Approach.
We will work to establish effective participation methods developing our engagement activities.
We will commission activities that support the Approach.
We will seek to provide timely, relevant and accessible information that will help people to help themselves
and their communities.
If you would like us to have a conversation with your community or would like to find out how else you can get
involved please see: www.leicestershirecommunities.org.uk/getinvolved/communitiesapproach.html
or email us at leicestershirecommunities@leics.gov.uk

Leicestershire Communities Approach 2022 - 26

17

This page is intentionally left blank

